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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited).
HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.
Condensed Balance Sheets
September 30,
2018

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments available-for-sale, at fair value
Accounts receivable
Inventory, net of allowance of $39,403 at September 30, 2018 and $62,142 at December 31, 2017
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets

(Unaudited)
$

Restricted cash - non-current
Deferred offering costs
Deferred MidCap revolving loan costs
Property and equipment, net
Total assets

$

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Contract liabilities - current
NuvoGen obligation - current
Growth Term Loan payable - net of discount and debt issuance costs
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
NuvoGen obligation - non-current, net of discount
Convertible note, related party - net of debt issuance costs
MidCap Term Loan payable - net of discount and debt issuance costs
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14)
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2018
and December 31, 2017, 28,479,341 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2018
and 13,929,763 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)
See notes to the unaudited condensed financial statements.
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6,164,005
27,613,031
3,361,333
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688,556
38,956,017
3,270,247
—
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—
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6,684,631
2,970,850
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HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.
Condensed Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Revenue:
Product and product-related services
Collaborative development services
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross margin

$

1,314,844
3,391,534
4,706,378
1,239,702
3,466,676

$

1,592,790
2,130,694
3,723,484
1,088,987
2,634,497

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

$

5,071,702
8,704,094
13,775,796
3,827,447
9,948,349

$

4,422,304
2,433,105
6,855,409
3,621,193
3,234,216

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Total operating expenses
Operating loss

4,709,885
3,561,459
8,271,344
(4,804,668)

4,258,347
3,478,419
7,736,766
(5,102,269)

15,132,468
8,909,729
24,042,197
(14,093,848)

12,910,251
6,364,371
19,274,622
(16,040,406)

Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Interest income
Loss on extinguishment of Growth Term Loan
Total other income (expense)
Net loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss

(234,392)
195,652
—
(38,740)
(4,843,408)
—
(4,843,408)

(300,272)
22,438
—
(277,834)
(5,380,103)
743
(5,380,846)

(650,215)
526,588
(105,064)
(228,691)
(14,322,539)
3,545
(14,326,084 )
(0.53)
27,184,968

(1,048,750)
52,157
—
(996,593)
(17,036,999)
1,023
(17,038,022 )
(1.74)
9,794,651

$

Net loss per share, basic and diluted
Shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted

$

(0.17)
28,434,406

$
$

See notes to the unaudited condensed financial statements.

2

(0.46)
11,603,617

$
$

$
$

HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.
Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax effect:
Unrealized gain (loss) on short-term investments
Comprehensive loss

$

(4,843,408 )

$

(5,380,846 )

$

(14,326,084)

$

(17,038,022)

$

2,457
(4,840,951)

$

—
(5,380,846)

$

(8,882)
(14,334,966)

$

1,090
(17,036,932)

See notes to the unaudited condensed financial statements.
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Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.
Condensed Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(Unaudited)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balance at January 1, 2018
Exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation expense
Release of restricted stock awards
Net share settlement of restricted stock awards
Stock issued under stock purchase plans
Issuance of common stock from ATM offering,
net of issuance
costs of approximately $17,000
Issuance of common stock from underwritten
public offering, net
of issuance costs of approximately $2.6
million
MidCap Term Loan warrant discount
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Balance at September 30, 2018

13,929,763
96,164
—
269,551
(34,769)
42,280

$

13,929
96
—
270
(35)
42

$ 131,492,595
204,077
1,643,083
—
(133,478)
116,752

261,352

262

556,444

13,915,000
—
—
—
28,479,341

13,915
—
—
—
28,479

37,710,401
74,000
—
—
$ 171,663,874

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

$

—

$

See notes to the unaudited condensed financial statements.
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—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
(8,882)
(8,882)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders'
Equity (Deficit)

$ (134,566,061)
—
—
—
—
—

$ (3,059,537)
204,173
1,643,083
270
(133,513)
116,794

—

—
—
(14,326,084)
—
$ (148,892,145)

556,706

37,724,316
74,000
(14,326,084)
(8,882)
$ 22,791,326

HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Accretion of discount on NuvoGen obligation
Provision for excess inventory
Amortization of Growth Term Loan discount and issuance costs
Loss on extinguishment of Growth Term Loan
Amortization of QNAH Convertible Note issuance costs
Amortization of MidCap Credit Facility discount and issuance costs
Stock-based compensation expense
Employee stock purchase plan expense
Accretion of incentive from landlord
Accrued interest on available-for-sale securities investments
Other operating adjustments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other
Deferred offering costs
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Contract liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Sales, redemptions and maturities of available-for-sale securities
Purchase of available-for-sale securities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from MidCap Credit Facility
MidCap Credit Facility lender fees
Payments on Growth Term Loan
Payments for extinguishment of Growth Term Loan
Proceeds from public offering, net
Public offering costs
Proceeds from ATM Offering, net
Payments on NuvoGen obligation
Payments on capital leases
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Taxes paid for net share settlement of restricted stock awards
Proceeds from shares purchased under stock purchase plans
Net cash provided by financing activities
(Decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities
Fixed asset purchases payable and accrued at period end
Carrying value of demonstration units transferred from property and equipment to inventory
Equipment purchased through capital lease
MidCap Term Loan fees and warrant discount
Retirement of treasury stock
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for taxes

$

$

See notes to the unaudited condensed financial statements.
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2017

(14,326,084)

$

(17,038,022)

1,126,230
(9,125)
63,840
62,951
105,064
10,090
92,060
1,643,353
43,932
(106,500)
(292,308)
—

893,334
147,753
302,085
325,517
—
—
—
1,171,988
44,170
(106,500)
5,991
1,307

2,994,935
24,986
(245,488)
2,953
(123,266)
(1,216,171)
(449,911)
(10,598,459)

(1,781,782)
13,944
(94,295)
49,630
1,521,391
327,284
469,276
(13,746,929)

(857,899)
15,800,000
(43,129,605)
(28,187,504)

(525,437)
4,300,000
—
3,774,563

7,000,000
(422,390)
(1,684,626)
(4,276,988)
37,932,290
(207,974)
556,706
(729,739)
(59,186)
204,173
(133,513)
72,862
38,251,615
(534,348)
9,968,600
9,434,252

—
—
(4,740,774)
—
—
(231,475)
16,891,193
(600,000)
(43,813)
165,261
—
71,716
11,512,108
1,539,742
7,507,659
9,047,401

$

$

29,615
49,245
63,809
389,000
—

$

410,184
55,739
—
—
75,000

$

369,360
3,545

$

575,480
1,023

HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Financial Statements
Note 1. Description of Business
HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) is a provider of instruments, reagents and services for molecular profiling applications. The Company derives revenue
from sales of its HTG EdgeSeq automation system and integrated next-generation sequencing-based HTG EdgeSeq assays, from research services including sample
processing and custom research use only (“RUO”) assay design and from collaborative development services.
The Company operates in one segment and its customers are located primarily in the United States and Europe. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018
approximately 79% and 77% of the Company’s revenue was generated from sales originated by customers located outside of the United States, compared with 68% and
49% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017. The increase in sales originated by customers located outside of the United States is primarily the result of
collaborative development services revenue generated from the Master Assay Development, Commercialization and Manufacturing Agreement (the “Governing
Agreement”) with QIAGEN Manchester Limited (“QML”), a wholly owned subsidiary of QIAGEN N.V. (see Note 16), which accounted for 92% and 82% of sales to
customers located outside of the United States for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, compared to 85% and 72% for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2017.
Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying interim unaudited condensed financial statements have been prepared by the Company pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and reflect the accounts of the Company as of September 30, 2018 and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) for complete financial statements. The accompanying interim unaudited condensed financial statements reflect all adjustments consisting of normal recurring
adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position and the results of its operations and cash flows, as
of and for the periods presented. The accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance sheet at December 31, 2017 has been derived from the audited financial
statements at that date but does not include all of the information and disclosures required by GAAP for annual financial statements. The results of operations for the
interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. These interim unaudited condensed financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements and notes thereto for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, included in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 23, 2018.
Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current period presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of
operations.
Revenue Recognition
The Company adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) new revenue standard, Accounting Standards Codification 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“ASC 606”), on January 1, 2018 using the full retrospective approach. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on 2017 or 2016 revenue
recognition or on opening equity, as the timing and measurement of revenue recognition for the Company is materially the same under ASC 606 as it was under the prior
relevant guidance.
For contracts where the period between when the Company transfers a promised good or service to the customer and when the customer pays is one year or less, the
Company has elected the practical expedient to not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component.
The Company has made a policy election to exclude from the measurement of the transaction price all taxes assessed by a government authority that are both imposed on
and concurrent with a specific revenue producing transaction and collected by the Company from a customer. Such taxes may include but are not limited to sales, use,
value added and certain excise taxes.
6

Restricted Cash
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance sheets
that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of cash flows.
September 30,
2018

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash - non-current
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the interim
unaudited condensed statements of cash flows

$

6,164,005
3,270,247

$

9,434,252

Amounts included in restricted cash represent those required to be set aside in escrow under the terms of the MidCap Term Loan (see Note 8) to collateralize the payment
that will be due upon maturity of the QNAH Convertible Note (see Note 16). The amounts will be released to the Company upon subsequent delivery of subordination
documents for the QNAH Convertible Note to MidCap or conversion of the QNAH Convertible Note. If neither occurs, the amounts will be applied by the escrow agent
to repay in full the QNAH Convertible Note at maturity (or in connection with a prepayment at the direction of the Company) subject to the terms of the MidCap Term
Loan.
Contract Assets
Contract assets represent the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Company has transferred to a customer, for which rights to
payment are conditional upon something other than the passage of time.
Contract Liabilities
Contract liabilities represent cash receipts for products or services to be delivered in future periods, including up-front fees received relating to custom RUO assay design
and sample processing services and collaboration development services. When products or services outputs are delivered to customers, contract liabilities are recognized
as earned. Up-front fees received for custom RUO assay design or collaborative development services are recognized over time based on the costs incurred to date
compared to total expected costs as design or development procedures are completed and outputs are produced.
Product Warranty
The Company generally provides a one-year warranty on its HTG EdgeSeq systems covering the performance of system hardware and software in conformance with
customer specifications under normal use and protecting against defects in materials and workmanship. The Company may, at its option, replace, repair or exchange
products covered under valid warranty claims. This assurance-type warranty is not deemed to be a separate performance obligation under the Company’s contracts with
customers for the sale of instruments, as its purpose is to ensure that the product complies with agreed-upon specifications following installation of the instrument. A
provision for estimated warranty costs is recognized at the time of sale, through cost of revenue, based upon recent historical experience and other relevant information as
it becomes available. The Company continuously assesses the adequacy of its product warranty accrual by reviewing actual claims and adjusts the provision as needed.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses represent costs incurred internally for research and development activities and costs incurred externally to fund research activities.
The costs include those generated through research and development efforts for the improvement and expansion of the Company’s proprietary technology and product
offerings as well as those related to third-party collaborative development agreements, for which related revenue is included in collaborative development services revenue
in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations. See Note 16 for further discussion of the development costs associated with collaborative
development services agreements included in research and development expense as compared to cost of revenue in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed
statements of operations.
Debt Issuance Costs
Costs incurred to issue non-revolving debt instruments are recognized as a reduction to the related debt balance in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance
sheets and amortized to interest expense over the contractual term of the related debt using the effective interest method. Costs incurred to issue revolving debt instruments
are deferred as an asset in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance sheets and amortized on a straight-line basis to interest expense over the term of the
revolving commitment.
7

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. The Company’s significant estimates include revenue recognition, stock-based compensation expense, bonus accrual, income tax valuation allowances, recovery of
long-lived assets, warranty accrual, inventory obsolescence and inventory valuation. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying value of financial instruments classified as current assets and current liabilities approximate fair value due to their liquidity and short-term nature.
Investments that are classified as available-for-sale are recorded at fair value, which was determined using quoted market prices, broker or dealer quotations or alternative
pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency. In October 2017, the Company received $3.0 million in gross proceeds from, and issued a subordinated
convertible promissory note (the “QNAH Convertible Note”) in that principal amount to, QIAGEN North American Holdings, Inc. (“QNAH”). As of September 30, 2018,
the estimated aggregate fair value of the QNAH Convertible Note is approximately $4.1 million. The fair value estimate is based on the note’s discounted cash flows and
estimated option value of the conversion terms. The estimated fair value of the QNAH Convertible Note represents a Level 3 measurement. The fair value of the MidCap
Term Loan (see Note 8) is also estimated using Level 3 inputs and approximates fair value as the interest rate approximates the market rate for debt securities with similar
terms and risk characteristics. The NuvoGen obligation is an obligation relating to an asset purchase transaction with a then-common stockholder of the Company.
Although the obligation is considered a financial instrument, the Company is unable to reasonably determine its fair value as the remaining payments due under the
obligation will be made at the greater of a minimum fixed quarterly payment or 6% of revenue, causing variability in the timing and amount of payments and the term of
the obligation.
Concentration Risks
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale debt securities and
uncollateralized accounts receivable. The Company maintains the majority of its cash balances in the form of cash deposits in bank checking and money market accounts
in amounts in excess of federally insured limits. Management believes, based upon the quality of the financial institution, that the credit risk with regard to these deposits
is not significant.
The Company sells its instrument, related consumables, sample processing services, custom RUO assay design and collaborative development services primarily to
biopharmaceutical companies, academic institutions and molecular labs. The Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and credit losses have
been minimal to date.
The Company’s top two customers accounted for 72% and 10% of the Company’s total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2018, compared with 57% and
10% for the three months ended September 30, 2017. The top two customers accounted for 63% and 10% of the Company’s total revenue for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, compared to 35% and 13% for the nine months ended September 30, 2017.
The top two customers accounted for approximately 75% and 8% of the Company’s accounts receivable as of September 30, 2018, compared with approximately 66% and
11% as of December 31, 2017. The largest of these amounts represents accounts receivable relating to statements of work entered into under the Company’s Governing
Agreement with QML.
The Company currently relies on a single supplier to supply a subcomponent used in the HTG EdgeSeq processors. A loss of this supplier could significantly delay the
delivery of processors, which in turn would materially affect the Company’s ability to generate revenue.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”), which supersedes nearly
all existing revenue recognition guidance under GAAP. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize revenues when promised goods or services are transferred to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 defines a five-step process to
achieve this core principle and, in doing so, more judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process than were required under prior GAAP.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue Recognition: Clarifying the new Revenue Standard’s Principal-Versus-Agent Guidance (“ASU 2016-08”).
The standard amends the principal-versus-agent implementation guidance and illustrations in ASU 2014-09. ASU 2016-08 clarifies that an entity should evaluate whether
it is the principal or the agent for each specified good or
8

service promised in a contract with a customer. As defined in ASU 2016-08, a specified good or service is “a distinct good or service (or a distinct bundle of goods or
services) to be provided to the customer.” Therefore, for contracts involving more than one specified good or service, the Company may be the principal in one or more
specified goods or services and the agent for others.
In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing. The
amendments in this standard affect the guidance in ASU 2014-09 by clarifying two aspects: identifying performance obligations and the licensing implementation
guidance.
In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients. The
amendments in this standard affect the guidance in ASU 2014-09 by clarifying certain specific aspects of ASU 2014-09, including assessment of collectability, treatment
of sales taxes and contract modifications, and providing certain technical corrections.
The new revenue standard and the standards that amend it were effective for public entities for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2017, using either of the following transition methods: (i) a full retrospective approach reflecting the application of the standard in each prior reporting
period with the option to elect certain practical expedients, or (ii) a retrospective approach with the cumulative effect of initially adopting ASU 2014-09 recognized at the
date of adoption (which includes additional footnote disclosures). The Company adopted ASC 606 as of January 1, 2018 using the full retrospective approach. The
adoption of ASC 606 did not have a material impact on 2017 revenue recognition or on opening equity, as the timing and measurement of revenue recognition is
materially the same for the Company as under ASC 605. The Company has presented additional quantitative and qualitative disclosures regarding identified revenue
streams and performance obligations beginning with the first quarter ended March 31, 2018 (see Note 9 and Note 16). The Company has also identified and implemented
changes to its business processes and internal controls relating to implementation of the new standard.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, (“ASU 2016-01”), which requires
equity investments to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income; simplifies the impairment assessment of equity investments without
readily determinable fair values by requiring a qualitative assessment to identify impairment; eliminates the requirement for public business entities to disclose the
method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value that is required to be disclosed for financial instruments measured at amortized cost on the balance
sheet; requires public business entities to use the exit price notion when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes; requires an entity to
present separately in other comprehensive income the portion of the total change in the fair value of a liability resulting from a change in the instrument-specific credit risk
when the entity has elected to measure the liability at fair value in accordance with the fair value option for financial instruments; requires separate presentation of
financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form of financial assets on the balance sheet or the accompanying notes to the financial statements
and clarifies that an entity should evaluate the need for a valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset related to available-for-sale securities in combination with the entity’s
other deferred tax assets. The Company adopted ASU 2016-01 as of January 1, 2018, at which time the standard did not have a significant impact on its interim unaudited
condensed financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments, (“ASU 201615”), which addresses eight specific cash flow issues with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice in how certain cash receipts and cash payments are
presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-15 as of January 1, 2018, at which time the adoption of this standard did not
have a significant impact on its interim unaudited condensed financial statements.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash, which requires that the statement of cash flows explain the
change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. Therefore, amounts
generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents are to be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and endof-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The amendments to this update were effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-18 as of January 1, 2018, however the adoption of this update did not have an impact on the
Company’s interim unaudited condensed financial statements until the quarter ended September 30, 2018, when the Company first recorded a restricted cash balance
related to the QML Convertible Note.
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting. The new standard provides
guidance about which changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply modification accounting in Topic 718. The Company
adopted ASU No. 2017-09 as of January 1, 2018. The adoption of this update did not impact the Company’s interim unaudited condensed financial statements.
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New Accounting Pronouncements
The following are new FASB ASUs that have not been adopted by the Company as of September 30, 2018, grouped by their respective effective dates:
January 1, 2019
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, which was subsequently amended by ASU No. 2018-01, ASU No. 2018-10 and ASU NO. 2018-11. Under
this standard, which applies to both lessors and lessees, lessees will be required to recognize all leases (except for short-term leases) as a lease liability, which is a lessee’s
obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease measured on a discounted basis, and as a right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to
use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. Leases will be classified as either financing or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense
recognition in the income statement. The new standard is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. A
modified retrospective transition approach is required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. The effect of adoption of this standard on the Company’s financial statements
depends on the leases existing at January 1, 2019. Based on the Company’s office and equipment leases currently in place and considering the practical expedients, the
Company expects that adoption of the new standard will not have a material effect on its statements of operations, will result in a gross-up on its balance sheets of less
than $2.0 million relating to office and equipment leases and will have no effect on its statements of cash flows. The Company will continue to assess the new guidance
and its potential applicability, to new agreements that the Company may enter into subsequent to September 30, 2018 through the date of adoption.
In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-11, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Features. This new standard makes limited changes to
previous guidance on classifying certain financial instruments as either liabilities or equity. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years with early adoption permitted, including adoption in an interim period. When considering the Company’s existing
financial instruments, the Company does not believe the adoption of this standard will have an effect on its financial statements.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-based Payment Accounting.
The standard expands the scope of Topic 718 to include share-based payments issued to nonemployees for goods or services, simplifying the accounting for share-based
payments to nonemployees by aligning it with the accounting for share-based payments to employees, with certain exceptions. The standard is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years with early adoption permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The
Company does not believe the adoption of this standard will have a significant impact on its financial statements given the limited number of nonemployee stock-based
awards outstanding.
January 1, 2020
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, which requires the measurement of expected credit losses for financial
instruments carried at amortized cost held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable forecasts. The updated guidance also
amends the current other-than-temporary impairment model for available-for-sale debt securities by requiring the recognition of impairments relating to credit losses
through an allowance account and limits the amount of credit loss to the difference between a security’s amortized cost basis and its fair value. In addition, the length of
time a security has been in an unrealized loss position will no longer impact the determination of whether a credit loss exists. The main objective of this ASU is to provide
financial statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on financial instruments and other commitments to extend credit held by a
reporting entity at each reporting date. The standard is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early
adoption is permitted for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company does not believe the adoption of this
standard will have a significant impact on its financial statements, given the high credit quality of the obligors to its available-for-sale debt securities and its limited history
of bad debt expense relating to trade accounts receivable.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement – Disclosure Framework – Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement, which makes a number of changes meant to add, modify or remove certain disclosure requirements associated with the movement against or hierarchy
associated with Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements. The standard is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted upon issuance of the update. The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact
on its financial statements.
In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-18, which amended ASC 808, Collaborative Arrangements and ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(“ASU 2018-18”), to require that transactions in collaborative arrangements be accounted for under ASC 606 if the counterparty is a customer for a good or service (or
bundle of goods and services) that is a distinct unit of
10

account. The amendments also preclude entities from presenting consideration from transactions with a collaborator that is not a customer together with revenue
recognized from contracts with customers. The standard is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early
adoption is permitted, including in any interim period, provided an entity has already adopted ASC 606 or does so concurrently with the adoption of this guidance. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of its pending adoption of ASU 2018-18 on its financial statements.
Note 3. Inventory
Inventory, net of allowance, consisted of the following as of the dates indicated:
September 30,
2018

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods
Total gross inventory
Less inventory allowance

$

$

December 31,
2017

843,973 $
152,458
172,064
1,168,495
(39,403)
1,129,092 $

984,328
66,314
192,021
1,242,663
(62,142)
1,180,521

The reserve for shrinkage and excess inventory was $39,403 and $62,142 as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. For the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded net decreases in the inventory reserve of $22,926 and $22,739, respectively, compared to net decreases of $21,405 and
$83,832, respectively, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, to adjust for estimated shrinkage and obsolescence. For the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2018, the Company recorded adjustments to provision for excess inventory of $40,307 and $63,840, respectively. For the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2017, the Company recorded adjustments to provision for excess inventory of $58,059 and $302,085, respectively. Adjustments in these periods to the
allowance for estimated shrinkage, obsolescence and excess inventory have been included in cost of revenue in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements
of operations.

Note 4. Fair Value Instruments
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input significant to the fair value
measurement. The following table classifies the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2018 and December
31, 2017, respectively:
Balance at September 30, 2018
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Asset included in:
Cash and cash equivalents
Money market securities
Investments available-for-sale at fair value
U.S. government obligations
Corporate debt securities
Total

$

6,105,380

$

9,995,100
—
16,100,480

$

—

$

—
17,617,931
17,617,931

$
$

8,521,054
8,521,054

$

—

$

—
—
—

$

6,105,380

$

9,995,100
17,617,931
33,718,411

Balance at December 31, 2017
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Asset included in:
Cash and cash equivalents
Money market securities
Total

Total

$
$

—
—

$
$

Total

—
—

$
$

8,521,054
8,521,054

There are no other financial instruments subject to fair value measurement on a recurring basis. Transfers to and from Levels 1, 2 and 3 are recognized at the end of the
reporting period. There were no transfers between levels for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 or for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Level 1 instruments include investments in money market funds, U.S. Treasuries and U.S. government agency obligations. These instruments are valued using quoted
market prices for identical unrestricted instruments in active markets. The Company defines active markets for debt instruments based on both the average daily trading
volume and the number of days with trading activity. Level 2 instruments include corporate debt securities. Valuations of Level 2 instruments can be verified to quoted
prices, recent trading activity for identical or similar instruments, broker or dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency.
Consideration is given to the nature of the quotations (e.g., indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity to the prices provided from alternative pricing
sources.
Fair values of these assets are based on prices provided by independent market participants that are based on observable inputs using market-based valuation techniques.
These valuation models and analytical tools use market pricing or similar instruments that are both objective and publicly available, including matrix pricing or reported
trades, benchmark yields, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids and/or offers. The Company did not adjust any of the
valuations received from these third parties with respect to any of its Level 1 or 2 securities for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018 or the year-ended
December 31, 2017 and did not have any Level 3 financial assets or liabilities during either of these periods.
Note 5. Available-for-Sale Securities
The Company’s portfolio of available-for-sale securities consists of U.S. Treasuries and high credit quality corporate debt securities. The following is a summary of the
Company’s available-for-sale securities at September 30, 2018:
September 30, 2018
Gross
Gross
Fair Value
Amortized
Unrealized
Unrealized
(Net Carrying
Cost
Gains
Losses
Amount)
$ 10,002,727 $
— $
(7,627) $
9,995,100
17,619,186
—
(1,255)
17,617,931
$ 27,621,913 $
— $
(8,882) $
27,613,031

U.S. Treasury securities
Corporate debt securities
Total available-for-sale securities
The Company had no available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2017.

The net adjustment to unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax in other comprehensive income totaled $2,457 and $(8,882) for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2018, and $0 and $1,090 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.
Contractual maturities of debt investment securities at September 30, 2018 are shown below. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because the
issuers of the securities may have the right to prepay obligations without prepayment penalties.

U.S. Treasury securities
Corporate debt securities
Total available-for-sale securities

$
$

Under
1 Year
1 to 2 Years
9,995,100 $
— $
17,617,931
—
27,613,031 $
— $

Total
9,995,100
17,617,931
27,613,031

The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair values of the Company’s investments that have unrealized losses, aggregated by investment category and
length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position as of September 30, 2018:

U.S. Treasury securities
Corporate debt securities
Total available-for-sale securities with unrealized losses

$
$

Under 1 Year
1 to 2 Years
Gross
Gross
Fair
Unrealized
Fair
Unrealized
Value
Losses
Value
Losses
9,995,100 $
(7,627) $
— $
— $
2,399,726
(1,255)
—
—
12,394,826 $
(8,882) $
— $
— $
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Total
Gross
Fair
Unrealized
Value
Losses
9,995,100 $
(7,627)
2,399,726
(1,255)
12,394,826 $
(8,882)

For debt securities, the Company determines whether it intends to sell or if it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell impaired securities. This determination
considers current and forecasted liquidity requirements, regulatory and capital requirements and securities portfolio management. For all impaired debt securities for
which there was no intent or expected requirement to sell, the evaluation considers all available evidence to assess whether it is likely the amortized cost value will be
recovered. The Company conducts a regular assessment of its debt securities with unrealized losses to determine whether securities have other-than-temporary impairment
considering, among other factors, the nature of the securities, credit rating or financial condition of the issuer, the extent and duration of the unrealized loss, expected cash
flows of underlying collateral, market conditions and whether the Company intends to sell or it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the debt
securities. The Company did not have any other-than-temporary impairment in its available-for-sale securities at September 30, 2018.
Note 6. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, net, consists of the following as of the dates indicated:
September 30,
2018

Furniture & fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Equipment used in manufacturing
Equipment used in research & development
Equipment used in the field
Software
Construction in progress

$

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
$

December 31,
2017

771,767 $
1,895,216
2,176,188
1,456,954
130,552
373,683
117,447
6,921,807
(4,307,187)
2,614,620 $

582,007
1,863,698
1,963,558
1,328,556
130,552
373,683
255,641
6,497,695
(3,192,805)
3,304,890

Depreciation and leasehold improvement amortization expense was $347,886 and $1,126,230 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, and
$305,868 and $893,334 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.
Note 7. Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following as of the dates indicated:
September 30,
2018

Accrued employee bonuses
Payroll and employee benefit accruals
Accrued professional fees
Accrued interest
Other accrued liabilities
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December 31,
2017

$

1,407,730
607,580
130,190
130,509
254,606

$

3,049,109
369,275
101,150
45,544
181,708

$

2,530,615

$

3,746,786

Note 8. Debt Obligations
Growth Term Loan
Total amortization expense for warrant, final fee and original issuance discounts in connection with the growth capital term loans under the Loan and Security Agreement
dated August 22, 2014 between the Company and Oxford Finance, LLC and Silicon Valley Bank (the “Growth Term Loan”) was $0 and $59,969 for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, and $89,836 and $310,567 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively, and is included in
interest expense in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations. Deferred financing cost amortization expense relating to the Growth Term
Loan was $0 and $2,982 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, and $4,362 and $14,950 for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2017, respectively, and is included in interest expense in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations. The Company recorded $0 and
$58,538 of discounts associated with the Growth Term Loan in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December
31, 2017, respectively.
Extinguishment of Growth Term Loan upon MidCap Credit Facility Closing
In March 2018, the Company repaid all principal and interest amounts outstanding under the Growth Term Loan in an aggregate amount equal to approximately $4.3
million, including collateral agent legal fees and prepayment fees. The repayment was funded with net proceeds from the MidCap Credit Facility (see description of the
MidCap Credit Facility below). As a result of the repayment, the Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of the Growth Term Loan of $0 for the three months ended
September 30, 2018 and $105,064, including remaining unamortized discounts of $67,272 and prepayment and other Growth Term Loan lender fees in the accompanying
interim unaudited condensed statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. All obligations under the Growth Term Loan were terminated upon
extinguishment of the Growth Term Loan.
MidCap Credit Facility
On March 26, 2018 (the “MidCap Closing Date”), the Company entered into a Credit and Security Agreement (Term Loan) (the “MidCap Term Loan”) and a Credit and
Security Agreement (Revolving Loan) (the “MidCap Revolving Loan” and together with the MidCap Term Loan, the “MidCap Credit Facility”) with MidCap Financial
Trust, as agent. MidCap Financial Trust subsequently assigned its rights and obligations as agent to MidCap Funding IV Trust.
The MidCap Term Loan provides a secured term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $20.0 million. The Company borrowed the first advance of $7.0
million (“MidCap Tranche 1”) on the MidCap Closing Date. Under the terms of the MidCap Term Loan, the second advance of $13.0 million (“MidCap Tranche 2”) will
be available to the Company on or before September 30, 2019, subject to the Company’s satisfaction of certain conditions described in the MidCap Term Loan, including
(a) the Company achieving the first commercial sale of an FDA-approved diagnostic assay utilizing next generation sequencing under its Governing Agreement with
QML, and (b) delivery to MidCap of subordination documents in respect of the QNAH Convertible Note (or the satisfaction of alternative arrangements as provided in the
MidCap Term Loan, as described below).
MidCap Tranche 1 was used to repay in full all outstanding amounts and fees due under the Growth Term Loan. The proceeds remaining from MidCap Tranche 1 and, if
borrowed, the proceeds from MidCap Tranche 2, are expected to be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
MidCap Tranche 1, and if borrowed, MidCap Tranche 2, each bear interest at a floating rate equal to 7.25% per annum, plus the greater of (i) 1.25% or (ii) one-month
LIBOR. Interest on each term loan advance is due and payable monthly in arrears and was calculated at a rate of 9.340% for interest accrued as of September 30, 2018.
Principal on each term loan advance is payable in 36 equal monthly installments beginning April 1, 2020 until paid in full on March 1, 2023. Prepayments of the term
loans under the MidCap Term Loan, in whole or in part, will be subject to early termination fees in an amount equal to 3.0% of principal prepaid if prepayment occurs on
or prior to the first anniversary of the MidCap Closing Date, 2.0% of principal prepaid if prepayment occurs after the first anniversary of the MidCap Closing Date but on
or prior to the second anniversary of the MidCap Closing Date, and 1.0% of principal prepaid if prepayment occurs after the second anniversary of the MidCap Closing
Date and prior to or on the third anniversary of the MidCap Closing Date. In connection with execution of the MidCap Term Loan, the Company paid MidCap a $100,000
origination fee.
Upon termination of the MidCap Term Loan, the Company is required to pay an exit fee equal to 4.50% of the principal amount of all term loans advanced to the
Company under the MidCap Term Loan.
The MidCap Term Loan also required that the Company deliver subordination documents with respect to the QNAH Convertible Note, or that the QNAH Convertible
Note otherwise be converted or prepaid, on or before June 30, 2018, and required the Company to deposit approximately $3.3 million into an escrow account by July 15,
2018 if neither event occurred by such date. As neither event
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occurred prior to June 30, 2018, the Company deposited approximately $3.3 million into an escrow account on July 11, 2018. Such escrowed funds will be released to the
Company upon subsequent delivery of the requisite subordination documents or conversion of the QNAH Convertible Note. If neither delivery of the subordination
documents or conversion of the QNAH Convertible Note occurs, such funds will be applied by the escrow agent to repay in full the QNAH Convertible Note at maturity
(or in connection with a prepayment at the direction of the Company), subject to (i) the Company having drawn MidCap Tranche 2, (ii) the Company having unrestricted
cash and cash equivalents held in a deposit or securities account subject to a control agreement in favor of the Agent in a minimum amount of $20.0 million and (iii) there
being no default under the MidCap Credit Facility.
The MidCap Revolving Loan provides a secured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $2.0 million. The Company may request an increase in
the total commitments under the MidCap Revolving Loan by up to an additional $8.0 million, subject to agent and lender approval and the satisfaction of certain
conditions. Availability of the revolving credit facility under the MidCap Revolving Loan will be based upon a borrowing base formula and periodic borrowing base
certifications valuing certain of the Company’s accounts receivable and inventory, as reduced by certain reserves, if any. Further, although the revolving credit facility was
made available following establishment of required lockbox arrangements by the Company in June 2018, there were no amounts outstanding under the MidCap Revolving
Loan as of September 30, 2018. The proceeds of any loans under the MidCap Revolving Loan may be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
Loans under the MidCap Revolving Loan accrue interest at a floating rate equal to 4.25% per annum, plus the greater of (i) 1.25% or (ii) one-month LIBOR. Accrued
interest on the revolving loans will be paid monthly and revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and re-borrowed until March 1, 2023, when all outstanding amounts
must be repaid. Subject to certain exceptions, termination or permanent reductions of the revolving loan commitment under the MidCap Revolving Loan will be subject to
termination fees in an amount equal to 3.0% of the commitment amount terminated or reduced if such termination or reduction occurs on or prior to the first anniversary
of the MidCap Closing Date, 2.0% of the commitment amount terminated or reduced if such termination or reduction occurs after the first anniversary of the MidCap
Closing Date but on or prior to the second anniversary of the MidCap Closing Date, and 1.0% of the commitment amount terminated or reduced if such termination or
reduction occurs after the second anniversary of the MidCap Closing Date and prior to or on the third anniversary of the MidCap Closing Date.
In connection with the MidCap Revolving Loan, the Company is required to pay customary fees, including an origination fee of 0.50% of the original commitment
amount at closing (and an equivalent origination fee with respect to any increased commitments at the time of the applicable increase), a monthly unused line fee of 0.50%
per annum based upon the average daily unused portion of the revolving credit facility and a monthly collateral management fee of 0.50% per annum based upon the
average daily used portion of the revolving credit facility. The Company is also required to maintain a minimum drawn balance of not less 20% of availability under the
revolving line. If the Company does not maintain such minimum drawn balance, it is required to pay monthly interest and fees as if an amount equal to 20% of availability
had been drawn down under the revolving line.
The Company’s obligations under the MidCap Credit Facility are secured by a security interest in substantially all of its assets, excluding intellectual property (which is
subject to a negative pledge). Additionally, the Company’s future subsidiaries, if any, may be required to become co-borrowers or guarantors under the MidCap Credit
Facility.
The MidCap Credit Facility contains customary affirmative covenants and customary negative covenants limiting the Company’s ability and the ability of the Company’s
subsidiaries, if any, to, among other things, dispose of assets, undergo a change in control, merge or consolidate, make acquisitions, incur debt, incur liens, pay dividends,
repurchase stock and make investments, in each case subject to certain exceptions. Commencing with the calendar quarter ending on the later of (a) June 30, 2019 and (b)
the last day of the calendar quarter in which MidCap Tranche 2 is funded, the Company must also comply with a financial covenant relating to trailing twelve-month
minimum Net Revenue requirements (as defined in the MidCap Credit Facility), tested on a quarterly basis.
The MidCap Credit Facility also contains customary events of default relating to, among other things, payment defaults, breaches of covenants, a material adverse change,
delisting of the Company’s common stock, bankruptcy and insolvency, cross defaults with certain material indebtedness and certain material contracts, judgments, and
inaccuracies of representations and warranties. Upon an event of default, agent and the lenders may declare all or a portion of the Company’s outstanding obligations to be
immediately due and payable and exercise other rights and remedies provided for under the agreement. During the existence of an event of default, interest on the
obligations could be increased by 3.0%.
The Company granted the lender ten-year warrants to purchase 18,123 shares of the Company’s common stock at $7.73 per share as a result of Tranche 1. Upon
drawdown of Tranche 2, the Company will issue additional ten-year warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock in an aggregate amount equal to 2.0% of
the amount drawn, divided by the exercise price per share for that tranche (defined as 1.5 times the volume-weighted average closing price of the Company’s common
stock for the ten business days immediately preceding the business day before the issue date). The fair value of the warrants on the date of issuance was
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approximately $74,000, determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, and was recorded as a discount to the MidCap Term Loan.
The Company recognized approximately $648,204 of debt discount associated with the MidCap Term Loan, resulting from fees and debt issuance costs, in the
accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance sheets as of September 30, 2018. Amortization of the debt discount associated with the MidCap Term Loan was
approximately $39,910 and $83,766 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and was included in interest expense in the accompanying interim unaudited
condensed statements of operations. Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Midcap Revolving Loan of $71,126 are presented as MidCap revolving loan
costs in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance sheets as of September 30, 2018. Amortization of deferred MidCap revolving loan costs was $4,058 and
$8,294 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, and are included in interest expense in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed
statements of operations.
Other Debt Obligations to Related Parties
Refer to Note 16 below for discussion of debt obligation to related parties.
Note 9. Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when, or as, the Company satisfies its performance obligations by delivering the promised goods or service
deliverables to the customers. A good or service deliverable is transferred to a customer when, or as, the customer obtains control of that good or service deliverable. A
performance obligation may be satisfied over time or at a point in time. Revenue from a performance obligation satisfied over time is recognized by measuring the
Company’s progress in satisfying the performance obligation in a manner that depicts the transfer of the goods or services to the customer. Revenue from a performance
obligation satisfied at a point in time is recognized at the point in time that the Company determines the customer obtains control over the promised good or service
deliverable. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those promised goods or services (i.e., the
“transaction price”). In determining the transaction price, the Company considers multiple factors, including the effects of variable consideration. Variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the
uncertainties with respect to the amount are resolved. In determining when to include variable consideration in the transaction price, the Company considers the range of
possible outcomes, the predictive value of its past experiences, the time period of when uncertainties expect to be resolved and the amount of consideration that is
susceptible to factors outside of the Company’s influence, such as the judgment and actions of third parties.
Product and Product-related Services Revenue
The Company had product and product-related services revenue consisting of revenue from the sale of instruments and consumables and the use of the HTG EdgeSeq
proprietary technology to process samples and design custom RUO assays for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Product revenue:
Instruments
Consumables
Total product revenue
Product-related services revenue:
Custom RUO assay development
Sample processing
Total product-related services revenue
Total product and product-related services revenue

$

$

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

24,844 $
427,899
452,743

199,205 $
426,400
625,605

309,711
1,273,011
1,582,722

262,044
600,057
862,101
1,314,844 $

73,567
893,618
967,185
1,592,790 $

565,768
2,923,212
3,488,980
5,071,702

$

$

370,263
1,203,663
1,573,926
419,515
2,428,863
2,848,378
4,422,304

Because the Company’s agreements for product and product-related services revenue have an expected duration of one year or less, the Company has elected the practical
expedient in ASC 606-10-50-14(a) to not disclose information about its remaining performance obligations.
Sale of Instruments and Consumables
The delivery of each instrument and related installation and calibration are considered to be a single performance obligation, as the HTG EdgeSeq instrument must be
professionally installed and calibrated prior to use. Instrument product revenue is generally recognized upon installation and calibration of the instrument by field service
engineers, which represents the point at which the
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customer has the ability to use the instrument and has accepted the asset. Installation generally occurs within one month of instrument shipment.
The delivery of each consumable is a separate performance obligation. Consumables revenue is recognized upon transfer of control, which represents the point when the
customer has legal title and the significant risks of ownership of the asset. The Company’s standard terms and conditions provide that no right of return exists for
instruments and consumables, unless replacement is necessary due to delivery of defective or damaged product. Customer payment terms vary but are typically between
30 and 90 days of revenue being earned from shipment or delivery, as applicable.
Shipping and handling fees charged to the Company’s customers for instruments and consumables shipped are included in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed
statements of operations as part of product and product-related services revenue. Shipping and handling costs for sold products shipped to the Company’s customers are
included in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations as part of cost of revenue.
For sales of consumables in the United States, standard delivery terms are FOB shipping point, unless otherwise specified in the customer contract, reflecting transfer of
control to the customer upon shipment. The Company has elected the practical expedient to account for shipping and handling as activities to fulfill the promise to transfer
the consumables.
The Company provides instruments to certain customers under reagent rental agreements. Under these agreements, the Company installs instruments in the customer’s
facility without a fee and the customer agrees to purchase consumable products at a stated price over the term of the agreement; in some instances, the agreements do not
contain a minimum purchase requirement. Terms range from several months to multiple years and may automatically renew in several month or multiple year increments
unless either party notifies the other in advance that the agreement will not renew. The Company measures progress toward complete satisfaction of its performance
obligation to provide the instrument and deliver the consumables using an output method based on the number of consumables delivered in relation to the total
consumables to be provided under the reagent rental agreement. This is considered to be representative of the delivery of outputs under the arrangement and the best
measure of progress because the customer benefits from the instrument only in conjunction with the consumables. The Company expects to recover the cost of the
instrument under the agreement through the fees charged for consumables, to the extent sold, over the term of the agreement.
In reagent rental agreements, the Company retains title to the instrument and title is transferred to the customer at no additional charge at the conclusion of the initial
arrangement. The cost of the instrument is amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the arrangement, unless there is no minimum consumable product purchase
in which case the instrument would be expensed as cost of revenue upon installation. Cost to maintain the instrument while title remains with the Company is charged to
selling, general and administrative expense as incurred.
Sample Processing
The Company also provides sample preparation and processing services and molecular profiling of retrospective cohorts for its customers through its VERI/O laboratory,
whereby the customer provides samples to be processed using HTG EdgeSeq technology specified in the order. Customers are charged a per sample fee for sample
processing services which is recognized as revenue upon delivery of a data file to the customer showing the results of testing and completing delivery of the agreed upon
service. This is when the customer can use and benefit from the results of testing and the Company has the present right to payment.
Custom RUO Assay Design and Related Agreements
The Company enters into custom RUO assay design agreements that may generate up-front fees and subsequent payments that might be earned upon completion of design
process phases. The Company measures progress toward complete satisfaction of its performance obligation to perform custom RUO assay design using an output method
based on the costs incurred to date compared to total expected costs, as this is representative of the delivery of outputs under the arrangements and the best measure of
progress. However, because in most instances the assay development fees are contingent upon completion of each phase of the design project and the decision of the
customer to proceed to the next phase, the amount to be included in the transaction price and recognized as revenue is limited to that which the customer is contractually
obligated to pay upon completion of that phase, which is when it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur.
Changes in estimates of total expected costs are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. From period to period, custom RUO assay design service revenue can
fluctuate substantially based on the completion of design-related phases.
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company Agreement
In May 2016, the Company entered into a Collaboration Agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (“BMS”) for the design of at least two custom RUO assays for
BMS based on the Company’s HTG EdgeSeq technology. Following design of each assay, at BMS’s
17

request, the Company may also perform sample processing services using such custom RUO assay(s) and/or supply the custom RUO assay(s) to BMS or its third-party
subcontractors. Additional custom RUO assay design services related to immuno-oncology research may be undertaken pursuant to the agreement in accordance with a
mutually acceptable work plan, which is incorporated by written amendment.
BMS paid an initial non-refundable, non-creditable program set-up fee upon initiation of the agreement, and has agreed to pay an annual non-refundable, non-creditable
project management fee in quarterly installments as well as a custom RUO assay design fee for each assay designed.
In January 2018, the Company and BMS amended the terms of the parties’ Collaboration Agreement to increase the development fee payable by BMS to the Company for
each of the two, initial custom RUO assays contemplated by the agreement from a low six-figure range to a mid six-figure dollar amount, and to modify certain custom
RUO assay design requirements. With the amendment of the agreement, the Company estimates that the first custom research assay design project initiated under this
agreement will be completed before December 31, 2018. See contract liabilities note below for further discussion of the impact of this modification on the Collaboration
Agreement.
The Company has determined that the agreement does not meet the definition of a collaborative arrangement and that BMS meets the definition of a customer under ASC
606. Additionally, each SOW issued for an RUO custom assay design project contemplated by the agreement represents a single performance obligation to provide custom
RUO assay design services. In addition, if BMS should opt to purchase completed custom RUO assay kits or sample processing services, these add-on services would not
be combined with the custom RUO assay design performance obligations. Instead, these would be additional contracts with BMS accounted for using the Company’s
policy for consumable product and sample processing revenue recognition under ASC 606 at the time such request is made.
The initial set-up fee is a fixed fee and is included in the transaction price. The RUO custom assay design fee relating to each assay design project contemplated under the
agreement represents variable consideration because the assay design fees are contingent upon completion of each phase of the design project and the decision of BMS to
proceed to the next phase. The quarterly project management fees represent variable consideration because they are payable by BMS through the completion of the second
of the two custom assay design projects or termination of the agreement. The Company uses the most likely amount method to measure the variable consideration for its
RUO custom assay design fees, which are constrained and excluded from the transaction price until BMS is contractually obligated to pay the fees upon completion of that
phase, which is when it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur.
The initial set-up fee is included in the transaction price and is being recognized as revenue using an output method that measures progress based on the specific output
provided to BMS, such as an internal document generated, or conclusion reached.
The agreement will expire on May 11, 2019 or, if a project is then ongoing, the date of delivery of the final report for such project. Either party may terminate the
agreement upon the other party’s material breach or default in the performance of a material obligation under the agreement or if certain warranties or representations are
untrue in any material respect (each a “BCA Default”) and such BCA Default remains uncured for 60 days or such longer period if the BCA Default cannot be cured
within 60 days. BMS may terminate a project upon 90 days’ prior written notice to the Company.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, $166,714 and $298,938, respectively, was recognized under the agreement as product and product-related
services revenue in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations, compared to $31,250 and $93,750 for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2017, respectively. Contract liabilities relating to this agreement of $79,918 and $160,106 were included in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed
balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. As of September 30, 2018, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the
partially unsatisfied performance obligation was $50,000. The Company expects to recognize the revenue for this amount between October 2018 and December 2019
using the same output method that the Company uses for its custom RUO assay design performance obligations with BMS.
Collaborative Development Services Revenue
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Collaborative development services

$

3,391,534 $

2,130,694 $

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

8,704,094 $

2,433,105

See Note 16 for discussion of collaborative development services contracts with related parties. There was no collaborative development services revenue generated from
the Company’s companion diagnostic development services agreements with non-related party customers for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018. This
includes the Company’s Master CDx Agreement with Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany, for which there have been no significant modifications or financial events
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relating to the agreement since the disclosures made by the Company in its Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2018.
The Company earned the first milestone-based payment under the Master CDx Agreement in the second quarter of 2017. There were no additional milestone payments
earned or financial events relating to this collaborative development agreement in the third quarter of 2017. As such, collaborative development services revenue of $0 and
$25,000 was recognized for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively, related to this agreement.
Contract Liabilities
The Company receives up-front payments from customers for custom RUO assay design services, and occasionally for sample processing services. Payments for
instrument extended warranty contracts are made in advance as are payments for certain agreed-upon capital purchases required for collaborative development service
projects. The Company recognizes such up-front payments as a contract liability. The contract liability is subsequently reduced at the point in time that the data file is
delivered for sample processing services or as the Company satisfies its performance obligations over time for RUO assay design, collaborative development and extended
warranty services. Contract liabilities of $387,975 and $837,885 were included in contract liabilities – current and other non-current liabilities in the accompanying
unaudited condensed balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
Changes in the Company’s contract liability were as follows as of the date indicated:
Product Revenue

Balance at January 1, 2018
Deferral of revenue
Recognition of deferred revenue
Balance at September 30, 2018

$

$

39,426
151,461
(135,980)
54,907

Custom RUO Assay
Design

$

$

197,606
336,080
(453,768)
79,918

Collaborative
Development Services

Sample Processing

$

$

490,536
166,291
(403,677)
253,150

$

$

110,317
70,918
(181,235)
—

Total Contract
Liability

$

$

837,885
724,750
(1,174,660)
387,975

Included in recognition of deferred revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 was a cumulative catch up adjustment of $0 and $30,055,
respectively, to custom RUO assay design revenue relating to the January 2018 modification of the Company’s Collaboration Agreement with BMS for custom RUO
assay design discussed above.
Note 10. Other Agreements
NuvoGen Obligation
Pursuant to the Company’s asset purchase agreement with NuvoGen Research, LLC (“NuvoGen”), as amended, the Company is obligated to pay NuvoGen the greater of
$400,000 or 6% of annual revenue until the obligation is paid in full. Although an amendment to the agreement allowed for deferral of any revenue-based payments
through December 31, 2017, no revenue-based payments were deferred. In addition to fixed quarterly payments of $100,000, revenue-based payments of $182,383 and
$85,574 were payable as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. There have been no significant modifications to the terms and conditions of the
Company’s NuvoGen obligation since the disclosures made in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2018.
The minimum remaining payments due to NuvoGen at September 30, 2018, including $182,383 of additional revenue-based payments payable as of September 30, 2018,
are as follows for each fiscal year, although actual payments could be significantly more than provided in the table, to the extent that 6% of the Company’s annual revenue
exceeds $400,000:
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023 and beyond
Total NuvoGen obligation payments
Plus interest accretion

$

282,383
400,000
400,000
400,000
400,000
5,286,621
7,169,004
109,487

Total NuvoGen obligation, net

$

7,278,491
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Illumina, Inc. Agreement
In June 2017, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Development and Component Supply Agreement with Illumina, Inc. (“Illumina”), effective May 31,
2017 (“Restated Agreement”), which amended and restated the parties’ IVD Test Development and Component Supply Agreement entered into in October 2014
(“Original Agreement”). The Restated Agreement provides for the development and worldwide commercialization by the Company of nuclease-protection-based RNA or
DNA profiling tests (“IVD test kits”) for use with Illumina’s MiSeqDx sequencer in the field of diagnostic oncology testing in humans (“Field”).
As a result of IVD test kit development plans submitted by the Company to Illumina in accordance with the Restated Agreement, the Company paid Illumina $0 and
$12,500 for the three and nine months ended September 2018, respectively, compared to $0 and $50,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017,
respectively.
Other Development Agreements
There have been no significant modifications or financial events relating to the development agreements entered into by the Company in prior periods with Invetech PTY
Ltd. since the disclosures made by the Company in its Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2018.
Note 11. Net Loss Per Share
Basic loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted loss
per common share is computed similar to basic loss per common share except that it reflects the potential dilution that could occur if dilutive securities or other obligations
to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock.
The following table provides the numerator and denominator used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share for the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Numerator:
Net loss
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares outstanding-basic and diluted
Net loss per share, basic and diluted

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

$

(4,843,408) $

(5,380,846) $

(14,326,084) $

(17,038,022)

$

28,434,406
(0.17) $

11,603,617
(0.46) $

27,184,968
(0.53) $

9,794,651
(1.74)

The following outstanding securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share for the periods presented because their effect would have been antidilutive:
Nine Months Ended September
30,
2018
2017

Options to purchase common stock
Common stock warrants
Restricted stock units
QNAH convertible note

2,148,323
237,846
249,166
772,075

1,532,979
219,723
34,999
—

Note 12. Warrants
In connection with certain of its redeemable convertible preferred stock issuances, convertible debt financings and other financing arrangements, the Company has issued
warrants for shares of its common stock and various issues of its redeemable convertible preferred stock which have since been converted to common stock warrants.
There have been no significant modifications or financial events relating to the warrants that were issued prior to December 31, 2017 since the disclosures made by the
Company in its Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2018.
In March 2018, in connection with the Company’s entry into the MidCap Credit Facility (see Note 8), the Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 18,123
shares of the Company’s common stock, at an exercise price equal to $7.73 per share as a result of the funding of MidCap Tranche 1. The warrants are immediately
exercisable and expire on the earlier to occur of the tenth anniversary
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of the respective issue date or, in certain circumstances, the closing of a merger, sale or other consolidation transaction in which the consideration is cash, stock of a
publicly traded acquirer, or a combination thereof.
The following table shows the common stock warrants outstanding as of September 30, 2018:
Shares of Common Stock
Underlying Warrants

28,713
144,772
931
45,307
18,123

Exercise
Price/Share

$

Expiration Date

23.51
14.00
6.45
2.76
7.73

2024
2022
2019
2026
2028

Note 13. Stockholders’ Deficit
Public Offerings
ATM Offering
In April 2017, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (“Cantor”), as sales agent,
pursuant to which the Company had the right to offer and sell, from time to time, through Cantor, shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, by
any method deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “ATM Offering”). In April 2017, the
Company also filed a prospectus supplement (File No. 333-216977) with the SEC relating to the offer and sale of up to $20.0 million of common stock in the ATM
Offering. In June 2017, the Company filed a first amendment to the prospectus supplement with the SEC to increase the amount of common stock that could be offered
and sold in the ATM Offering under the Sales Agreement to $40.0 million in the aggregate, inclusive of the common stock previously sold in the ATM Offering prior to
the date of the first amendment. In January 2018, the Company filed a second amendment to the prospectus supplement with the SEC to decrease the amount of common
stock that could be offered and sold in the ATM Offering under the Sales Agreement to $23.0 million in the aggregate, inclusive of the common stock sold in the ATM
Offering prior to the date of the second amendment. In February 2018, the Company and Cantor mutually agreed to terminate the Sales Agreement.
Prior to termination of the Sales Agreement, the Company sold 5,733,314 shares of common stock under the ATM Offering at then-market prices for total gross proceeds
of approximately $21.1 million, including 0.3 million shares of common stock sold for gross proceeds of $0.6 million during the first quarter ended March 31, 2018. After
$0.6 million of sales commissions and $0.2 million of other offering expenses paid by the Company in connection with the ATM Offering, the Company’s aggregate net
proceeds from the ATM Offering were approximately $20.2 million. Sales commissions and offering expenses have been recorded as a reduction of proceeds received in
arriving at the amount recorded in additional paid-in capital in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31,
2017.
Underwritten Public Offering
In January 2018, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 13,915,000 shares of its common stock at a price of $2.90 per share, including 1,815,000
shares sold pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. The Company sold its common stock through an underwriting
agreement with Leerink Partners LLC and Cantor as representatives of the underwriters for the offering. The aggregate net proceeds to the Company from the offering
were approximately $37.7 million, after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses.
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Stock-based Compensation
A summary of the Company’s stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 is as follows:
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
Per Share

Number of
Shares

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Balance at December 31, 2017
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired/Cancelled
Balance at September 30, 2018

1,517,771 $
802,500
(96,164)
(35,679)
(40,105)
2,148,323 $

2.97
3.39
2.12
3.42
6.81
3.08

7.5

7.8

$ 4,624,110

Exercisable at September 30, 2018

1,258,202

2.93

6.5

$ 3,065,442

$

$

67,242

$

182,678

As of September 30, 2018, there was total unrecognized compensation expense of $1,915,080 related to unvested stock options, which the Company expects to recognize
over a weighted-average period of approximately 3.22 years.
In June 2018, in connection with the retirement of two employees, the vesting of stock options covering 46,613 shares of common stock was accelerated, and the posttermination exercise period for the employees’ options was extended to a one year period from the termination date. As a result of this modification, the Company
recorded incremental stock-based compensation expense of approximately $0 and $79,400 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively.
A summary of restricted stock unit (“RSU”) activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 is as follows:

Number of
Shares

Balance at December 31, 2017
Granted
Released
Balance at September 30, 2018
Vested and unissued at September 30, 2018

WeightedAverage
Grant Date
Fair Value
Per Share

26,666 $
492,051
(269,551)
249,166 $

2.78
3.63
3.76
3.39

13,126 $

3.40

Vested and unissued awards at September 30, 2018 represents RSU awards granted on August 16, 2018 for which the first vesting date was September 30, 2018, but for
which issuance of the awards occurred on the next business day, October 1, 2018. Unrecognized compensation expense related to the remaining unvested RSUs was
$766,054 at September 30, 2018, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted-average remaining service period of 3.50 years.
Stock-based compensation expense recorded in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2018 and 2017 was as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Cost of revenue

$

$

200,317
41,553
16,105
257,975

$

$

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

251,924
79,619
25,862
357,405

$

$

1,475,975
121,651
45,727
1,643,353

$

$

826,098
261,083
84,807
1,171,988

Stock-based compensation expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 included $1.0 million of selling, general and administrative compensation expense
relating to the issuance of 259,551 shares under RSUs granted to the Company’s executive officers in January 2018 at a grant date fair value of $3.84 per share. The RSUs
vested in full on January 29, 2018.
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Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies
Compensation Agreements
In September 2017, the Company entered into an arrangement with certain of its non-executive officer employees to provide for retention bonus payments to those eligible
employees providing continuing service to the Company through July 31, 2018 and December 31, 2018, with one half of the retention bonus commitment payable at each
of these dates. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 compensation expense of $249,467 and $722,280, respectively, has been included in the
accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations, compared to $87,965 for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017. The remaining
retention bonuses will be accrued on a straight-line basis through December 31, 2018. No forfeiture rate has been estimated. Forfeitures will be recognized as they occur.
Legal Matters
The Company’s industry is characterized by frequent claims and litigation, including claims regarding intellectual property and product liability. As a result, the Company
may be subject to various legal proceedings from time to time. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the
outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors. Any current litigation
is considered immaterial and counter claims have been assessed as remote.
Leases
The Company leases office and laboratory space in Tucson, Arizona under two non-cancelable operating leases. There have been no changes to the Company’s office and
laboratory space leases since the disclosures made by the Company in its Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2018.
The Company’s remaining minimum real estate lease payments before common area maintenance charges for each fiscal year as of September 30, 2018 are as follows:
2018
2019
2020
2021

$

$

127,983
514,977
517,457
43,139
1,203,556

As of September 30, 2018, the Company also has remaining capital lease commitments consisting of approximately $87,444 for computer equipment varying in length
from 36 to 48 months that has not been included in the minimum lease payments schedule above.
Product Warranty
The following is a summary of the Company’s general product warranty reserve for the periods indicated:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Beginning balance
Cost of warranty claims
Increase in warranty reserve
Ending balance

$

$

37,156
(2,484)
20,496
55,168

$

$

50,426
(6,278)
3,275
47,423

Warranty reserve is included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
Expense relating to the recording of this reserve is recorded in cost of revenue within the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations.
Note 15. Income Taxes
The Company provides for income taxes based upon management’s estimate of taxable income or loss for each respective period. The Company recognizes an asset or
liability for the deferred tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements.
These temporary differences would result in deductible or taxable amounts in future years, when the reported amounts of the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled,
respectively.
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In each period since inception, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount of its net deferred tax assets, as it is not more likely than not that these
will be realized. As a result, the Company has not recorded any federal or state income tax benefit in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of
operations; however, state income tax expense has been recorded for state minimum taxes.
The Company periodically reviews its filing positions for all open tax years in all U.S. federal, state and international jurisdictions where the Company is or might be
required to file tax returns or other required reports.
The Company applies a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The Company evaluates the tax position for recognition by determining if
the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained in a court of last resort. The term “more likely than not” means a
likelihood of more than 50 percent. Otherwise, the Company may not recognize any of the potential tax benefit associated with the position. The Company recognizes a
benefit for a tax position that meets the more likely than not criterion at the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon its
effective resolution. Unrecognized tax benefits involve management’s judgment regarding the likelihood of the benefit being sustained. The final resolution of uncertain
tax positions could result in adjustments to recorded amounts and may affect the Company’s results of operations, financial position and cash flows. The Company has not
identified any uncertain tax positions at September 30, 2018 or December 31, 2017.
The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. The Company had no accrual for interest or penalties
at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, and has not recognized interest or penalties of significance during the three months ended September 30,
2018 and 2017, respectively, since there are no material unrecognized tax benefits. The Company has not made or had payments due for income taxes for the periods
ended September 30, 2018 or December 31, 2017, other than state minimum taxes. Management believes no material change to the amount of unrecognized tax benefits
will occur within the next 12 months.
The Company has established a valuation allowance against the entire net deferred tax asset. A preliminary analysis of past and subsequent equity offerings by the
Company, and other transactions that have an impact on the Company’s ownership structure, concluded that the Company may have experienced one or more ownership
changes under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code or IRC. Provisions of the IRC place special limitations on the usage of net operating losses and credits
following an ownership change. Such limitations may limit or eliminate the potential future tax benefit to be realized by the Company from its accumulated net operating
losses and research and development credits.
On December 22, 2017, federal tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Act”) was signed into law. The Tax Act, among other changes,
reduced the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%, effective January 1, 2018. Consequently, for the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded a
decrease related to deferred tax assets of $16,232,211, exclusive of the corresponding change in the valuation allowance. Due to the full valuation allowance on the
deferred tax assets, there was no net adjustment to the deferred tax expense or benefit due to the reduction of the corporate tax rate. Other changes effective January 1,
2018 include, but are not limited to, creating a new limitation on deductible interest expense, eliminating the corporate alternative minimum tax, modifying the rules
related to uses and limitations of net operating loss carryforwards generated in tax years ending after December 31, 2017, limiting the deductibility of certain executive
compensation, enhancing and liberalizing bonus depreciation, and changing the rules pertaining to the taxation of profits earned abroad. The Company expects to be
subject to the new limitation on deductible interest expense in 2018; however, the disallowed interest may be carried forward indefinitely. The Company’s net operating
losses generated in 2018 and thereafter, if any, will be subject to a new indefinite carryforward period; however, utilization of these net operating losses will be limited to
80% of taxable income in the year utilized. Net operating loss carryforwards existing as of December 31, 2017 will not be subject to this new limitation; however, those
carryforwards will remain subject to the 20-year expiration period.
Note 16. Related Party Transactions
Master Assay Development, Commercialization and Manufacturing Agreement
In November 2016, the Company entered into the Governing Agreement, which creates the framework for QML and the Company to combine their technological and
commercial strengths to offer biopharmaceutical companies a complete NGS-based solution for the development, manufacture and commercialization of companion
diagnostic assays. Under the Governing Agreement, the parties jointly seek companion diagnostic programs with biopharmaceutical companies, QML enters into sponsor
project agreements with interested biopharmaceutical companies for specified projects, and QML and the Company enter into statements of work (each, an “SOW”),
which set forth the rights and obligations of QML and the Company with respect to each project. There have been no significant modifications or financial events relating
to the Governing Agreement since the disclosures made by the Company in its
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Annual Report on Form 10‑K, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2018, other than with regard to the initiation of new SOWs under the Governing Agreement as discussed
below.
The Company has determined that SOW One, SOW Two and SOW Three (each defined below) are collaborative arrangements and that QML meets the definition of a
customer under ASC 606. Additionally, each SOW is a separate contract with a single performance obligation to provide development services. Under each SOW, QML
pays the Company a monthly fee for development work performed by the Company and its subcontractors (collectively, the “Monthly Fee”). The Monthly Fee is based on
the employee and materials costs incurred during the month, which is subject to significant variability from period to period and unknown until the costs are incurred.
Therefore, the Monthly Fee, which is based on use of hours and costs as a measure of progress, is included in the transaction price and recognized as revenue over time
when the costs are incurred and the Monthly Fee is billed to QML. It is at this time that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur. The Company and QML also will share any net profits resulting from performance of the development work as determined pursuant to the
Governing Agreement. Such profit sharing payment(s) is deemed to be variable consideration using the expected value method and is included in the transaction price
upon completion of the respective SOW deliverables, acceptance of corresponding deliverables, and the mutual agreement by QML and the Company on the calculation
of net profit, which is when it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur.
Because each SOW has an expected duration of one year or less, the Company has elected the practical expedient in ASC 606-10-50-14(a) to not disclose information
about its remaining performance obligations for each SOW.
Statement of Work No. One
In June 2017, the Company and QML entered into the first statement of work under the Governing Agreement, which has been twice amended in December 2017 and
March 2018 (collectively, “SOW One”). SOW One addressed the activities of the Company and QML in support of the development and potential commercialization of a
next generation sequencing-based companion diagnostic assay that was the subject of a sponsor project agreement between QML and a biopharmaceutical company
(“Pharma One”). In May 2018, SOW One was terminated by QML as a result of Pharma One’s termination of the development project. The Company discontinued
development activities related to the project following wind down activities completed in the second quarter of 2018.
Revenue of $0 and $2,397,136, including SOW One Monthly Fees and $0 and $99,394 of SOW One profit sharing payments has been included in collaborative
development services revenue in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018,
respectively, compared to $846,368 and $1,123,779 including only SOW One Monthly Fees, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.
Accounts receivable relating to SOW One of $0 and $2,429,152 remained in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively. Costs relating to development activities conducted by the Company pursuant to SOW One of $0 and $1,716,115 have been included in
research and development expense in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018,
respectively, compared to $653,938 and $876,186 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.
Statement of Work No. Two
In October 2017, the Company and QML entered into the second statement of work under the Governing Agreement (“SOW Two”), which was made effective as of June
2, 2017 (“Onset Date”). The Company and QML amended SOW Two twice in August 2018 and an additional time in September 2018.
SOW Two addresses development activities conducted by the Company and QML since the Onset Date and those expected to be further conducted by parties in
connection with what is expected to be a multi-stage project leading to the potential development and commercialization of an NGS-based companion diagnostic assay in
support of one or more therapeutic development and commercialization programs for a third-party pharmaceutical company. The initial-phase investigational use only
(“IUO”) development activities under SOW Two have been completed and the first two amendments of SOW Two relate to the next phases, which include the use of the
IUO assay developed in the initial-phase in a retrospective clinical trial and in additional disease indications. The third amendment to SOW Two provides that profit
sharing relating to the original development activities and the development activities contemplated by the first SOW Two amendment will, in each case, commence upon
the later of (i) the third amendment effective date, which is September 27, 2018, and (ii) the completion of the respective development activities, rather than at the end of
each calendar quarter, provided that such modification to the profit-sharing commencement date only applies to development activities that had not yet been subject to
profit-sharing as of the third amendment effective date. QML will continue to pay the Company for the development services to be performed under SOW Two. The
Company and QML will share in any net profits (as determined under the Governing Agreement) generated during the work on an approximately quarterly basis
throughout the term of SOW Two, except as otherwise specified in the third amendment to SOW Two.
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The Supplement Agreement initially entered into concurrent with SOW Two was also amended in August 2018 and made effective as of July 2018. This amendment
establishes certain rights and obligations of the parties with regard to confidential information and other intellectual property needed to perform, and/or produced as a
result of the next phase project activities contemplated by the SOW Two amendments and does not materially change the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties
in the original Supplement Agreement.
Revenue of $2,184,493 and $3,665,311, including SOW Two Monthly Fees and $439,910 and $826,279 of SOW Two profit sharing payments, has been included in
collaborative development services revenue in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2018, respectively. Accounts receivable relating to SOW Two of $1,537,518 and $1,796,157 remained in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance
sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Costs relating to development activities conducted by the Company pursuant to SOW Two of
$1,667,303 and $2,431,445 have been included in research and development expense in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively. No costs or revenue relating to SOW Two were included in the accompanying interim unaudited
condensed statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 as SOW Two was not established until October 2017.
Statement of Work No. Three
In January 2018, the Company and QML entered into a third statement of work under the Governing Agreement (“SOW Three”) and amended SOW Three in September
2018. SOW Three relates to development activities for a next generation sequencing-based clinical-trial assay (“SOW Three Project”) in connection with a sponsor project
agreement between QML and a pharmaceutical company (“Pharma Three”). Initial assay development activities under SOW Three have been completed, and the first
amendment to SOW Three provides for the development of an IUO assay, subsequent retrospective testing of clinical trial samples, design verification and, subject to
satisfactory achievement of relevant performance and regulatory milestones, regulatory submissions in the United States and European Union necessary for the
commercialization of a companion diagnostic for a corresponding Pharma Three drug.
Under the terms of SOW Three, the Company has agreed to assign its rights in certain SOW Three Project-related intellectual property (“Project IP”) predominantly
related to Pharma Three’s drug candidate(s) to QML for ultimate assignment to Pharma Three in accordance with the sponsor project agreement between QML and
Pharma Three. Improvements to the background intellectual property of the Company, QML and Pharma Three generally will be owned solely by the respective party.
Otherwise, Project IP will be jointly owned among the Company, QML and Pharma Three.
The development activities to be performed under SOW Three are expected to extend through the first half of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, with key
development milestones, testing and regulatory filings occurring throughout the period. QML will pay the Company for the development services performed for SOW
Three. In addition, the Company and QML will share in any net profits (as determined under the Governing Agreement) generated during the work on an approximately
quarterly basis throughout the term of SOW Three.
Revenue of $1,207,041 and $2,641,647, including SOW Three Monthly Fees and $209,140 and $355,631, respectively, relating to SOW Three profit sharing payments,
have been included in collaborative development services revenue in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018, respectively. Accounts receivable relating to SOW Three of $994,157 and $0 remained in the accompanying interim unaudited
condensed balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Costs relating to development activities conducted by the Company pursuant to
SOW Three of $682,295 and $1,536,859 have been included in research and development expense in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of
operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively. No costs or revenue relating to SOW Three were included in the accompanying interim
unaudited condensed statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 as SOW Three was not established until January 2018.
QNAH Convertible Note Agreement
In October 2017, the Company issued a subordinated convertible promissory note to QNAH in the principal amount of $3.0 million against receipt of cash proceeds equal
to such principal amount. There have been no significant modifications or financial events relating to QNAH Convertible Note since disclosures made by the Company in
its Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2018 other than the initiation of an escrow account relating to this note in July 2018 (see Note 17).
The Company has recognized $29,150 and $39,240 of unamortized deferred financing costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the note under the QNAH
Convertible Note in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Amortization of the
QNAH Convertible Note deferred financing costs was $3,363 and $10,090 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively. Interest accrued on the
QNAH Convertible Note
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during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $22,685 and $67,315, respectively. Both amounts are included in interest expense in the accompanying
interim unaudited statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018. There was no interest accrual or deferred financing cost amortization
relating to the QNAH Convertible Note for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2017, and the
related Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, both of which are contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, on March 23, 2018. This discussion and analysis contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These statements
relate to future events or to our future financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.
Forward looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our ability to successfully commercialize our products and services, including our HTG EdgeSeq assays and corresponding automation system;
our ability to secure regulatory clearance or approval, domestically and internationally, for the clinical use of our products;
our ability to develop new technologies to expand our product offerings, including direct-target sequencing for detection of mutations in genomic DNA
and/or expressed RNA (such as single-point mutations and gene rearrangements, including gene fusions and insertions), and methods to detect mutation
load and microsatellite instability;
the activities anticipated to be performed by us and third parties under design and development projects and programs, and the expected benefits and
outcomes of such projects and programs;
the implementation of our business model and strategic plans for our business;
the regulatory landscape for our products, domestically and internationally;
our strategic relationships, including with holders of intellectual property relevant to our technologies, manufacturers of next-generation sequencing
(“NGS”) instruments and consumables, critical component suppliers, distributors of our products, and third parties who conduct our clinical studies;
our intellectual property position;
our ability to comply with the restrictions of our debt facility and meet our debt obligations;
our expectations regarding the market size and growth potential for our life sciences and diagnostic businesses;
our expectations regarding trends in the demand for sample processing by our biopharmaceutical company customers;
any estimates regarding future expenses, revenues, capital requirements, and stock performance; and
our ability to sustain and manage growth, including our ability to develop new products and enter new markets.

In some cases, you can identify these statements by terms such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,”
“predict,” “continue,” “seek,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would” or the negative of those terms, and similar expressions. These forward-looking statements reflect our
management’s beliefs and views with respect to future events and are based on estimates and assumptions as of the date of this filing and are subject to risks and
uncertainties. We discuss many of these risks in greater detail in Part II, Item 1A - “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this filing. You should carefully read the “Risk Factors”
section of this filing to gain an understanding of the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements. These
statements, like all statements in this report, speak only as of their date, and except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking
statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information
becomes available in the future. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for
our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause
actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we make. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements.
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Overview
We are a commercial stage company that develops and markets products and services based on a proprietary technology that facilitates the routine use of targeted
molecular profiling using a small amount of biological sample. Molecular profiling is the collection of information about multiple molecular targets, such as DNA and
RNA, also called biomarkers, in a biological sample. Molecular profiling information has many important applications, from basic research to molecular diagnostics in
personalized medicine. Our technology can be used throughout that range of applications, which is just one of its many benefits. Our focus is on clinical applications. Our
primary customers include biopharmaceutical companies, academic research centers and molecular testing
laboratories.
As part of our business model, we seek to leverage key business drivers in molecular profiling, including the acceleration of precision medicine, the migration of
molecular testing to NGS-based applications, the movement to smaller and less invasive biopsies, the need for greater diagnostic sensitivity, the need to conform to
challenging healthcare economics and the need for automation and an easily deployable workflow. Our products include instrumentation (or platforms), consumables,
including assay kits, and software analytics that, as an integrated system, automate sample processing and can quickly, robustly and simultaneously profile tens, hundreds
or thousands of molecular targets from samples a fraction of the size required by many prevailing technologies. Our objective is to establish our solutions as the standard
in molecular profiling, and to make their benefits accessible to all molecular labs from research to the clinic. We believe that our target customers desire high quality
molecular profiling information in a multiplexed panel format from increasingly smaller and less invasive samples, with the ability to test and analyze such information
locally to minimize turnaround time and cost.
In 2014, we launched our HTG EdgeSeq technology, which generates a molecular profiling library for detection of RNA using NGS. Our HTG EdgeSeq assays are
automated on our HTG EdgeSeq platform. Our innovative platform and menu of molecular profiling panels is being utilized by a wide range of customers including
biopharmaceutical companies, academic institutions and molecular labs to simultaneously analyze a comprehensive set of molecular information from valuable clinical
samples and improve the lab’s workflow efficiency. Customers can also obtain the advantages of our proprietary technologies by engaging our VERI/O laboratory for
sample processing, custom assay development and other pre-clinical activity in support of companion diagnostic programs. We currently market several proprietary
molecular profiling panels that address the needs of customers in translational research, biomarker development and potentially companion diagnostics. In addition, we
have a focused development pipeline that includes planned panels for translational research, drug development and molecular diagnostics. Our product strategy is to
develop a suite of profiling panels with initial focus in immuno-oncology and next generation pathology.
We have two primary sources of revenue: revenue from research use only (“RUO”) profiling for biopharmaceutical companies, academic research centers and
molecular testing laboratories; and revenue from collaborative development services for companion diagnostic development programs for biopharmaceutical companies.
RUO profiling revenue includes customer purchases of our HTG EdgeSeq instrument and related RUO assay kits, and the use of our HTG EdgeSeq instrument and RUO
assay kits to process samples on the customer’s behalf in our VERI/O laboratory. Collaborative development revenue relates to services performed primarily for
biopharmaceutical companies pursuant to our Master Assay Development, Commercialization and
Manufacturing Agreement (“Governing Agreement”) with QIAGEN Manchester Limited (“QML”), a wholly owned subsidiary of QIAGEN N.V. Under the Governing
Agreement, our HTG EdgeSeq proprietary technology is utilized to develop, seek regulatory approval for and commercialize companion diagnostic assays for
biopharmaceutical drug candidates and corresponding therapeutics. A developing third category of revenue is the sale of our regulated diagnostic products into clinical
molecular labs. Our first products are in early stage commercialization in Europe but not yet providing meaningful revenue.
To facilitate further our ability to generate European diagnostic product revenue and improve our responsiveness to customer needs on a local level, we began the
formation of a French subsidiary, HTG Molecular Diagnostics France SARL (“HTG France”), in November 2018. We plan to have HTG France operate an applications
laboratory in Sausheim, France, providing application support and customer service for our European accounts. HTG France is expected to provide similar sample
processing services to those provided by our VERI/O laboratory in the United States, on a much smaller scale, by the second half of the year ending December 31, 2019.
We have incurred significant losses since our inception, and we have never been profitable. We incurred net losses of $4.8 million and $14.3 million for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, and $5.4 million and $17.0 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively. As of
September 30, 2018, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $148.9 million. As of September 30, 2018, we had available cash and cash equivalents totaling
approximately $6.2 million, investments in short-term corporate and government debt securities totaling $27.6 million and had current liabilities of approximately $5.5
million, plus an additional $16.7 million in long-term liabilities primarily attributable to our MidCap Term Loan, QNAH Convertible Note and NuvoGen obligations. We
believe that our existing resources will be sufficient to fund our planned operations for at least the next 12 months from the issuance of these interim unaudited condensed
financial statements. However, we
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cannot provide assurances that our plans will not change or that changed circumstances will not result in the depletion of our capital resources more rapidly than we
currently anticipate.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
Three Months Ended September
30,
2018
2017

Revenue:
Product and product-related services
Collaborative development services
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross margin
Gross margin percentage
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Loss on settlement of Growth Term Loan
Other expense, net
Net loss before income taxes

Change
$

%

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

$ 1,314,844
$ 1,592,790
$ (277,946)
3,391,534
2,130,694
1,260,840
4,706,378
3,723,484
982,894
1,239,702
1,088,987
150,715
3,466,676
2,634,497
832,179
74%
71%

(17%) $ 5,071,702
$
59%
8,704,094
26%
13,775,796
14%
3,827,447
32%
9,948,349
72%

4,709,885
3,561,459
8,271,344
(4,804,668)
—
(38,740)
$ (4,843,408)

11%
15,132,468
2%
8,909,729
7%
24,042,197
(6%) (14,093,848)
0%
(105,064)
(86%)
(123,627)
(10%) $ (14,322,539)

4,258,347
3,478,419
7,736,766
(5,102,269)
—
(277,834)
$ (5,380,103)

451,538
83,040
534,578
297,601
—
239,094
$ 536,695

Chang
$

4,422,304
$ 649,398
2,433,105
6,270,989
6,855,409
6,920,387
3,621,193
206,254
3,234,216
6,714,133
47%

12,910,251
6,364,371
19,274,622
(16,040,406)
—
(996,593)
$ (17,036,999)

2,222,217
2,545,358
4,767,575
1,946,558
(105,064)
872,966
$ 2,714,460

Revenue
We generate revenue from two primary sources: revenue from RUO profiling for biopharmaceutical companies, academic research centers and molecular testing
laboratories; and revenue from collaborative development services for biopharmaceutical companies under our clinical trial and companion diagnostic development
programs.
RUO profiling is currently made available to our customers through product sales and service offerings. Customers can purchase our HTG EdgeSeq instrument and
related consumables, which consist primarily of our proprietary molecular profiling panels and other assay components. Customers can also access our technology through
contracted services. We perform these services using our HTG EdgeSeq instrument and RUO assay kits to process samples in our VERI/O laboratory. Our proprietary
technology is also used to design custom RUO assay kits for customers who may engage us to process samples using such custom kits or to supply such custom kits for
the customers’ research needs and, thereby, generate future sample processing or RUO assay kit revenue.
In June 2017, we began generating revenue from collaborative development services relating to our Governing Agreement with QML with the initiation of SOW
One. SOW Two was subsequently entered into in October 2017 and SOW Three was entered into in January 2018. Under these agreements, we and QML have combined
our technological and commercial strengths to offer biopharmaceutical companies a complete NGS-based solution for the development, manufacture and
commercialization of companion diagnostic assays in support of and in conjunction with, biopharmaceutical companies’ drug development programs.
Total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2018 increased by 26% to $4.7 million compared with $3.7 million for the three months ended September
30, 2017. Total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, increased by 101% to $13.8 million compared with $6.9 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2017. The increases in total revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared with the same periods in the prior year were
primarily the result of revenue generated from collaborative development services relating to our Governing Agreement with QML.
Product and product-related services revenue
Product and product-related services revenue from the sale of our HTG EdgeSeq instrument and RUO consumables and from custom RUO assay design and sample
processing services performed for customers in our VERI/O laboratory using our proprietary RUO technology was $1.3 million and $5.1 million for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, compared with $1.6 million and $4.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively, and
comprised the following:
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Three Months Ended September
30,
2018
2017

Product revenue:
Instruments
Consumables
Total product revenue
Product-related services revenue:
Custom RUO assay development
Sample processing
Total product-related services revenue
Total product and product-related services revenue

$

24,844
427,899
452,743

262,044
600,057
862,101
$ 1,314,844

$

199,205
426,400
625,605

73,567
893,618
967,185
$ 1,592,790

Nine Months Ended September
30,
2018
2017

$

309,711 $
1,273,011
1,582,722

370,263
1,203,663
1,573,926

565,768
2,923,212
3,488,980
$ 5,071,702 $

419,515
2,428,863
2,848,378
4,422,304

Product revenue was $0.5 million and $1.6 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, compared with $0.6 million and $1.6
million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively, and was driven primarily from the sale of RUO assay kits in both periods.
Service revenue, consisting of custom RUO assay development and sample processing using our HTG EdgeSeq instrument and consumables, was $0.9 million and
$3.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, compared with $1.0 million and $2.8 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2017, respectively. Service revenue reflects biopharmaceutical company customers who have chosen our proprietary technologies for use in their
translational research and drug development programs and who prefer to gain access to our technology through purchase of our services. This category of revenue also
reflects internal consumption of our RUO assay kits used in the processing of samples in our VERI/O laboratory. We expect our revenue mix to continue to contain a
higher portion of biopharmaceutical service revenue in the near term until we expand our HTG EdgeSeq test kit menu and enter the commercial clinical diagnostic market.
Collaborative development services revenue
Collaborative development services revenue includes services performed on biopharmaceutical company clinical trial and companion diagnostic development
programs using our HTG EdgeSeq proprietary technology to develop, seek regulatory approval for and potentially commercialize clinical diagnostic assays for
biopharmaceutical company drug candidates and corresponding therapeutics. Collaborative development services revenue, consisting of services performed for
biopharmaceutical companies pursuant to statements of work entered into under our Governing Agreement with QML, was approximately $3.4 million and $8.7 million or
72% and 63% of our revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, including approximately $1.3 million in profit-sharing payments
received from these programs. Collaborative development services revenue was approximately $2.1 million and $2.4 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2017, respectively, as SOW One was not initiated until June 2017. The amount and timing of work that we perform, the timing and number of development
deliverables and the timing and amount of any profit-sharing payment received under these agreements is expected to continue to result in significant variability in the
timing and amount of revenue recognized from one fiscal period or quarter to the next.
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue includes the aggregate costs incurred in manufacturing, delivering, installing and servicing instruments and consumables, as well as costs incurred
for services performed for customers in our VERI/O laboratory. Cost of revenue increased by $151,000, or 14%, and $206,000 or 6% for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2018 compared with the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively, resulting in the improvement of gross margin to 74% and 72% for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, compared with 71% and 47% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.
This gross margin improvement is primarily attributable to the collaborative development services performed under our Governing Agreement with QML, the revenue
from which is reflected in collaborative development services revenue, and development costs from which are included in research and development expense in the
accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations.
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses were $4.7 million and $15.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, compared
with $4.3 million and $12.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively. The increases in our selling, general and administrative
expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared with the same periods in 2017 are primarily due to compensation expenses including issuance
of 259,551 shares of executive officer RSUs at a grant date fair value of $3.84 per share, resulting in approximately $1.0 million of additional non-cash, stock-based
compensation expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018.
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Research and development expenses
Research and development expense was $3.6 million and $8.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, compared with $3.5
million and $6.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively. The increases in research and development expenses for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018 compared with the same periods in 2017 are primarily due to collaborative development services provided under our Governing
Agreement with QML, for which costs incurred are included in research and development expense in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of
operations as our collaborative development services projects are accounted for under the FASB’s guidance for collaborative arrangements.
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Cash Flows for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
The following table summarizes the primary sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
(Decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

$

(10,598,459) $
(28,187,504)
38,251,615
(534,348) $

(13,746,929)
3,774,563
11,512,108
1,539,742

Operating Activities
Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 totaled $10.6 million and reflected (i) a net loss of $14.3 million; (ii) net noncash items of $2.7 million, consisting primarily of stock-based compensation of $1.6 million, and depreciation and amortization of $1.1 million; and (iii) a net cash inflow
from changes in balances of operating assets and liabilities of $1.0 million. A decrease in accounts receivable primarily relating to the collection of profit-sharing amounts
receivable at year end relating to our collaborative development services programs, partially offset by a decrease in accrued liabilities and the payment of annual
performance-based bonuses in the first quarter of 2018, reflect the primary items comprising the changes in balances of operating assets and liabilities.
Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 totaled $13.7 million and reflected (i) a net loss of $17.0 million; (ii) net noncash items of $2.8 million, consisting primarily of stock-based compensation of $1.2 million, depreciation and amortization of $0.9 million, amortization of the discount,
final payment premium and deferred financing costs on our asset-secured Growth Term Loan with Oxford Finance, LLC and Silicon Valley Bank, or Growth Term Loan,
of $0.3 million, and a provision for excess inventory of $0.3 million; and (iii) a net cash inflow from changes in balances of operating assets and liabilities of $0.5 million.
The significant items comprising the changes in balances of operating assets and liabilities were increase in accounts receivable, partly offset by an increase in accounts
payable during the period, both primarily driven by collaborative development work performed under the Governing Agreement with QML during the period.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 totaled $28.2 million and was comprised primarily of purchases of availablefor-sale securities of $43.1 million with proceeds received from our underwritten public offering in January 2018, partially offset by the maturity of $15.8 million in
available-for-sale securities and the purchase of tooling used in manufacturing and other fixed assets during the period.
Net cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 totaled $3.8 million and was comprised primarily of proceeds from
maturities of available-for-sale securities of $4.3 million during the period, partially offset by the purchase of laboratory automation and other fixed assets during the
period.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 totaled $38.3 million and consisted primarily of $37.7 million in net
proceeds from our underwritten public offering in January 2018, $6.6 million in net proceeds from our MidCap Term Loan in March 2018, and $0.6 million in net
proceeds from ATM Offering, partially offset by $6.0 million and $0.7 million in payments on our Growth Term Loan and outstanding NuvoGen obligation, respectively.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 totaled $11.5 million and consisted primarily of $16.7 million in net
proceeds from the sale of our common stock in our ATM Offering in January 2018, partially offset by $4.7 million and $0.6 million in payments on our outstanding
Growth Term Loan and NuvoGen obligations, respectively.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since our inception, our operations have primarily been financed through the issuance of our common stock, redeemable convertible preferred stock, the
incurrence of debt and cash received from product sales, services revenue and other income. As of September 30, 2018, we had $33.8 million in cash, cash equivalents and
investments in short-term available-for-sale securities, and $17.0 million of debt outstanding on our MidCap Term Loan, NuvoGen, capital lease and QNAH Convertible
Note obligations.
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Pursuant to an underwriting agreement with Leerink Partners LLC and Cantor, as representatives of the other underwriters of the agreement, we offered and sold
13,915,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $2.90 per share, including 1,815,000 shares sold pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to
purchase additional shares in January 2018. The aggregate net proceeds from the offering were approximately $37.7 million, after deducting the underwriting discounts
and commissions and offering expenses. The shares of common stock described above were offered pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No.
333‑216977) previously filed with the SEC and declared effective by the SEC on April 6, 2017, and a prospectus supplement thereunder.
In March 2018, we entered into the MidCap Term Loan and the Midcap Revolving Loan with MidCap Financial Trust, as agent. The MidCap Term Loan provides
a secured term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $20.0 million. We borrowed the first advance of $7.0 million in March 2018. Under the terms of the
MidCap Term Loan, the second advance of $13.0 million will be available to us on or before September 30, 2019, subject to our satisfaction of certain conditions
described in the MidCap Term Loan. All obligations under the Growth Term Loan were terminated and all outstanding amounts and fees due under the Growth Term Loan
were repaid with proceeds from the MidCap Term Loan in March 2018. Amounts outstanding under the MidCap Term Loan bear interest at a floating rate equal to 7.25%
per annum, plus the greater of (i) 1.25% or (ii) one-month LIBOR. Principal on each MidCap Term Loan advance is payable in 36 equal installments beginning April 1,
2020 until paid in full on March 1, 2023. The proceeds remaining from the March 2018 MidCap Term Loan funding and, if borrowed, the proceeds from MidCap Tranche
2, are expected to be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
The MidCap Revolving Loan provides a secured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $2.0 million. We may request an increase in the
total commitments under the MidCap Revolving Loan by up to an additional $8.0 million, subject to agent and lender approval and the satisfaction of certain conditions.
Availability of the revolving credit facility under the MidCap Revolving Loan will be based upon a borrowing base formula and periodic borrowing base certifications
valuing certain of our accounts receivable and inventory, as reduced by certain reserves, if any. Though the MidCap Revolving Loan was made available upon the
Company’s establishment of certain lockbox arrangements in June 2018, there were no amounts outstanding under the Midcap Revolving Loan as of September 30, 2018.
The proceeds of any loans under the MidCap Revolving Loan may be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
Funding Requirements
We have had recurring operating losses and negative cash flows from operations since our inception and have an accumulated deficit of approximately $148.9
million as of September 30, 2018. As of September 30, 2018, we had cash, cash equivalents and investments in short-term available-for-sale securities of approximately
$33.8 million and had current liabilities of approximately $5.5 million, plus an additional $16.7 million in long-term liabilities primarily attributable to our MidCap Term
Loan, NuvoGen, and QNAH Convertible Note obligations. We believe that our existing resources will be sufficient to fund our planned operations for at least the next 12
months from the issuance of these interim unaudited condensed financial statements. However, we cannot provide assurances that our plans will not change or that
changed circumstances will not result in the depletion of our capital resources more rapidly than we currently anticipate.
Until our revenue reaches a level sufficient to support self-sustaining cash flows, if ever, we may need to raise additional capital to fund our continued operations,
including our product development and commercialization activities related to our current and future products. Future funding requirements will depend on a number of
factors, including our ability to generate significant revenue, our ability to repay our debt obligations as they become due, the cost and timing of establishing additional
sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, the ongoing cost of research and development activities, the cost and timing of regulatory clearances and approvals, the
effect of competing technology and market developments, the nature and timing of companion diagnostic development collaborations we may establish and the successful
commercialization of clinical diagnostic products developed and approved as a result of such collaborations and the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses,
products and technologies.
Additional capital may not be available at such times or in amounts needed by us. Even if sufficient capital is available to us, it might be available only on
unfavorable terms. If we are unable to raise additional capital in the future when required and in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may have to delay,
scale back or discontinue one or more product development programs, curtail our commercialization activities, significantly reduce expenses, sell assets (potentially at a
discount to their fair value or carrying value), enter into relationships with third parties to develop or commercialize products or technologies that we otherwise would
have sought to develop or commercialize independently, cease operations altogether, pursue an acquisition of our company at a price that may result in up to a total loss on
investment to our stockholders, file for bankruptcy, seek other protection from creditors, or liquidate all of our assets.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2018:

Less Than
1 Year

Total

Debt obligations (1)
Operating lease obligations (2)
Capital lease obligations (3)
Total contractual obligations

$ 17,754,251
1,232,975
87,444
$ 19,074,670

$

Payments due by Period
1-3
Years

582,383
529,104
57,621
$ 1,169,108

$ 10,303,580
703,871
29,823
$ 11,037,274

3-5
Years

More Than
5 Years

$ 2,681,667
—
—
$ 2,681,667

$ 4,186,621
—
—
$ 4,186,621

(1)

Our debt obligations include amounts due to NuvoGen under an asset purchase agreement including 2.5% interest on the remaining obligation. We have an annual
obligation to pay the greater of $400,000 or 6% of sales toward the NuvoGen obligation balance until the obligation is paid in full. The table reflects remaining
minimum principal payments due to NuvoGen on the remaining obligation at September 30, 2018, although actual payments could be significantly more than
provided in the table to the extent that 6% of revenue exceeds $400,000. Our debt obligations further include our contractual obligations pursuant to the $7.0
million MidCap Term Loan borrowed in 2018, including contractual interest payments and a final premium fee relating to this loan. Additional amounts may be
due and payable in future periods as the MidCap Revolving Loan is activated and if we meet the requirements for the second tranche of the MidCap Term Loan
funding and determine that it is in our best interest to draw on those funds prior to September 30, 2019. Refer to Note 8 of our interim unaudited condensed
financial statements for payments due under the MidCap Term Loan. The QNAH Convertible Note is also included in our debt obligations as of September 30,
2018. The table reflects the principal balance on the QNAH Convertible Note of $3,000,000 and interest at 3.0% per annum assuming that the balance will be paid
upon maturity in October 2020 and not converted by QNAH into shares of our common stock prior to maturity.

(2)

Our operating lease obligations consist of the leases for our laboratory and office facilities in Tucson, AZ expiring in 2021, as well as office copier leases.

(3)

Our capital lease obligations consist of several computer equipment leases which were entered into on various dates between December 2012 and September 2018.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Through September 30, 2018, we have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by applicable SEC regulations.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2. Basis of Presentation – Recently Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements in the notes to the interim unaudited condensed financial
statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our interim unaudited condensed financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP. The preparation of financial statements
in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Items subject to estimates based
on judgments include, but are not limited to: revenue recognition, stock-based compensation expense, the value of the warrant liability, the resolution of uncertain tax
positions, income tax valuation allowances, recovery of long-lived assets and provisions for doubtful accounts, inventory obsolescence and inventory valuation. Actual
results could differ from these estimates and such differences could affect the results of operations in future periods.
Excluding the paragraphs below, there were no changes in our critical accounting policies and estimates during the three months ended September 30, 2018 from
those set forth in “Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates” in our December 31, 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
March 23, 2018.
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We adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) new revenue standard, Accounting Standards Codification 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“ASC 606”), on January 1, 2018 using the full retrospective approach. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on 2017 or 2016 revenue
recognition or on opening equity, as the timing and measurement of revenue recognition is materially the same under ASC 606 as it was under the prior relevant guidance.
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when, or as, we satisfy our performance obligations by delivering the promised goods or service deliverables
to our customers. A good or service deliverable is transferred to a customer when, or as, the customer obtains control of that good or service deliverable. A performance
obligation may be satisfied over time or at a point in time. Revenue from a performance obligation satisfied over time is recognized by measuring our progress in
satisfying the performance obligation in a manner that depicts the transfer of the goods or services to the customer. Revenue from a performance obligation satisfied at a
point in time is recognized at the point in time that we determine the customer obtains control over the promised good or service deliverable. The amount of revenue
recognized reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those promised goods or services (i.e., the “transaction price”). In determining the
transaction price, we consider multiple factors, including the effects of variable consideration. Variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent
it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainties with respect to the amount are resolved. In
determining when to include variable consideration in the transaction price, we consider the range of possible outcomes, the predictive value of its past experiences, the
time period of when uncertainties expect to be resolved and the amount of consideration that is susceptible to factors outside of our influence, such as the judgment and
actions of third parties.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily relate to interest rates. We had cash and cash equivalents of $6.2
million at September 30, 2018, which primarily consist of U.S. Government money market funds. These funds have lower risk than traditional money market funds and
are subject to fewer withdrawal penalties and limitations. Still, such interest-bearing instruments carry some degree of risk; however, we have not been exposed to, nor do
we anticipate being exposed to, material risks due to changes in interest rates relating to these investments. We had $27.6 million in short-term available-for-sale securities
at September 30, 2018. Our investments in short-term available-for-sale securities are at some risk for losses from possible volatility in the market. However, our
investments are in a low risk portfolio comprised of U.S. Treasuries and high credit quality corporate debt securities which have an average credit rating of AA. We do not
anticipate exposure to significant market risk relating to our available-for-sale securities based upon our conservative investment policy. A hypothetical 10% change in the
interest rates affecting our cash, cash equivalents and short-term available-for-sale securities at September 30, 2018 would not have had a material impact on the value of
our cash, cash equivalents and short-term available-for-sale securities at September 30, 2018.
Our MidCap Term Loan is variable interest rate debt for which $7.0 million was outstanding relating to the MidCap Term Loan at September 30, 2018. The
MidCap Term Loan bears interest at a floating rate equal to 7.25% per annum, plus the greater of (i) 1.25% or (ii) one-month LIBOR. A hypothetical 10% change in the
LIBOR rate at September 30, 2018 would not have had a material impact on our debt-related interest obligations.
As we continue to expand internationally our results of operations and cash flows will become increasingly subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. Historically, a majority of our revenue has been denominated in U.S. dollars, although we sell our products and services directly in certain
markets outside of the United States denominated in local currency, principally the Euro. Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in which our
operations are located, which is primarily in the United States. The effect of a 10% adverse change in exchange rates on foreign denominated receivables and payables
would not have had a material impact on our results of operations during the periods presented. As our operations in countries outside of the United States grow, our
results of operations and cash flows will be subject to potentially greater fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which could increasingly affect
our operating results. To date, we have not entered into any foreign currency hedging contracts, although we may do so in the future.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our periodic and current reports that we file
with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported with the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In reaching a reasonable level of assurance, management is
required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. In addition, the design of any system of controls also is based
in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions; over time, control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
As of September 30, 2018, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that,
as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial
Officer, of any change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. That evaluation did not identify any change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during our latest fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
The effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, is subject to inherent limitations, including the exercise of judgment in
designing, implementing, operating and evaluating the controls and procedures, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. Accordingly, any system of internal
control over financial reporting, including ours, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurances. In addition, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. We intend to continue to monitor and upgrade our internal controls as necessary or appropriate for our
business but cannot assure you that such improvements will be sufficient to provide us with effective internal control over financial reporting.

38

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
We are not engaged in any material legal proceedings. However, in the normal course of business, we may from time to time be named as a party to legal claims,
actions and complaints, including matters involving employment, intellectual property, vendors, customers or others.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
An investment in shares of our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risk factors, as well as the other
information in this report, and in our other public filings, before deciding to purchase, hold or sell shares of our common stock. The occurrence of any of the following
risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth prospects or cause our actual results to differ
materially from those contained in forward-looking statements we have made in this report and those we may make from time to time. In these circumstances, the market
price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. You should consider all of the risk factors described when evaluating our
business. We have marked with an asterisk (*) those risk factors that were not included as separate risk factors in or reflect changes to the similarly titled risk factors
included in, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2018.
Risks Related to our Business and Strategy
We have incurred losses since our inception and expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future. We cannot be certain that we will achieve or sustain profitability.*
We have incurred losses since our inception and expect to incur losses in the future. We incurred net losses of $4.8 million and $14.3 million for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, compared to net losses of $5.4 million and $17.0 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017,
respectively. As of September 30, 2018, we had an accumulated deficit of $148.9 million. We expect that our losses will continue for the foreseeable future as we will be
required to invest significant additional funds to support product development, including development of our next generation instrument platforms, development of our
new HTG EdgeSeq panels, including our initial U.S. IVD assay, development of assays pursuant to our Governing Agreement with QML, and the commercialization of
our HTG EdgeSeq system and proprietary consumables. We also expect that our selling, general and administrative expenses will continue to increase due to the
additional costs associated with market development activities and expanding our staff to sell and support our products and services. Our ability to achieve or, if achieved,
sustain profitability is based on numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including the market acceptance of our products and services, competitive
product development and our market penetration and margins. We may never be able to generate sufficient revenue to achieve or, if achieved, sustain profitability.
We have limited experience in marketing and selling our products, and if we are unable to successfully commercialize our products, our business may be adversely
affected.*
We have limited experience marketing and selling our products. Our HTG Edge system was introduced for sale in the life sciences research market in the third
quarter of 2013. Our HTG EdgeSeq chemistry was introduced for sale in the life sciences research market in the third quarter of 2014. Our dedicated HTG EdgeSeq
system was introduced for sale in the life sciences research market in the fourth quarter of 2015 and has been our primary product focus since 2016. Our VERI/O service
laboratory was announced in June 2016. Our first diagnostic assay, based on our HTG EdgeSeq chemistry and automated in our HTG EdgeSeq system, was introduced for
sale in Europe in July 2016. We currently market our products through our own sales force in the United States and Europe and have distributors in parts of Europe and the
Middle East. We intend to expand our sales and support teams in the United States and in Europe and to establish additional distributor and/or third-party contract sales
team relationships in other parts of the world. However, we may not be able to market and sell our products effectively. Our sales of life science research products,
diagnostic products and potential future products will depend in large part on our ability to successfully increase the scope of our marketing efforts and establish and
maintain a sales force commensurate with our then applicable markets. Because we have limited experience in marketing and selling our products in the life science
research market and in marketing and selling our products in the diagnostic market, our ability to forecast demand, the infrastructure required to support such demand and
the sales cycle to customers is unproven. If we do not build an efficient and effective sales force and distributor relationships targeting these markets, our business and
operating results will be adversely affected.
We are dependent on our Governing Agreement with QML with respect to certain oncology-based diagnostic assays, and poor performance under the agreement or
the termination of the agreement could negatively impact our business.*
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A key strategic focus of our business is to enter into collaborative development agreements with biopharmaceutical companies for the development, manufacture
and commercialization of companion diagnostic assays for use with their drug development programs. In particular, we are focused on oncology-based collaborations.
In November 2016, we entered into a Governing Agreement with QML. Under the Governing Agreement, we and QML jointly seek collaborative development
agreements with biopharmaceutical companies for the development, manufacture and potential commercialization of companion diagnostic assays. QML contracts with
interested biopharmaceutical companies for specified projects, and we and QML enter into statements of work for each project. Our relationship with QML under the
Governing Agreement is exclusive for NGS-based diagnostic assays (or certain related research assays) in the oncology field, subject to the achievement of certain
performance targets. We expect that revenues under the Governing Agreement will constitute a significant portion of our revenues over at least the next few years.
We have limited or no control over the amount and timing of resources that QML will dedicate to activities under the Governing Agreement, and we are
subject to a number of other risks associated with our dependence on the Governing Agreement, including:
•

There could be disagreements regarding the Governing Agreement, the initiation or conduct of activities under statements of work for specified projects, the
achievement of milestone or other payments, the ownership of intellectual property, or research and development, regulatory, commercialization or other
strategy. These disagreements might delay or terminate the development, manufacture or commercialization of companion diagnostic assays, delay or eliminate
potential payments under the Governing Agreement or increase our costs under or outside of the Governing Agreement;

•

QML may not allocate adequate resources or otherwise support the development of collaborations with biopharmaceutical companies, including if they no
longer view our Governing Agreement as in their best financial or other interests; and

•

QML may not perform as expected, including with regard to making any required payments, or performing its development or other obligations under a
statement of work or under the contract with the applicable biopharmaceutical company customer and the Governing Agreement or applicable statement of
work may not provide adequate protection for us or may not be effectively enforced.

In addition, we and QML have the right to terminate the Governing Agreement in certain circumstances. If the Governing Agreement is terminated early, we
may not be able to find another company to assist us with the development, manufacture and commercialization of companion diagnostic assays for biopharmaceutical
companies should we wish to do so. If we fail maintain a successful relationship with QML under the Governing Agreement, our development, manufacture and
commercialization of companion diagnostic assays may be delayed, scaled back, or otherwise may not occur, and our anticipated revenue from the Governing Agreement
could be severely limited or eliminated. In addition, we may be unable to enter into new collaborative arrangements with biopharmaceutical companies or, if necessary,
modify our existing arrangements on acceptable terms. Any of these could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our financial results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter or may fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, each of which may adversely
affect our stock price.*
Investors should consider our business and prospects considering the risks and difficulties we expect to encounter in the new, uncertain and rapidly evolving
markets in which we compete. Because these markets are new and evolving, predicting their future growth and size is difficult. We expect that our visibility into future
sales of our products, including volumes, prices and product mix between instruments, consumables and services, will continue to be limited and could result in
unexpected fluctuations in our quarterly and annual operating results.
Numerous other factors, many of which are outside our control, may cause or contribute to significant fluctuations in our quarterly and annual operating results.
For example, QML and another customer accounted for 72% and 10% of our revenue, respectively, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, and for 75%
and 8% of our accounts receivable balance, respectively, as of September 30, 2018. If orders from our top customers or the number of collaboration projects with QML are
reduced or discontinued, our revenue in future periods may materially decrease. Fluctuations in our operating results may make financial planning and forecasting
difficult. In addition, these fluctuations may result in unanticipated decreases in our available cash, which could negatively affect our business and prospects. Factors that
may contribute to fluctuations in our operating results include many of the risks described under the caption “Risk Factors – Risks Related to Our Business and Strategy”
of this report. In addition, one or more of such factors may cause our revenue or operating expenses in one period to be disproportionately higher or lower relative to the
others. Our products involve a significant capital commitment from our customers or may depend on customer studies that have variable or indefinite timelines and
accordingly, involve a lengthy sales cycle. We may expend significant effort in
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attempting to make a particular sale, which may be deferred by the customer or never occur. Also, activities performed under our Governing Agreement involve
significant resource commitments by us and depend on QML activities over which we have limited control and on biopharmaceutical customer activities and studies that
have variable or indefinite timelines and outcomes. We may expend significant effort in attempting to meet our development obligations under the Governing Agreement,
the respective payments for which may occur in a different period. Accordingly, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and
investors should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance. If such fluctuations occur or if our operating results deviate from our expectations
or the expectations of investors or securities analysts, our stock price may be adversely affected.
Our sales cycle is lengthy and variable, which makes it difficult for us to forecast revenue and other operating results.
Our sales process involves numerous interactions with multiple individuals within any given organization, and often includes in-depth analysis by potential
customers of our products (where in some instances we will provide a demonstration unit for their use and evaluation), performance of proof-of-principle studies,
preparation of extensive documentation and a lengthy review process. As a result of these factors, the capital investment required in purchasing our instrument and the
budget cycles of our customers, the time from initial contact with a customer to our receipt of a purchase order can vary significantly and be up to 12 months or longer.
Given the length and uncertainty of our sales cycle, we have in the past experienced, and likely will in the future experience, fluctuations in our product and productrelated services revenue on a period-to-period basis. In addition, any failure to meet customer expectations could result in customers choosing to retain their existing
systems or service providers or to purchase systems or services other than ours. The revenue that we expect to earn from our collaborative development services are also
subject to an extended, variable timeline based on each project agreement, which will likely result in fluctuations in our collaborative development services revenue on a
period-to-period basis as well.
Clinical studies of any product candidate that we intend to market as an IVD kit may not be successful. If we are unable to successfully complete non-clinical and
clinical studies of our product candidates or experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.
Our clinical diagnostic business prospects in the United States and other applicable jurisdictions will depend on our ability to successfully complete clinical studies
for product candidates that we intend to market as IVD kits. A failure of one or more clinical studies can occur at any stage of testing. The outcome of non-clinical studies
may not be predictive of the success of clinical studies, and interim results, if any, of a clinical study do not necessarily predict final results. Moreover, non-clinical and
clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in nonclinical and clinical studies have nonetheless failed to obtain pre-marketing clearance or approval for their products. Completion of clinical studies, announcement of
results of the studies and our ability to obtain regulatory approvals could be delayed for a variety of reasons, including:
•

unsatisfactory results of any clinical study, including failure to meet study objectives;

•

the failure of our principal third-party investigators to perform our clinical studies on our anticipated schedules;

•

imposition of a clinical hold following an inspection of our clinical study operations or trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory authorities;

•

our inability to adhere to clinical study requirements directly or with third parties, such as contract research organizations;

•

different interpretations of our non-clinical and clinical data, which could initially lead to inconclusive results; and

•

delays in obtaining suitable patient samples for use in a clinical study.

Our development costs will increase if we have material delays in any clinical study or if we need to perform more or larger clinical studies than planned. If the
delays are significant, or if any of our products do not prove to be equivalent to a predicate device or safe or effective, as applicable, or do not receive required regulatory
approvals, our financial results and the commercial prospects for our product candidates will be harmed. Furthermore, our inability to complete our clinical studies in a
timely manner could jeopardize our ability to obtain regulatory approval.
If we do not obtain regulatory clearance or approval to market our products for diagnostic purposes, we will be limited to marketing our products for research use
only. In addition, if regulatory limitations are placed on our diagnostic products our business and growth will be harmed.
In many jurisdictions, including the United States, we are currently limited to marketing our HTG EdgeSeq system and proprietary profiling panels for research
use only, which means that we cannot make any diagnostic or clinical claims for those
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products in those jurisdictions. We have sought and intend to continue to seek regulatory clearances or approvals in the United States and other jurisdictions to market
certain panels for diagnostic purposes; however, we may not be successful in doing so.
The FDA regulates diagnostic kits sold and distributed through interstate commerce in the United States as medical devices. Unless an exemption applies,
generally, before a new medical device may be sold or distributed in the United States, or may be marketed for a new use in the United States, the medical device must
receive either FDA clearance of a 510(k) pre-market notification or pre-market approval. Thus, before we can market or distribute our profiling panels, including our
mRNA and miRNA panels, as IVD kits for use by clinical testing laboratories in the United States, we must first obtain pre-market clearance or pre-market approval from
the FDA. Even if or when we apply for clearance or approval from the FDA for any of our products, the process can be lengthy and unpredictable. We are working
collaboratively with multiple biopharmaceutical companies to clinically validate our HTG EdgeSeq DLBCL Cell of Origin Assay, which we believe can classify DLBCL
as either ABC or GCB subtype. We expect to submit the DLBCL assay for U.S. regulatory clearances or approvals at some future time if and when our work with the
biopharmaceutical companies reaches an appropriate stage. We initiated a modular PMA submission process to obtain FDA approval of our HTG EdgeSeq ALKPlus
Assay to detect certain gene fusions in lung cancer in 2016. We cannot provide any assurances that our clinical studies or collaborative development services with
biopharmaceutical companies will be completed or, if completed, have the desired outcomes or that we will meet the regulatory clearance or approval timelines for either
product. Further, even if we complete the requisite clinical validations and submit or complete submission of an application, we may not receive FDA clearance or
approval for the commercial use of our tests on a timely basis, or at all. If we are unable to obtain regulatory clearance or approval, or if clinical diagnostic laboratories do
not accept our cleared or approved tests, our ability to grow our business could be compromised.
Similarly, foreign countries have either implemented or are in the process of implementing increased regulatory controls that require that we submit applications
for review and approval by foreign regulatory bodies. We obtained the right to CE mark the HTG EdgeSeq DLBCL Cell of Origin Assay EU and the
HTG EdgeSeq ALKPlus Assay EU for sale as IVDs in Europe, in July 2016 and March 2017, respectively. If we are unable to maintain CE marking or achieve
appropriate ex-U.S. approvals on any of our products for their intended commercial uses on a timely basis or at all, or if clinical diagnostic laboratories or other customers
outside the United States do not accept our tests, our ability to grow our business outside of the United States could be compromised.
If our HTG EdgeSeq system and proprietary profiling panels fail to achieve and sustain sufficient market acceptance, or we are not able to continue to expand our
service relationships with biopharmaceutical customers (including indirectly pursuant to our Governing Agreement), we will not generate expected revenue, and our
prospects may be harmed.*
We are currently focused on selling our HTG EdgeSeq system and profiling panels within the life sciences research market and, where approved, in the diagnostic
market. We plan to develop panels for many different disease states including companion diagnostics to determine the proper course of treatment for those diseases. We
may experience reluctance, or refusal, on the part of physicians to order, and third-party payors to cover and provide adequate reimbursement for, our panels if the results
of our research and clinical studies, and our sales and marketing activities relating to communication of these results, do not convey to physicians, third-party payors and
patients that the HTG EdgeSeq system and related profiling panels provide equivalent or better diagnostic information than other available technologies and
methodologies. We believe our panels represent an emerging methodology in diagnosing disease states, and we may have to overcome resistance among physicians to
adopting it for the marketing of our products to be successful. Even if we are able to obtain regulatory approval from the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities,
the use of our panels may not become the standard diagnostic tool for those diseases on which we plan to focus our efforts.
In addition, a key component of our strategy is to develop diagnostic tools in conjunction with biopharmaceutical companies’ drug development programs, to help
assess the proper course of treatment for specific diseases. Even if we are successful in developing those diagnostic tools and receive regulatory approval, we still may not
be successful in marketing those diagnostic tests. Furthermore, the decision to advance an underlying drug candidate through clinical trials and ultimately to
commercialization is in the discretion of biopharmaceutical companies with which we collaborate. Our biopharmaceutical partners may take certain actions that could
negatively impact the utility and marketability of our diagnostic tests. For example, our biopharmaceutical partners could:
•

determine not to actively pursue the development or commercialization of an applicable drug candidate, including due to the failure to demonstrate sufficient
efficacy, the occurrence of safety or tolerability issues, or any number of other reasons;

•

fail to obtain necessary regulatory approval of an applicable drug candidate;

•

obtain regulatory approval for a drug candidate in a manner that neither requires nor recommends the use of a companion diagnostic test prior to its use; or

•

choose alternative diagnostic tests to market with their products instead of ours.
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To the extent that we develop diagnostic assays for a biopharmaceutical company in collaboration with QML under our Governing Agreement and related
statements of work, we may not have responsibility for some or all aspects of developing, marketing or commercializing any resulting diagnostic tests. In addition to this
biopharmaceutical partner risk, QML may take certain actions that could negatively impact the development, utility and marketability of the applicable diagnostic tests.
For example, QML could fail to satisfy or fall behind in its obligations to us or to the biopharmaceutical partner, which may delay development, regulatory approvals,
market development and/or commercialization of an applicable companion diagnostic test.
Any of these events could limit our diagnostic test sales and revenues and have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
Our HTG EdgeSeq product portfolio requires the use of NGS instrumentation and reagents and could be adversely affected by actions of third party NGS product
manufacturers over whom we have no control.
A key element of our strategy is to establish our HTG EdgeSeq system as the best sample and library preparation method for clinical applications of next
generation sequencers. We depend at least in part on the availability of NGS instrumentation and reagents, and the ability of our HTG EdgeSeq products to operate
seamlessly with NGS instrumentation. Any significant interruption or delay in the ability of our HTG EdgeSeq products to operate on or with NGS instrumentation could
reduce demand for our products and result in a loss of customers.
Our reputation, and our ability to continue to establish or develop our technology for clinical applications of next generation sequencers, are dependent upon the
availability of NGS instrumentation and the reliable performance of our products with NGS instrumentation. We are not able to control the providers of NGS
instrumentation, which increases our vulnerability to interoperability problems with the products that they provide. For example, providers of NGS instruments may
discontinue existing products, or introduce new NGS instrumentation products with little or no notice to us. This may cause some of our products not to be operable with
one or more NGS instruments or may adversely affect regulatory approvals of our future IVD HTG EdgeSeq products, potentially for extended periods of time. Any
interruption in the ability of our products to operate on NGS instruments could harm our reputation or decrease market acceptance of our products, and our business,
financial condition and operating results may be materially and adversely affected. We also could experience additional expense in developing new products or changes to
existing products to meet developments in NGS instrumentation, and our business, financial condition and operating results may be materially and adversely affected.
Current medical device regulation in the United States and other jurisdictions requires manufacturers of IVD molecular profiling tests that use NGS detection,
referred to as NGS IVD tests, to include in regulatory submissions, technical information about the NGS products that are required for performance of, but are not
supplied with, the NGS IVD test. These regulatory agencies also require that the NGS instrumentation have “locked” software for the detection of the NGS IVD test
results. Thus, to obtain regulatory approval for NGS IVD tests, manufacturers like us, currently must have arrangements with NGS product manufacturers to gain access
to technical information and NGS instrument software. We currently have agreements with two NGS product manufacturers that grant us rights to develop, manufacture
and sell future HTG EdgeSeq NGS IVD tests in specified fields, subject to, among other things, the NGS product manufacturers’ rights to terminate such agreements and
discontinue products or implement product design changes that could adversely affect our HTG EdgeSeq NGS IVD tests. There can be no assurance that our agreements
with these NGS product manufacturers, or any future NGS product manufacturers that we contract with, will not be terminated earlier than we currently expect, that a
NGS product manufacturer will perform its contractual duties to us, or that we will otherwise receive the benefits we anticipate receiving under those agreements. In
addition, if regulatory agencies do not change their requirements for NGS IVD test approval or clearance and the NGS instrument manufacturers close their systems to
third party NGS IVD test development (in general or with specific NGS IVD test manufacturers) and we are not able to maintain or enforce our agreements with such
manufacturers, we may not be able to meet our commercial goals and our business, financial condition and operating results may be materially and adversely affected.
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The development of future products is dependent on new methods and/or technologies that we may not be successful in developing.*
We are planning to expand our product offerings in the fields of detecting expressed gene rearrangements (e.g., gene fusions and/or insertions) and genomic or
expressed DNA mutations. We believe we have successfully demonstrated that our technology is able to detect certain expressed gene rearrangements with our
HTG EdgeSeq ALKPlus Assay EU now available in Europe, and genomic DNA mutations with our HTG EdgeSeq EGFR, KRAS and BRAF Mutation Assay service
offering. Nevertheless, there are other potential applications for the foregoing technologies and opportunity for additional technology developments, such as detection of
expressed DNA mutations, methods to detect mutation load and microsatellite instability and multiparameter testing methods, that we consider when planning our product
pipeline. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully develop additional applications or new technologies on a commercial scale. If we are unsuccessful at
developing additional applications involving gene rearrangements or genomic DNA mutations, or developing technology to detect expressed DNA mutations, mutation
load and microsatellite instability or developing multiparameter testing methods we may be limited in the breadth of additional products we can offer in the future, which
could impact our future revenues and profits.
We intend to develop a new version of our HTG EdgeSeq system that is expected to target the lower-volume throughput lab market by enabling efficient molecular
profiling of smaller quantity batches of samples. In the third quarter of 2016, we suspended the development of the Project JANUS program. If we are unable to resume or
successfully develop this new version of our HTG EdgeSeq system on a timely basis, automation of our new chemistry could be delayed and our addressable market could
be limited, which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We may not be able to develop new products or enhance the capabilities of our systems to keep pace with rapidly changing technology and customer requirements,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.
Our success depends on our ability to develop new products and applications for our technology in existing and new markets, while improving the performance
and cost-effectiveness of our systems. New technologies, techniques or products could emerge that might offer better combinations of price and performance than our
current or future products and systems. Existing or future markets for our products, including gene expression analysis, liquid-based specimen analysis (e.g., plasma,
blood and urine) and single-cell analysis, as well as potential markets for our diagnostic product candidates, are characterized by rapid technological change and
innovation. It is critical to our success that we anticipate changes in technology and customer requirements and successfully introduce new, enhanced and competitive
technologies to meet our customers’ and prospective customers’ needs on a timely and cost-effective basis. At the same time, however, we must carefully manage the
introduction of new products. If customers believe that such products will offer enhanced features or be sold for a more attractive price, they may delay purchases until
such products are available. We may also have excess or obsolete inventory of older products as we transition to new products and our experience in managing product
transitions is very limited. If we do not successfully innovate and introduce new technology into our product lines or effectively manage the transitions to new product
offerings, our revenues and results of operations will be adversely impacted.
Competitors may respond more quickly and effectively than we do to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements. We
anticipate that we will face increased competition in the future as existing companies and competitors develop new or improved products and as new companies enter the
market with new technologies.
If we do not successfully manage the development and launch of new products, our financial results could be adversely affected.
We face risks associated with launching new products and with undertaking to comply with regulatory requirements for certain of our products. If we encounter
development or manufacturing challenges, adjust our product development priorities, or discover errors during our product development cycle, the product launch date(s)
may be delayed or certain product development projects may be terminated. The expenses or losses associated with unsuccessful product development or launch activities
or lack of market acceptance of our new products could adversely affect our business or financial condition.
If we do not achieve, sustain or successfully manage our anticipated growth, our business and growth prospects will be harmed.
Our current personnel, systems and facilities may not be adequate to support our business plan and future growth. Our need to effectively manage our operations,
growth and various projects requires that we, among other things:
•

continue to improve our operational, financial, management and regulatory compliance controls and reporting systems and procedures;

•

attract and retain sufficient numbers of talented employees;

•

manage our commercialization activities effectively and in a cost-effective manner;
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•

manage our relationship with third parties related to the commercialization of our products; and

•

manage our development efforts effectively while carrying out our contractual obligations to contractors and other third parties.

Moreover, growth will place significant strains on our management and our operational and financial systems and processes. For example, expanded market
penetration of our HTG EdgeSeq system and related proprietary panels, and future development and approval of diagnostic products, are key elements of our growth
strategy that will require us to hire and retain additional sales and marketing, regulatory, manufacturing and quality assurance personnel. If we do not successfully forecast
the timing and cost of the development of new panels and diagnostic products, the regulatory clearance or approval for product marketing of any future diagnostic
products or the demand and commercialization costs of such products, or manage our anticipated expenses accordingly, our operating results will be harmed.
Our future success is dependent upon our ability to expand our customer base and introduce new applications.*
Our current customer base is primarily composed of biopharmaceutical companies (including those contracted by QML pursuant to our Governing Agreement),
academic institutions and molecular labs that perform analyses using or directly or indirectly obtain services based on our HTG EdgeSeq system and consumables for
research use only, which means that the products or data from services may not be used for clinical diagnostic purposes. In July 2016, we obtained CE marking in Europe
for our HTG EdgeSeq system and HTG EdgeSeq DLBCL Cell of Origin Assay EU. In March 2017, we obtained CE marking in Europe for our HTG EdgeSeq ALKPlus
Assay EU. These products may now be used by customers for diagnostic purposes in Europe. Currently, we do not intend to and, where applicable, do not have
appropriate licenses or permits to conduct diagnostic testing services. Our success will depend, in part, upon our ability to increase our market penetration among our
customer bases and to expand our market by developing and marketing new clinical diagnostic tests and RUO applications (whether product or service), and to introduce
diagnostic products into clinical laboratories in the United States and other jurisdictions after obtaining the requisite regulatory clearances or approvals. We may not be
able to successfully complete development of or commercialize any of our planned future tests and applications. To achieve these goals, we will need to conduct
substantial research and development, conduct clinical validation studies, expend significant funds, expand and scale-up our research, development, service and
manufacturing processes and facilities, expand the number of projects under our Governing Agreement, expand and train our sales force; and seek and obtain regulatory
clearance or approvals of our new tests and applications, as required by applicable regulations. Additionally, we must demonstrate to laboratory directors, physicians and
third-party payors that our current and any future diagnostic products are effective in obtaining clinically relevant information that can inform treatment decisions, and that
our HTG EdgeSeq system and related panels can enable an equivalent or superior approach than other available technology. Furthermore, we expect that a combination of
increasing the installed base of our HTG EdgeSeq systems, expanding the number of projects under our Governing Agreement, and entering into additional service and
custom RUO assay design agreements with biopharmaceutical customers will drive increased demand for our relatively high margin panels. If we are not able to
successfully increase our installed base and biopharmaceutical customer relationships, then sales of our products and services, and our margins for these revenue items
may not meet expectations. Attracting new customers and introducing new products and services requires substantial time and expense. Any failure to expand our existing
customer base, or launch new products, including diagnostic products or services, would adversely affect our ability to improve our operating results.
If the utility of our HTG EdgeSeq system, proprietary profiling panels, services and solutions in development is not supported by studies published in peer-reviewed
medical publications, the rate of adoption of our current and future products and the rate of reimbursement of our future products by third-party payors may be
negatively affected.
We anticipate that we will need to maintain a continuing presence in peer-reviewed publications to promote adoption of our products by biopharmaceutical
companies, academic institutions and molecular labs and to promote favorable coverage and reimbursement decisions. We believe that peer-reviewed journal articles that
provide evidence of the utility of our current and future products or the technology underlying the HTG EdgeSeq system, consumables and services are important to our
commercial success. It is critical to the success of our sales efforts that we educate a sufficient number of clinicians and administrators about our HTG EdgeSeq system,
our current panels and services and our future solutions, and demonstrate the research and clinical benefits of these solutions. Our customers may not adopt our current
and future solutions, and third-party payors may not cover or adequately reimburse our future products, unless they determine, based on published peer-reviewed journal
articles and the experience of other researchers and clinicians, that our products provide accurate, reliable, useful and cost-effective information. Peer-reviewed
publications regarding our products and solutions may be limited by many factors, including delays in the completion of, poor design of, or lack of compelling data from
studies that would be the subject of the article. If our current and future product and product-related service solutions or the technology underlying such products and
services do not receive sufficient favorable exposure in peer-reviewed publications, the rate of research and clinician adoption and positive coverage and reimbursement
decisions could be negatively affected.
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We provide our HTG EdgeSeq system and profiling panels free of charge or through other arrangements to customers or key opinion leaders through evaluation
agreements or reagent rental programs, and these programs may not be successful in generating recurring revenue from sales of our systems and proprietary panels.
We sell our HTG EdgeSeq system and profiling panels under different arrangements to expand our installed base and facilitate the adoption of our platform.
In some instances, we provide equipment free of charge under evaluation agreements for a limited period of time to permit the user to evaluate the system for their
purposes in anticipation of a decision to purchase the system. We retain title to the equipment under such arrangements unless the evaluator purchases the equipment, and
in most cases, require evaluation customers to purchase a minimum quantity of consumables during the evaluation period.
When we place a system under a reagent rental agreement, we install equipment in the customer’s facility without a fee and the customer agrees to purchase
consumable products at a stated priced over the term of the agreement. While some of these agreements did not historically contain a minimum purchase requirement, we
have included a minimum purchase requirement in all current reagent rental agreements and will continue to do so in the future. We retain title to the equipment and such
title is transferred to the customer at no additional charge at the end of the initial arrangement. The cost of the instrument under the agreement is expected to be recovered
in the fees charged for consumables, to the extent sold, over the term of the agreement.
Other arrangements might include a research agreement whereby an academic collaborator agrees to provide biological samples in exchange for the use of an HTG
EdgeSeq system at no cost in furtherance of the collaborator’s professional goals and/or the educational or research objectives of an applicable institution.
Any of the foregoing arrangements could result in lost revenues and profit and potentially harm our long-term goal of achieving profitable operations. In addition,
despite the fact we require customers who receive systems we continue to own to carry insurance sufficient to protect us against any equipment losses, we cannot
guarantee that they will maintain such coverage, which may expose us to a loss of the value of the equipment in the event of any loss or damage.
There are instances where we provide our systems to key opinion leaders free of charge, to gather data and publish the results of their research to assist our
marketing efforts. We have no control over some of the work being performed by these key opinion leaders, or whether the results will be satisfactory. It is possible that
the key opinion leader may generate data that is unsatisfactory and could potentially harm our marketing efforts. In addition, customers may from time to time create
negative publicity about their experience with our systems, which could harm our reputation and negatively affect market perception and adoption of our platform.
Placing our HTG EdgeSeq systems under evaluation agreements, under reagent rental agreements or with our key opinion leaders without receiving payment for
the instruments could require substantial additional working capital to provide additional units for sale to our customers.
Our strategy of developing companion diagnostic products may require large investments in working capital and may not generate any revenues.
A key component of our strategy is the development of companion diagnostic products designed to determine the appropriate patient population for administration
of a particular therapeutic to more successfully treat a variety of illnesses. We have an exclusive arrangement with QML to develop certain companion diagnostic products
for biopharmaceutical companies under our Governing Agreement. Otherwise, we may choose to independently develop companion diagnostic products with or without a
biopharmaceutical partner. Successfully developing a companion diagnostic product depends both on regulatory approval for administration of the therapeutic, as well as
regulatory approval of the diagnostic product. Even if we are successful in developing products that would be useful as companion diagnostic products, and potentially
receive regulatory approval for such products, the biopharmaceutical companies that develop the corresponding therapeutics may ultimately be unsuccessful in obtaining
regulatory approval for any such therapeutic, or, even if successful, select a competing technology to use in their regulatory submission instead of ours. The development,
especially the independent development, of companion diagnostic products requires a significant investment of working capital which may not result in any future income.
This could require us to raise additional funds which could dilute our current investors or could impact our ability to continue our operations in the future.
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Our current business depends on levels of research and development spending by academic and governmental research institutions and biopharmaceutical
companies, a reduction in which could limit demand for our products and adversely affect our business and operating results.*
Our revenue is currently derived from sales of our HTG EdgeSeq system and related proprietary panels, the design of custom RUO assays and sample processing
for research applications to biopharmaceutical companies, academic institutions and molecular labs, predominantly in the United States and Europe, and collaborative
development services. The demand for our products and services will depend in part upon the research and development budgets of these customers, which are impacted
by factors beyond our control, such as:
•

changes in government programs that provide funding to research institutions and companies;

•

macroeconomic conditions and the political climate;

•

changes in the regulatory environment;

•

differences in budgetary cycles;

•

market-driven pressures to consolidate operations and reduce costs; and

•

market acceptance of relatively new technologies, such as ours.

We believe that any uncertainty regarding the availability of research funding may adversely affect our operating results and may adversely affect sales to
customers or potential customers that rely on government funding. In addition, academic, governmental and other research institutions that fund research and development
activities may be subject to stringent budgetary constraints that could result in spending reductions, reduced allocations or budget cutbacks, which could jeopardize the
ability of these customers to purchase our products or services. Our operating results may fluctuate substantially due to reductions and delays in research and development
expenditures by these customers. Any decrease in our customers’ budgets or expenditures, or in the size, scope or frequency of capital or operating expenditures, could
materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
As part of our current business model, we intend to seek to enter into strategic development collaborations and licensing arrangements with third parties to develop
diagnostic tests.
We have relied, and expect to continue to rely, on strategic development collaborations and licensing agreements with third parties to develop or in-license
technologies based on which products or services we may develop or offer. We have entered into agreements with third parties to facilitate or enable our development of
assays, and ultimately diagnostic tests, to aid in the diagnosis of oncology diseases, such as breast cancer and melanoma, and other diseases. We intend to enter into
additional similar agreements with life sciences companies, biopharmaceutical companies and other researchers for future diagnostic products. However, we cannot
guarantee that we will enter into any additional agreements. In particular, our life sciences research or biopharmaceutical customers are not obligated to collaborate with us
or license technology to us, and they may choose to develop diagnostic products themselves or collaborate with our competitors. Establishing development collaborations
and licensing arrangements is difficult and time-consuming. Discussions may not lead to development collaborations or licenses on favorable terms, or at all. Potential
collaborators or licensors may elect not to work with us based upon their assessment of our financial, regulatory or intellectual property position. To the extent that we
enter new collaborative development or licensing agreements, they may never result in the successful development or commercialization of future tests or other products
for a variety of reasons, including because our collaborators may not succeed in performing their obligations or may choose not to cooperate with us. We cannot control
the amount and timing of our collaborators’ resources that will be devoted to performing their responsibilities under our agreements with them. Moreover, to the extent we
agree to work exclusively with a party in a given area, our opportunities to collaborate with others would be limited. Even if we establish new relationships, they may
never result in the successful development or commercialization of future tests or other products. Disputes with our collaborators could also impair our reputation or result
in development delays, decreased revenues and litigation expenses.
Our research and development efforts will be hindered if we are not able to contract with third parties for access to archival patient samples.
Our future development of products for clinical indications will require access to archival patient samples for which data relevant to the clinical indication of
interest is known. We rely on our ability to secure access to these archived patient samples, including FFPE tissue, plasma, serum, whole blood preserved in PAXgene, or
various cytology preparations, together with the information pertaining to the clinical outcomes of the patients from which the samples were taken. Owners or custodians
of relevant samples may be difficult to identify and/or identified samples may be of poor quality or limited in number or amount. Additionally, others compete with us for
access to these samples for both research and commercial purposes. Even when an appropriate cohort of
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samples is identified, the process of negotiating access to these samples can be lengthy because it typically involves numerous parties and approval levels to resolve
complex issues such as usage rights, institutional review board approval, privacy rights, publication rights, and intellectual property ownership. In addition, in some
instances the cost to acquire samples can be prohibitively expensive. If we are not able to negotiate access to archived patient samples on a timely basis and on acceptable
terms, or at all, or if our competitors or others secure access to these samples before us, our ability to research, develop and commercialize future products will be limited
or delayed.
The life sciences research and diagnostic markets are highly competitive. We face competition from enhanced or alternative technologies and products, which could
render our products and/or technologies obsolete. If we fail to compete effectively, our business and operating results will suffer.
We face significant competition in the life sciences research and diagnostics markets. We currently compete with both established and early-stage life sciences
research companies that design, manufacture and market instruments and consumables for gene expression analysis, liquid-based specimen analysis (e.g., plasma, blood
and urine), single-cell analysis, PCR, digital PCR, other nucleic acid detection and additional applications. These companies use well-established laboratory techniques
such as microarrays or qPCR as well as newer technologies such as next generation sequencing. We believe our principal competitors in the life sciences research market
are Agilent Technologies, Inc., ArcherDx, Inc., BioRad Laboratories, Fluidigm Corporation, Foundation Medicine, Inc., Genomic Health, Illumina, Inc., Abbott
Molecular, Luminex Corporation, Affymetrix, Inc., NanoString Technologies, Inc., entities owned and controlled by QIAGEN N.V., Roche Diagnostics, a division of the
Roche Group of companies, Personal Genome Diagnostics and Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc. In addition, there are several other market entrants in the process of
developing novel technologies for the life sciences market. One or more of our competitors could develop a product that is superior to a product we offer or intend to offer,
or our technology and products may be rendered obsolete or uneconomical by advances in existing technologies.
Within the diagnostic market, there are competitors that manufacture systems for sales to hospitals and laboratories and other competitors that offer tests conducted
through CLIA laboratories. We will also compete with commercial diagnostics companies. Most of our current competitors are either publicly traded, or are divisions of
publicly traded companies, and enjoy a number of competitive advantages over us, including:
•

greater name and brand recognition, financial and human resources;

•

broader product lines;

•

larger sales forces and more established distributor networks;

•

substantial intellectual property portfolios;

•

larger and more established customer bases and relationships; and

•

better established, larger scale, and lower cost manufacturing capabilities.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in all of our target markets include:
•

cost of capital equipment;

•

cost of consumables and supplies;

•

reputation among customers;

•

innovation in product offerings;

•

flexibility and ease-of-use;

•

accuracy and reproducibility of results; and

•

compatibility with existing laboratory processes, tools and methods.

We believe that additional competitive factors specific to the diagnostics market include:
•

breadth of clinical decisions that can be influenced by information generated by tests;

•

volume, quality, and strength of clinical and analytical validation data;

•

availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement for testing services; and

•

economic benefit accrued to customers based on testing services enabled by products.
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Our products may not compete favorably, and we may not be successful in the face of increasing competition from new products and technologies introduced by
our existing competitors or new companies entering our markets. In addition, our competitors may have or may develop products or technologies that currently or in the
future will enable them to produce competitive products with greater capabilities or at lower costs than ours. Any failure to compete effectively could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.
We are dependent on a single third-party supplier for a certain subcomponent of our systems and the loss of this supplier could harm our business.
We currently rely on a single supplier to supply a subcomponent used in our HTG EdgeSeq processors. While we periodically forecast our needs for this
subcomponent, our contract with this supplier, which may be a standard purchase order, does not commit them to carry inventory or make available any particular
quantities, and the supplier may give other customers’ needs higher priority than ours and we may not be able to obtain adequate supplies in a timely manner or on
commercially reasonable terms. If we were to lose this supplier, we may not be able to identify or enter into agreements with alternative suppliers on a timely basis on
acceptable terms, or at all. If we should encounter delays or difficulties in securing the quality and quantity of subcomponent we require for our processors, our supply
chain would be interrupted which would adversely affect our sales. A loss of this supplier could significantly delay the delivery of our HTG EdgeSeq processor, which in
turn would materially affect our ability to generate revenue. If any of these events occur, our business and operating results could be materially harmed.
We may encounter manufacturing difficulties that could impede or delay production of our HTG EdgeSeq systems.
We began manufacturing our HTG EdgeSeq system internally in 2016. We have limited experience with manufacturing the system and our internal manufacturing
operations may encounter difficulties involving, among other things, scale-up of manufacturing processes, production efficiency and output, regulatory compliance,
quality control and quality assurance, and shortages of qualified personnel. Any failure in our planned internal manufacturing operations could cause us to be unable to
meet demand for these systems, delay the delivery of the system to customers, and harm our business relationships and reputation.
If we encounter difficulties in our planned internal manufacturing operations, we may need to engage a third-party supplier, provided we cannot be sure we will be
able to do so in a timely manner, or at all, or on favorable terms.
Any of these factors could cause us to delay or suspend production of our HTG EdgeSeq system, entail unplanned additional costs and materially harm our
business, results of operations and financial condition.
If our Tucson facilities become unavailable or inoperable, the manufacturing of our instrument and consumable products or our ability to process sales orders will be
interrupted and our business could be materially harmed.
We manufacture our consumable products and our HTG EdgeSeq system and perform our RUO profiling and collaborative development services in our Tucson,
Arizona facilities. In addition, our Tucson facilities are the center for order processing, receipt of critical components of our HTG EdgeSeq instrument and shipping
products to customers. We do not have redundant facilities. Damage or the inability to utilize our Tucson facilities and the equipment we use to perform research,
development or services and manufacture our products could be costly, and we would require substantial lead-time to repair or replace this facility and equipment. The
Tucson facilities may be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, including flooding, wind damage, power spikes and power outages, which may
render it difficult or impossible for us to perform these critical functions for some period of time. The inability to manufacture consumables or instruments, process
customer samples, perform development services under our Governing Agreement or ship products to customers for even a short period of time may result in the loss of
customers or harm our reputation, and we may be unable to regain those customers in the future. Although we possess insurance for damage to our property and the
disruption of our business, this insurance may not be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses and may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.
We expect to generate a portion of our revenue internationally and are subject to various risks relating to our international activities which could adversely affect our
operating results.*
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, approximately 79% and 77% of the Company’s revenue was generated from sales originated by
customers located outside of the United States, respectively, compared with 68% and 49% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively. We
expect that a percentage of our future revenue will continue to come from international sources, driven in part by activities conducted pursuant to our Governing
Agreement, and we expect to expand our overseas operations and develop opportunities in additional areas. Engaging in international business involves a number of
difficulties and risks, including:
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•

required compliance with existing and changing foreign regulatory requirements and laws;

•

required compliance with anti-bribery laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and U.K. Bribery Act, data privacy requirements, labor laws
and anti-competition regulations;

•

export and import restrictions;

•

various reimbursement, pricing and insurance regimes;

•

laws and business practices favoring local companies;

•

longer payment cycles and difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain foreign legal systems;

•

political and economic instability;

•

potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs, customs charges, bureaucratic requirements and other trade barriers, including transfer pricing, value added
and other tax systems, double taxation and restrictions and/or taxation on repatriation of earnings;

•

tariffs, customs charges, bureaucratic requirements and other trade barriers;

•

difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations, including difficulties and costs associated with foreign employment laws;

•

increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities; and

•

difficulties protecting, procuring, or enforcing intellectual property rights, including from reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in
some countries.

As we expand internationally our results of operations and cash flows will become increasingly subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Historically, most of our revenue has been denominated in U.S. dollars, although we have sold our products and services in local currency outside of the
United States, principally the Euro. Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in which our operations are located, which is primarily in the United States.
As our operations in countries outside of the United States grows, our results of operations and cash flows will increasingly be subject to fluctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, which could negatively impact our results of operations in the future. For example, if the value of the U.S. dollar increases relative to
foreign currencies, in the absence of an offsetting change in local currency prices, our revenue could be adversely affected as we convert revenue from local currencies to
U.S. dollars.
If we dedicate significant resources to our international operations and are unable to manage these risks effectively, our business, operating results and prospects
will suffer. Moreover, we cannot be certain that the investment and additional resources required in establishing operations in other countries will produce desired levels of
revenue or profitability.
In addition, any failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory obligations could negatively impact us in a variety of ways that include, but are not limited
to, significant criminal, civil and administrative penalties, including imprisonment of individuals, fines and penalties, denial of export privileges, seizure of shipments and
restrictions on certain business activities.
We rely on distributors for sales of our products in several markets outside of the United States.
We have established exclusive and non-exclusive distribution agreements for our HTG EdgeSeq platform and related profiling panels within parts of Europe and
the Middle East. We intend to continue to grow our business internationally, and to do so, in addition to expanding our own direct sales and support team, we plan to
attract additional distributors and sales partners to maximize the commercial opportunity for our products. We cannot guarantee that we will be successful in attracting
desirable distribution and sales partners or that we will be able to enter into such arrangements on favorable terms. Distributors and sales partners may not commit the
necessary resources to market and sell our products to the level of our expectations or may favor marketing the products of our competitors. If current or future distributors
or sales partners do not perform adequately, or we are unable to enter into effective arrangements with distributors or sales partners in particular geographic areas, we may
not realize long-term international revenue growth.
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Limitations in the use of our products could harm our reputation or decrease market acceptance of our products; undetected errors or defects in our products could
harm our reputation, decrease market acceptance of our products or expose us to product liability claims.
Our products are subject to the limitations set forth in the product labeling, which may not satisfy the needs of all customers. For example, in the past we have
introduced new panels that initially were intended to be used with specific sample types. Because our customers desire that our panels be broadly applicable to many
biological sample types, these initial limitations could harm our reputation or decrease market acceptance of our products. If that occurs, we may incur significant costs,
the attention of our key personnel could be diverted, or other significant customer relations problems may arise, which could harm our business and operating results.
Similarly, our products may contain undetected errors or defects when first introduced or as new versions are released. Since our current customers use our
products for research and, if cleared or approved for diagnostic applications, disruptions or other performance problems with our products may damage our customers’
businesses and could harm our reputation. If that occurs, we may incur significant costs, the attention of our key personnel could be diverted, or other significant customer
relations problems may arise. We may also be subject to warranty and liability claims for damages related to errors or defects in our products. A material liability claim or
other occurrence that harms our reputation or decreases market acceptance of our products could harm our business and operating results.
The sale and use of products or services based on our technologies, or activities related to our research and clinical studies, could lead to the filing of product
liability claims if someone were to allege that one of our products contained a design or manufacturing defect which resulted in the failure to adequately perform the
analysis for which it was designed. A product liability claim could result in substantial damages and be costly and time consuming to defend, either of which could
materially harm our business or financial condition. We cannot assure investors that our product liability insurance could adequately protect our assets from the financial
impact of defending a product liability claim. Any product liability claim brought against us, with or without merit, could increase our product liability insurance rates or
prevent us from securing insurance coverage in the future.
We may need to raise additional capital to fund our operations in the future. If we are unsuccessful in attracting new capital, we may not be able to continue
operations or may be forced to sell assets to do so. Alternatively, capital may not be available to us on favorable terms, or if at all. If available, financing terms may
lead to significant dilution of our stockholders’ equity.*
We are not profitable and have had negative cash flow from operations since our inception. To fund our operations and develop and commercialize our products,
we have relied primarily on equity and debt financings and revenue generated from the sale of our HTG EdgeSeq systems, proprietary consumables, related services and
collaborative development service arrangements with biopharmaceutical company customers (directly or indirectly via the Governing Agreement). We currently anticipate
that our cash and cash equivalents, including funds generated in our January 2018 public offering, will be sufficient to enable us to fund our operations for at least the next
12 months. We may need to obtain additional funds to finance our operations in the future if our estimates of the amount of cash necessary to fund our operations and
development and commercialization activities prove to be wrong, and we could spend our available financial resources much faster than we currently expect. Additional
capital may not be available at such times or amounts as needed by us. Even if capital is available, it might be available only on unfavorable terms. Any additional equity
or convertible debt financing into which we enter could be dilutive to our existing stockholders. Any future debt financing into which we enter may impose covenants
upon us that restrict our operations, including limitations on our ability to incur liens or additional debt, pay dividends, repurchase our stock, make certain investments and
engage in certain merger, consolidation or asset sale transactions. Any debt financing or additional equity that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to us or
our stockholders. If we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may need to relinquish rights to our technologies or
our products, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If access to sufficient capital is not available as and when needed, our business will be materially
impaired, and we may be required to cease operations, curtail one or more product development or commercialization programs, or significantly reduce expenses, sell
assets, seek a merger or joint venture partner, file for protection from creditors or liquidate all of our assets. Any of these factors could harm our operating results.
Payments under the instruments governing our indebtedness may reduce our working capital. In addition, a default under our MidCap Credit Facility could cause a
material adverse effect on our financial position.*
Pursuant to the terms of an asset purchase agreement with NuvoGen, we agreed to annually pay NuvoGen the greater of $400,000 or 6% of our yearly revenue
until the total aggregate cash compensation paid to NuvoGen under the agreement equals $15.0 million. To date, we have paid NuvoGen approximately $7.8 million.
Payments to NuvoGen will result in a reduction in our working capital as we continue to make payments on this obligation.
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Pursuant to the terms of the $3.0 million QNAH Convertible Note that we issued in October 2017, we will be required to repay the entire outstanding principal
amount of the note and unpaid accrued interest thereon in October 2020, subject potentially to the terms of a future subordination agreement between QNAH and our
senior lenders, provided QNAH may, at its election, convert all or any portion of the outstanding principal balance of the note and unpaid accrued interest at any time prior
to the maturity date into shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $3.984 per share. Repayment of this note and unpaid accrued interest thereon at maturity
would result in a reduction in our working capital, which could be significant depending on our cash position on the maturity date.
The MidCap Credit Facility requires us, and any debt arrangements we may enter into in the future may require us, to comply with various covenants that limit our
ability to, among other things:
•

dispose of assets;

•

complete mergers or acquisitions;

•

incur indebtedness or modify existing debt agreements;

•

amend or modify certain material agreements;

•

engage in additional lines of business;

•

encumber assets;

•

pay dividends or make other distributions to holders of our capital stock;

•

make specified investments;

•

change certain key management personnel or organizational documents; and

•

engage in transactions with our affiliates.

These restrictions could inhibit our ability to pursue our business strategies. If we default under our obligations under the MidCap Term Loan, the lender could
proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure our indebtedness or declare all obligation under the MidCap Term Loan to be due and payable. In certain
circumstances, procedures by the lender could result in a loss by us of all of our equipment and inventory, which are included in the collateral granted to the lender. In
addition, upon any distribution of assets pursuant to any liquidation, insolvency, dissolution, reorganization or similar proceeding, the holders of secured indebtedness will
be entitled to receive payment in full from the proceeds of the collateral securing our secured indebtedness before the holders of other indebtedness or our common stock
will be entitled to receive any distribution with respect thereto.
The enactment of U.S. tax reform in 2017 resulted in changes in the U.S. taxation of domestic and international business activities which could materially impact our
future financial position and results of operations.
The 2017 Tax Act, which was signed into law on December 22, 2017, significantly revises the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “IRC”). The newly
enacted federal income tax law, among other things, contains significant changes to corporate taxation, including a reduction of the federal statutory rates from a top
marginal rate of 35% to a flat rate of 21%, limitation of the tax deduction for interest expense to 30% of adjusted earnings (except for certain small businesses), limitation
of the deduction for net operating losses to 80% of current year taxable income, elimination of net operating loss carrybacks, one time taxation of offshore earnings at
reduced rates regardless of whether they are repatriated, elimination of U.S. tax on foreign earnings (subject to certain important exceptions), immediate deductions for
certain new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time, and modifying or repealing many business deductions and credits. Notwithstanding the
reduction in the corporate income tax rate, the overall impact of the new federal tax law is uncertain and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.
It is also unknown if and to what extent various states will conform to the newly enacted federal tax law. The impact of this tax reform on holders of our common stock is
likewise uncertain and could be adverse. We urge you to consult with a legal and/or tax advisor with respect to this legislation and the potential consequences of investing
in our common stock.
Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
As of December 31, 2017, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) to offset future taxable income of approximately $122.0 million, which will
begin to expire in 2021 if not utilized. A lack of future taxable income would adversely affect our ability to utilize these NOLs. In addition, under Section 382 of the IRC,
a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” (generally defined as a greater than 50% change, by value, in its equity ownership over a three-year period) is subject
to limitations on its ability to utilize its NOLs to offset future taxable income. We believe we may have already experienced one or more ownership changes and may in
the future experience one or more additional ownership changes, and thus, our ability to utilize pre52

ownership change NOLs and other pre-ownership change tax attributes to offset post-ownership change income may be limited. Such limitations may cause a portion of
our NOL and credit carryforwards to expire. In addition, future changes in our stock ownership, including as a result of future financings, as well as changes that may be
outside of our control, could result in ownership changes under Section 382 of the Code. Our NOLs may also be impaired under similar provisions of state law. We have
recorded a full valuation allowance related to our NOLs and other deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of the ultimate realization of the future benefits of those assets.
Acquisitions or joint ventures could disrupt our business, cause dilution to our stockholders and otherwise harm our business.
We may acquire other businesses, products or technologies as well as pursue strategic alliances, joint ventures, technology licenses or investments in
complementary businesses. We have limited experience with respect to business, product or technology acquisitions or the formation of collaborations, strategic alliances
and joint ventures or investing in complementary businesses. Any of these transactions could be material to our financial condition and operating results and expose us to
many risks, including:
•

disruption in our relationships with customers, distributors or suppliers as a result of such a transaction;

•

unanticipated liabilities related to acquired companies;

•

difficulties integrating acquired personnel, technologies and operations into our existing business;

•

diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to acquisition integration challenges;

•

increases in our expenses and reductions in our cash available for operations and other uses; and

•

possible write-offs or impairment charges relating to acquired businesses.

Foreign acquisitions involve unique risks in addition to those mentioned above, including those related to integration of operations across different cultures and
languages, currency risks and the particular economic, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries. Also, the anticipated benefit of any acquisition may
not materialize. Future acquisitions or dispositions could result in potentially dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities or
amortization expenses or write-offs of goodwill, any of which could harm our financial condition. We cannot predict the number, timing or size of future joint ventures or
acquisitions, or the effect that any such transactions might have on our operating results.
If any members of our management team were to leave us or we are unable to recruit, train and retain key personnel, we may not achieve our goals.*
Our future success depends on our ability to recruit, train, retain and motivate key personnel, including our senior management, research and development,
manufacturing, service and sales and marketing personnel. If we were to lose one or more of our key employees, we may experience difficulties in competing effectively,
developing our technologies and implementing our business strategies. Competition for qualified personnel is intense, and we may not be able to attract talent. Our growth
depends, in part, on attracting, retaining and motivating highly trained sales personnel with the necessary scientific background and ability to understand our systems at a
technical level to effectively identify and sell to potential new customers, including new biopharmaceutical company customers. In particular, the commercialization of
our HTG EdgeSeq system and related panels requires us to continue to establish and maintain sales and support teams to optimize the markets for research tools and,
where approved, diagnostic assays, and to fully optimize a broad array of diagnostic market opportunities as we receive approval for any future diagnostic products. We do
not maintain fixed term employment contracts or key man life insurance relating to any of our employees. Because of the complex and technical nature of our products
and the dynamic market in which we compete, any failure to retain our management team or to attract, train, retain and motivate other qualified personnel could materially
harm our operating results and growth prospects.
Our operating results may be harmed if we are required to collect sales, services or other related taxes for our products and services in jurisdictions where we have not
historically done so.
We do not believe that we are required to collect sales, use, services or other similar taxes from our customers in certain jurisdictions. However, one or more
countries or states may seek to impose sales, use, services, or other tax collection obligations on us, including for past sales. A successful assertion by one or more
jurisdictions that we should collect sales or other taxes on the sale of our products and services could result in substantial tax liabilities for past sales and decrease our
ability to compete for future sales. Each country and each state has different rules and regulations governing sales and use taxes and these rules and regulations are subject
to varying interpretations that may change over time. We review these rules and regulations periodically and, when we believe sales and use taxes apply in a particular
jurisdiction, voluntarily engage tax authorities in order to determine how to comply with their rules and regulations. We cannot assure you that we will not be subject to
sales and use taxes or related penalties for past sales in jurisdictions where we presently believe sales and use taxes are not due.
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Providers of goods or services are typically held responsible by taxing authorities for the collection and payment of any applicable sales and similar taxes. If one or
more taxing authorities determines that taxes should have, but have not, been paid with respect to our products and services, we may be liable for past taxes in addition to
being required to collect sales or similar taxes in respect of our products and services going forward. Liability for past taxes may also include substantial interest and
penalty charges. Our customer contracts provide that our customers must pay all applicable sales and similar taxes. Nevertheless, customers may be reluctant to pay back
taxes and may refuse responsibility for interest or penalties associated with those taxes or we may determine that it would not be feasible to seek reimbursement. If we are
required to collect and pay back taxes and the associated interest and penalties and if our customers do not reimburse us for all or a portion of these amounts, we will have
incurred unplanned expenses that may be substantial. Moreover, imposition of such taxes on our products and services going forward will effectively increase the cost of
such products and services to our customers.
Many states are also pursuing legislative expansion of the scope of goods and services that are subject to sales and similar taxes as well as the circumstances in
which a vendor of goods and services must collect such taxes. Furthermore, legislative proposals have been introduced in Congress that would provide states with
additional authority to impose such taxes. Accordingly, it is possible that either federal or state legislative changes may require us to collect additional sales and similar
taxes from our customers in the future.
Our insurance policies are expensive and protect us only from some business risks, which will leave us exposed to significant uninsured liabilities.
We do not carry insurance for all categories of risk that our business may encounter. Some of the policies we currently maintain include general liability, foreign
liability, employee benefits liability, property, automobile, umbrella, workers’ compensation, crime (including cybercrime), fiduciary, products liability, pollution, errors
and omissions and directors’ and officers’ insurance. We do not know, however, if we will be able to maintain existing insurance with adequate levels of coverage. Any
significant uninsured liability may require us to pay substantial amounts, which would adversely affect our cash position and results of operations.
Performance issues, service interruptions or price increases by our shipping carriers could adversely affect our business and harm our reputation and ability to
provide our services on a timely basis.
Expedited, reliable shipping is essential to our operations. We rely heavily on providers of transport services for reliable and secure point-to-point transport of our
HTG EdgeSeq systems and consumables to our customers and, as applicable, customers’ samples to our laboratory, and for enhanced tracking of these shipments. Should
a carrier encounter delivery performance issues such as loss, damage or destruction of any instrumentation, consumables or samples, it would be costly to replace such
instrumentation or consumables in a timely manner and may be difficult to replace customers’ samples lost or damaged in shipping, and such occurrences may damage our
reputation and lead to decreased demand for our products and increased cost and expense to our business. In addition, any significant increase in shipping rates could
adversely affect our operating margins and results of operations. Similarly, strikes, severe weather, natural disasters or other service interruptions affecting delivery
services we use would adversely affect our ability to process orders for our products or receive recipient samples on a timely basis.
We face risks related to handling of hazardous materials and other regulations governing environmental safety.
Our operations are subject to complex and stringent environmental, health, safety and other governmental laws and regulations that both public officials and
private individuals may seek to enforce. Our activities that are subject to these regulations include, among other things, our use of hazardous materials and the generation,
transportation and storage of waste. We could discover that we or an acquired business is not in material compliance with these regulations. Existing laws and regulations
may also be revised or reinterpreted, or new laws and regulations may become applicable to us, whether retroactively or prospectively, that may have a negative effect on
our business and results of operations. It is also impossible to eliminate completely the risk of accidental environmental contamination or injury to individuals. In such an
event, we could be liable for any damages that result, and any liability could exceed our resources or any applicable insurance coverage we may have, which events could
adversely affect our business.
Cyber security risks and the failure to maintain the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our computer hardware, software, and internet applications and
related tools and functions could result in damage to our reputation and/or subject us to costs, fines or lawsuits.
Our business requires manipulating, analyzing and storing large amounts of data. In addition, we rely on an enterprise software system to operate and manage our
business. We also maintain personally identifiable information about our employees. Our business therefore depends on the continuous, effective, reliable and secure
operation of our computer hardware, software, networks, Internet servers and related infrastructure. To the extent that our hardware and software malfunction or access to
our data by internal personnel is interrupted, our business could suffer. The integrity and protection of our employee and company data is critical to our business and
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employees have a high expectation that we will adequately protect their personal information. The regulatory environment governing information, security and privacy
laws is increasingly demanding and continues to evolve. Maintaining compliance with applicable security and privacy regulations may increase our operating costs.
Although our computer and communications software are protected through physical and software safeguards, it is still vulnerable to natural or man-made hazards, such as
fire, storm, flood, power loss, wind damage, telecommunications failures, physical or software break-ins, software viruses and similar events. These events could lead to
the unauthorized access, disclosure and use of non-public information. The techniques used by criminal elements to attack computer systems are sophisticated, change
frequently and may originate from less regulated and remote areas of the world. As a result, we may not be able to address these techniques proactively or implement
adequate preventative measures. If our computer systems are compromised, we could be subject to fines, damages, litigation and enforcement actions, and we could lose
trade secrets, the occurrence of which could harm our business. In addition, any sustained disruption in internet access provided by other companies could harm our
business.
Risks Related to Government Regulation and Diagnostic Product Reimbursement
Our research use only products for the life sciences market could become subject to regulation as medical devices by the FDA or other regulatory agencies in the
future which could increase our costs and delay our commercialization efforts, thereby materially and adversely affecting our life sciences business and results of
operations.
In the United States, our products are currently labeled and sold for research use only, and not for the diagnosis or treatment of disease, and are sold to a variety of
parties, including biopharmaceutical companies, academic institutions and molecular labs. Because such products are not intended for use in clinical practice in
diagnostics, and the products cannot include clinical or diagnostic claims, they are exempt from many regulatory requirements otherwise applicable to medical devices. In
particular, while the FDA regulations require that RUO products be labeled, “For Research Use Only. Not for use in diagnostic procedures,” the regulations do not
otherwise subject such products to the FDA’s pre- and post-market controls for medical devices.
A significant change in the laws governing RUO products or how they are enforced may require us to change our business model in order to maintain compliance.
For instance, in November 2013 the FDA issued a guidance document entitled “Distribution of In Vitro Diagnostic Products Labeled for Research Use Only or
Investigational Use Only” (the “RUO Guidance”) which highlights the FDA’s interpretation that distribution of RUO products with any labeling, advertising or promotion
that suggests that clinical laboratories can validate the test through their own procedures and subsequently offer it for clinical diagnostic use as a laboratory developed test
is in conflict with RUO status. The RUO Guidance further articulates the FDA’s position that any assistance offered in performing clinical validation or verification, or
similar specialized technical support, to clinical laboratories, conflicts with RUO status. If we engage in any activities that the FDA deems to be in conflict with the RUO
status held by the products that we sell, we may be subject to immediate, severe and broad FDA enforcement action that would adversely affect our ability to continue
operations. Accordingly, if the FDA finds that we are distributing our RUO products in a manner that is inconsistent with its regulations or guidance, we may be forced to
stop distribution of our RUO tests until we are in compliance, which would reduce our revenues, increase our costs and adversely affect our business, prospects, results of
operations and financial condition. In addition, the FDA’s proposed implementation for a new framework for the regulation of LDTs may negatively impact the LDT
market and thereby reduce demand for RUO products.
If the FDA requires marketing authorization of our RUO products in the future, there can be no assurance that the FDA will ultimately grant any clearance or
approval requested by us in a timely manner, or at all.
Approval and/or clearance by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities for any diagnostic tests will take significant time and require significant research,
development and clinical study expenditures and ultimately may not succeed.
Before we begin to label and market our products for use as clinical diagnostics in the United States, including as companion diagnostics, unless an exemption
applies, we will be required to obtain either 510(k) clearance or PMA from the FDA. In addition, we may be required to seek FDA clearance for any changes or
modifications to our products that could significantly affect their safety or effectiveness or would constitute a change in intended use. The 510(k) clearance processes can
be expensive, time-consuming and uncertain. In addition to the time required to conduct clinical studies, if necessary, it generally takes from four to twelve months from
submission of an application to obtain 510(k) clearance; however, it may take longer and 510(k) clearance may never be obtained. Even if the FDA accepts a 510(k)
submission for filing, the FDA may request additional information or clinical studies during its review. Our ability to obtain additional regulatory clearances for new
products and indications may be significantly delayed or may never be obtained. In addition, we may be required to obtain PMAs for new products or product
modifications. The requirements of the more rigorous PMA process could delay product introductions and increase the costs associated with FDA compliance. As with all
IVD products, the FDA reserves the right to redefine the regulatory path at the time of submission or during the review process and
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could require a more burdensome approach. Even if we were to obtain regulatory approval or clearance, it may not be for the uses we believe are important or
commercially attractive, in which case we would not be permitted to market our product for those uses.
A 510(k) clearance or PMA submission for any future medical device product would likely place substantial restrictions on how the device is marketed or sold,
and we will be required to continue to comply with extensive regulatory requirements, including, but not limited to QSRs, registering manufacturing facilities, listing the
products with the FDA, and complying with labeling, marketing, complaint handling, adverse event and medical device reporting requirements and corrections and
removals. We cannot assure you that we will successfully maintain the clearances or approvals we may receive in the future. In addition, any clearances or approvals we
obtain may be revoked if any issues arise that bring into question our products’ safety or effectiveness. Any failure to maintain compliance with FDA regulatory
requirements could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Sales of our diagnostic products outside the United States will be subject to foreign regulatory requirements governing clinical studies, vigilance reporting,
marketing approval, manufacturing, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement. These regulatory requirements vary greatly from country to country. As a result, the
time required to obtain approvals outside the United States may differ from that required to obtain FDA approval and we may not be able to obtain foreign regulatory
approvals on a timely basis or at all. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries, and approval by one foreign regulatory
authority does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities could require additional testing. In
addition, the FDA regulates exports of medical devices. Failure to comply with these regulatory requirements or obtain required approvals could impair our ability to
commercialize our diagnostic products outside of the United States.
We expect to rely on third parties to conduct any future studies of our diagnostic products that may be required by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, and those
third parties may not perform satisfactorily.
We do not have the ability to independently conduct the clinical studies or other studies that may be required to obtain FDA and other regulatory clearance or
approval for our diagnostic products, including the HTG EdgeSeq system and related proprietary panels. Accordingly, we expect to rely on third parties, such as medical
institutions and clinical investigators, and providers of NGS instrumentation, to conduct such studies and/or to provide information necessary for our submissions to
regulatory authorities. Our reliance on these third parties for clinical development activities or information will reduce our control over these activities. These third-parties
may not complete activities on schedule or conduct studies in accordance with regulatory requirements or our study design. Similarly, providers of NGS instrumentation
may not place the same importance on our regulatory submissions as we do. Our reliance on third parties that we do not control will not relieve us of any applicable
requirement to prepare, and ensure compliance with, the various procedures requires under good clinical practices, or the submission of all information required in
connection with requested regulatory approvals. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or regulatory obligations or meet expected
deadlines if the third parties need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to their failure to adhere to our clinical protocols
or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our studies may be extended, delayed, suspended or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for
our diagnostic products.
Even if we are able to obtain regulatory approval or clearance for our diagnostic products, we will continue to be subject to ongoing and extensive regulatory
requirements, and our failure to comply with these requirements could substantially harm our business.
If we receive regulatory approval or clearance for our diagnostic products, we will be subject to ongoing FDA obligations and continued regulatory oversight and
review, such as compliance with QSRs, inspections by the FDA, continued adverse event and malfunction reporting, corrections and removals reporting, registration and
listing, and promotional restrictions, and we may also be subject to additional FDA post-marketing obligations. If we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we
may not be permitted to market our diagnostic products and/or may be subject to fines, injunctions, and civil penalties; recall or seizure of products; operating restrictions;
and criminal prosecution. In addition, we may be subject to similar regulatory compliance actions of foreign jurisdictions.
If Medicare and other third-party payors in the United States and foreign countries do not approve coverage and adequate reimbursement for our future clinical
diagnostic tests enabled by our technology, the commercial success of our diagnostic products would be compromised.
We plan to develop, obtain regulatory approval for and sell clinical diagnostics products for a number of different indications. Successful commercialization of our
clinical diagnostic products depends, in large part, on the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement for testing services using our diagnostic products from
third-party payors, including government insurance plans, managed care organizations and private insurance plans. There is significant uncertainty surrounding third-party
coverage and reimbursement for the use of tests that incorporate new technology, such as the HTG EdgeSeq system and related applications and
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assays. Reimbursement rates have the potential to fluctuate depending on the region in which the testing is provided, the type of facility or treatment center at which the
testing is done, and the third-party payor responsible for payment. If our customers are unable to obtain positive coverage decisions from third-party payors approving
reimbursement for our tests at adequate levels, the commercial success of our products would be compromised, and our revenue would be significantly limited. Even if we
do obtain favorable reimbursement for our tests, third-party payors may withdraw their coverage policies, review and adjust the rate of reimbursement, require copayments from patients or stop paying for our tests, which would reduce revenue for testing services based on our technology and demand for our diagnostic products.
The American Medical Association Current Procedural Terminology (“CPT”) Editorial Panel created new CPT codes that could be used by our customers to report
testing for certain large-scale multianalyte GSPs, including our diagnostic products, if approved. Effective January 1, 2015, these codes allow for uniform reporting of
broad genomic testing panels using technology similar to ours. While these codes standardize reporting for these tests, coverage and payment rates for GSPs remain
uncertain and we cannot guarantee that coverage and/or reimbursement for these tests will be provided in the amounts we expect, or at all. Initially, industry associations
recommended that payment rates for GSPs be cross-walked to existing codes on the clinical laboratory fee schedule. On October 27, 2014, CMS issued preliminary
determinations for 29 new molecular pathology codes, including the GSPs, of gapfill rather than crosswalking as recommended by the Association for Molecular
Pathology. This means that local private MACs, such as Palmetto, Novidian, Novitas and Cahaba, were instructed to determine the appropriate fee schedule amounts in the
first year, and CMS calculated a national payment rate based on the median of those local fee schedule amounts in the second year. This process may make it more
difficult for our customers to obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement for testing services using our diagnostic products. We cannot assure that CMS and other thirdparty payors will establish reimbursement rates sufficient to cover the costs incurred by our customers in using our clinical diagnostic products, if approved. On September
22, 2017, gapfill pricing was set for three CPT codes which our customers may potentially utilize to obtain reimbursement, subject to regulatory limitations, for the use of
our products. CPTs 81445 and 81450, for the assessment of 5-50 genes in solid and liquid tumors, respectively, were set at $598 and $760, respectively, and remains the
same as of December 31, 2017. Additionally, CPT 81455 for the assessment of 51 or more genes in solid and liquid tumors was set at $2,920.
Even if we are able to establish coverage and reimbursement codes for our clinical diagnostic products in development, we will continue to be subject to
significant pricing pressure, which could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
Third-party payors, including managed care organizations as well as government payors such as Medicare and Medicaid, have increased their efforts to control the
cost, utilization and delivery of healthcare services, which may include decreased coverage or reduced reimbursement. From time to time, Congress has considered and
implemented changes to the Medicare fee schedules in conjunction with budgetary legislation, and pricing and payment terms, including the possible requirement of a
patient co-payment for Medicare beneficiaries for laboratory tests covered by Medicare, and are subject to change at any time. Reductions in the reimbursement rate of
third-party payors have occurred and may occur in the future. Reductions in the prices at which testing services based on our technology are reimbursed in the future could
result in pricing pressures and have a negative impact on our revenue. In many countries outside of the United States, various coverage, pricing and reimbursement
approvals are required. We expect that it will take several years to establish broad coverage and reimbursement for testing services based on our products with payors in
countries outside of the United States, and our efforts may not be successful.
We may be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and other federal and state healthcare laws applicable to our business
and marketing practices. If we are unable to comply, or have not complied, with such laws, we could face substantial penalties.
Our operations may be, and may continue to be, directly, or indirectly through our customers, subject to various federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including,
without limitation, the federal and state anti-kickback statutes, false claims statutes, civil monetary penalties laws, patient data privacy and security laws, physician
transparency laws and marketing compliance laws. These laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sales and marketing and education programs.
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The laws that may affect our ability to operate include, but are not limited to:
•

•

•

•

•

The Federal Anti-kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or paying any remuneration
(including any kickback, bribe, or rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce, or in return for, either the referral of an
individual, or the purchase, lease, order or recommendation of any good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part,
under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs; a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute
or specific intent to violate it to have committed a violation, rather, if one purpose of the remuneration is to induce referrals, the Federal Anti-Kickback
Statute is violated.
The federal physician self-referral prohibition, commonly known as the Stark Law, which prohibits, among other things, physicians who have a financial
relationship, including an investment, ownership or compensation relationship with an entity, from referring Medicare and Medicaid patients to that entity
for designated health services, which include clinical laboratory services, unless an exception applies. Similarly, entities may not bill Medicare, Medicaid
or any other party for services furnished pursuant to a prohibited referral. Unlike the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the Stark Law is a strict liability
statute, meaning that all of the requirements of a Stark Law exception must be met in order to be compliant with the law.
Federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the federal civil False Claims Act, and civil monetary penalties laws, which prohibit, among other
things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment or approval from Medicare, Medicaid or other
governmental third-party payors that are false or fraudulent, knowingly making a false statement material to an obligation to pay or transmit money to the
Federal Government or knowingly concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding or decreasing an obligation to pay money to the Federal Government,
which may apply to entities that provide coding and billing advice to customers; the Federal Government may assert that a claim including items or
services resulting from a violation of the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims
Act.
HIPAA, which created additional federal criminal statutes that prohibit knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud
any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money or property owned by,
or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program, regardless of the payor (e.g., public or private) and knowingly and willfully falsifying,
concealing, or covering up by any trick or device a material fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment
for, healthcare benefits, items or services relating to healthcare matters; similar to the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to
have actual knowledge of the healthcare fraud statute or specific intent to violate it to have committed a violation.
HIPAA, as amended by HITECH, and their respective implementing regulations, which impose requirements on certain covered healthcare providers,
health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses as well as their respective business associates that perform services for them that involve the use, maintenance,
or disclosure of individually identifiable health information, relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health
information. In addition, the EU has established its own data security and privacy legal framework, including but not limited to Directive 95/46/EC (“Data
Protection Directive”). The Data Protection Directive will be replaced starting in May 2018 with the recently adopted European General Data Protection
Regulation (“GDPR”), which contains new provisions specifically directed at the processing of health information, higher sanctions and extra-territoriality
measures intended to bring non-EU companies under the regulation. Over time we may expand our business operations to include additional operations in
the EU. With such expansion, we would be subject to increased governmental regulation, including the GDPR, in the EU countries in which we operate.
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•

•

The Federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which require certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologicals and medical supplies for which payment
is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to CMS information related
to payments or other transfers of value made to physicians and teaching hospitals, as well as applicable manufacturers and group purchasing organizations
to report annually to CMS certain ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members.
State law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback, self-referral, and false claims laws which may apply to our business
practices, including but not limited to, research, distribution, sales and marketing arrangements as well as submitting claims involving healthcare items or
services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers; state laws that require device companies to comply with the industry’s
voluntary compliance guidelines and the applicable compliance guidance promulgated by the Federal Government that otherwise restricts payments that
may be made to healthcare providers; state laws that require device manufacturers to file reports with states regarding marketing information, such as the
tracking and reporting of gifts, compensations and other remuneration and items of value provided to healthcare professionals and entities (compliance
with such requirements may require investment in infrastructure to ensure that tracking is performed properly, and some of these laws result in the public
disclosure of various types of payments and relationships, which could potentially have a negative effect on our business and/or increase enforcement
scrutiny of our activities); and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each
other in significant ways, with differing effects.

Promotional activities for FDA-regulated products have been the subject of significant enforcement actions brought under healthcare reimbursement laws, fraud
and abuse laws, and consumer protection statutes, among other theories. Advertising and promotion of medical devices are also regulated by the Federal Trade
Commission and by state regulatory and enforcement authorities. In addition, under the Federal Lanham Act and similar state laws, competitors and others can initiate
litigation relating to advertising claims.
In addition, the approval and commercialization of any of our product candidates outside the United States will also likely subject us to foreign equivalents of the
healthcare laws mentioned above, among other foreign laws.
Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors available under such laws, it is possible that some
of our business activities, including our relationships with physicians and other health care providers, and our evaluation, reagent rental and collaborative development
agreements with customers, and sales and marketing efforts could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws.
If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to
penalties, including administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, individual imprisonment, disgorgement, exclusion from participation in federal healthcare
programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, contractual damages, reputational harm, additional reporting requirements and/or oversight if we become subject to a corporate
integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which
could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.
Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, commercial partners and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper
activities, including non-compliance with regulatory standards and requirements.
We are exposed to the risk of fraud or other misconduct by our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, commercial partners and
vendors. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless or negligent failures to, among other things: (i) comply with the regulations of the FDA, CMS, the
Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) and other similar foreign regulatory bodies; (ii) provide true, complete and accurate
information to the FDA and other similar regulatory bodies; (iii) comply with manufacturing standards we have established; (iv) comply with healthcare fraud and abuse
laws and regulations in the United States and similar foreign fraudulent misconduct laws; or (v) report financial information or data accurately, or disclose unauthorized
activities to us. These laws may impact, among other things, our activities with collaborators and key opinion leaders, as well as our sales, marketing and education
programs. In particular, the promotion, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to
prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and
promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Such misconduct could also involve the improper use of information
obtained in the course of clinical studies, which could result in regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. We currently have a code of conduct
applicable to all of our employees, but it is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and our code of conduct and the other precautions we take to
detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses, or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other
actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with these laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending
ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a
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significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgement, individual
imprisonment, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished
profits and future earnings, additional reporting requirements and/or oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve
allegations of non-compliance with these laws, and curtailment of our operations. Any of these actions or investigations could result in substantial costs to us, including
legal fees, and divert the attention of management from operating our business.
Healthcare policy changes, including recently enacted legislation reforming the United States healthcare system, may have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.
On April 1, 2014, the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014 (“PAMA”) was signed into law, which, among other things, significantly alters the current payment
methodology under the Medicare Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule. Under the new law, starting January 1, 2016 and every three years thereafter (or annually in the case of
advanced diagnostic lab tests), clinical laboratories must report laboratory test payment data for each Medicare-covered clinical diagnostic lab test that it furnishes during a
period to be defined by future regulations. The reported data must include the payment rate (reflecting all discounts, rebates, coupons and other price concessions) and the
volume of each test that was paid by each private payor (including health insurance issuers, group health plans, Medicare Advantage plans and Medicaid managed care
organizations). Beginning in 2017, the Medicare payment rate for each clinical diagnostic lab test will be equal to the weighted median amount for the test from the most
recent data collection period. The payment rate will apply to laboratory tests furnished by a hospital laboratory if the test is separately paid under the hospital outpatient
prospective payment system. It is too early to predict the impact on reimbursement for our products in development.
Also under PAMA, CMS is required to adopt temporary billing codes to identify new tests and new advanced diagnostic laboratory tests that have been cleared or
approved by the FDA. For an existing test that is cleared or approved by the FDA and for which Medicare payment is made as of April 1, 2014, CMS is required to assign
a unique billing code if one has not already been assigned by the agency. In addition to assigning the code, CMS was required to publicly report payment for the tests no
later than January 1, 2016. We cannot determine at this time the full impact of the new law on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
The ACA makes changes that could significantly impact the biopharmaceutical and medical device industries and clinical laboratories. For example, the ACA
imposes a multifactor productivity adjustment to the reimbursement rate paid under Medicare for certain clinical diagnostic laboratory tests, which may reduce payment
rates. These or any future proposed or mandated reductions in payments may apply to some or all of the clinical laboratory tests that our diagnostics customers use our
technology to deliver to Medicare beneficiaries, and may reduce demand for our diagnostic products.
Other significant measures contained in the ACA include, for example, coordination and promotion of research on comparative clinical effectiveness of different
technologies and procedures, initiatives to revise Medicare payment methodologies, such as bundling of payments across the continuum of care by providers and
physicians, and initiatives to promote quality indicators in payment methodologies. Further, the ACA includes a deductible 2.3% excise tax on any entity that
manufactures or imports medical devices offered for sale in the United States, with limited exceptions, which became effective January 1, 2013. However, the
Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2016, signed into law in December 2015, includes a two-year moratorium on the medical device excise tax through December 31,
2017. Further, on January 22, 2018, President Trump signed a continuing resolution on appropriations for fiscal year 2018 (the “2018 Appropriations Resolution”) that
extended the moratorium on the medical device excise tax through December 31, 2019. Absent further legislative action, the tax will be automatically reinstated for
medical device sales beginning January 1, 2020. The ACA also includes significant new fraud and abuse measures, including required disclosures of financial
arrangements with physician customers, lower thresholds for violations and increasing potential penalties for such violations. However, the future of the ACA is uncertain.
There have been judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. As a result, there have been delays in the implementation of, and action taken to
repeal or replace, certain aspects of the ACA. Since January 2017, President Trump has signed two Executive Orders and other directives designed to delay the
implementation of certain provisions of the ACA or otherwise circumvent some of the requirements for health insurance mandated by the ACA. Concurrently, Congress
has considered legislation that would repeal or repeal and replace all or part of the ACA. While Congress has not passed comprehensive repeal legislation, two bills
affecting the implementation of certain taxes under the ACA have been signed into law. The 2017 Tax Act includes a provision repealing, effective January 1, 2019, the
tax-based shared responsibility payment imposed by the ACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year that is
commonly referred to as the “individual mandate”. Additionally, the 2018 Appropriations Resolution delays the implementation of certain ACA-mandated fees, including,
without limitation, the medical device excise tax. Congress may consider additional legislation to repeal or repeal and replace other elements of the ACA. We continue to
evaluate the effect that the ACA and its possible repeal and replacement has on our business.
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In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. On August 2, 2011, then-President Obama signed into law the
Budget Control Act of 2011, which, among other things, created the Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction to recommend to Congress proposals in spending
reductions. The Joint Select Committee did not achieve a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, triggering the legislation’s
automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes reductions to Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect on April 1,
2013, and, following the passage of other legislative amendments, including the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, will stay in effect through 2027 unless additional
Congressional action is taken. On January 2, 2013, then-President Obama signed into law the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which, among other things, further
reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals, imaging centers and cancer treatment centers and increased the statute of limitations period for the
government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years.
Various healthcare reform proposals have also emerged from federal and state governments. Changes in healthcare law or policy, such as the creation of broad test
utilization limits for diagnostic products in general or requirements that Medicare patients pay for portions of clinical laboratory tests or services received, could
substantially impact the sales of our tests, increase costs and divert management’s attention from our business. Such co-payments by Medicare beneficiaries for laboratory
services were discussed as possible cost savings for the Medicare program as part of the debt ceiling budget discussions in mid-2011 and may be enacted in the future. In
addition, sales of our tests outside of the United States will subject us to foreign regulatory requirements, which may also change over time.
We cannot predict whether future healthcare initiatives will be implemented at the federal or state level or in countries outside of the United States in which we
may do business, or the effect any future legislation or regulation will have on us. The taxes imposed by the new federal legislation and the expansion in government’s
effect on the United States healthcare industry may result in decreased profits to us, lower reimbursements by payors for our products or reduced medical procedure
volumes, all of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The full impact of the ACA, as well as other laws and reform
measures that may be proposed and adopted in the future, remains uncertain, but may continue the downward pressure on medical device pricing, especially under the
Medicare program, and may also increase our regulatory burdens and operating costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business operations.
Risks Related to Intellectual Property
If we are unable to protect our intellectual property effectively, our business would be harmed.
We rely on patent protection as well as trademark, copyright, trade secret and other intellectual property rights protection and contractual restrictions to protect our
proprietary technologies, all of which provide limited protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. Our
U.S. and foreign patent and patent application portfolio relates to our nuclease-protection-based technologies as well as to lung cancer and melanoma and DLBCL
biomarker panels discovered using our nuclease-protection-based technology. We have exclusive or non-exclusive licenses to multiple U.S. and foreign patents and patent
applications covering technologies that we may elect to utilize in developing diagnostic tests for use on our HTG EdgeSeq system. Those licensed patents and patent
applications cover technologies related to the diagnosis of breast cancer and melanoma.
If we fail to protect our intellectual property, third parties may be able to compete more effectively against us and we may incur substantial litigation costs in our
attempts to recover or restrict use of our intellectual property.
We cannot assure investors that any of our currently pending or future patent applications will result in issued patents, and we cannot predict how long it will take
for such patents to be issued. Further, we cannot assure investors that other parties will not challenge any patents issued to us or that courts or regulatory agencies will hold
our patents to be valid or enforceable. We cannot guarantee investors that we will be successful in defending challenges made against our patents. Any successful thirdparty challenge to our patents could result in the unenforceability or invalidity of such patents.
The patent positions of life sciences companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important legal principles
remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in such companies’ patents has emerged to date in the United States. Furthermore, in the
biotechnology field, courts frequently render opinions that may adversely affect the patentability of certain inventions or discoveries, including opinions that may
adversely affect the patentability of methods for analyzing or comparing nucleic acids molecules, such as RNA or DNA.
The patent positions of companies engaged in development and commercialization of molecular diagnostic tests are particularly uncertain. Various courts,
including the U.S. Supreme Court, have recently rendered decisions that impact the scope of patentability of certain inventions or discoveries relating to molecular
diagnostics. Specifically, these decisions stand for the proposition that patent
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claims that recite laws of nature (for example, the relationships between gene expression levels and the likelihood of risk of recurrence of cancer) are not themselves
patentable unless those patent claims have sufficient additional features that provide practical assurance that the processes are genuine inventive applications of those laws
rather than patent drafting efforts designed to monopolize the law of nature itself. What constitutes a “sufficient” additional feature is uncertain. Accordingly, this evolving
case law in the United States may adversely impact our ability to obtain new patents and may facilitate third-party challenges to our existing owned and licensed patents.
The laws of some non-U.S. countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and many companies have
encountered significant problems in protecting and defending such rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing
countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biotechnology, which could make it difficult for
us to stop the infringement of our patents. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our efforts and
attention from other aspects of our business.
Changes in either the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States or other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property. We
cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-party patents. For example:
•

We might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our patents and pending patent applications.

•

We might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions.

•

Others may independently develop similar or alternative products and technologies or duplicate any of our products and technologies.

•

It is possible that none of our pending patent applications will result in issued patents, and even if they issue as patents, they may not provide a basis for
commercially viable products, may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be challenged and invalidated by third parties.

•

We may not develop additional proprietary products and technologies that are patentable.

•

The patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

•

We apply for patents covering our products and technologies and uses thereof, as we deem appropriate. However, we may fail to apply for patents on
important products and technologies in a timely fashion or at all.

In addition to pursuing patents on our technology, we take steps to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology by entering into confidentiality
agreements and intellectual property assignment agreements with our employees, consultants, corporate partners and, when needed, our advisors. Such agreements may
not be enforceable or may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets or other proprietary information in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure or other
breaches of the agreements, and we may not be able to prevent such unauthorized disclosure. Monitoring unauthorized disclosure is difficult, and we do not know whether
the steps we have taken to prevent such disclosure are, or will be, adequate. If we were to enforce a claim that a third party had illegally obtained and was using our trade
secrets, it would be expensive and time consuming, and the outcome would be unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States may be less willing to protect
trade secrets.
In addition, competitors could purchase our products and attempt to replicate some or all of the competitive advantages we derive from our development efforts,
willfully infringe our intellectual property rights, design around our protected technology or develop their own competitive technologies that fall outside of our intellectual
property rights. If our intellectual property is not adequately protected so as to protect our market against competitors’ products and methods, our competitive position
could be adversely affected, as could our business.
We have not yet registered certain of our trademarks, including “HTG Edge,” “HTG EdgeSeq,” “VERI/O,” and “qNPA,” in all of our potential markets. If we
apply to register these trademarks, our applications may not be allowed for registration, and our registered trademarks may not be maintained or enforced. In addition,
opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademark applications and registrations, and our trademarks may not survive such proceedings. If we do
not secure registrations for our trademarks, we may encounter more difficulty in enforcing them against third parties than we otherwise would.
To the extent our intellectual property, including licensed intellectual property, offers inadequate protection, or is found to be invalid or unenforceable, we would
be exposed to a greater risk of direct competition. If our intellectual property does not provide adequate protection against our competitors’ products, our competitive
position could be adversely affected, as could our business. Both the patent application process and the process of managing patent disputes can be time consuming and
expensive.
62

We may need to depend on certain technologies that are licensed to us. We would not control these technologies and any loss of our rights to them could prevent us
from selling some of our products.
We have entered into several license agreements with third parties for certain licensed technologies that are, or may become relevant to the products we market, or
plan to market. In addition, we may in the future elect to license third party intellectual property to further our business objectives and/or as needed for freedom to operate
for our products. We do not and will not own the patents, patent applications or other intellectual property rights that are a subject of these licenses. Our rights to use these
technologies and employ the inventions claimed in the licensed patents, patent applications and other intellectual property rights are or will be subject to the continuation
of and compliance with the terms of those licenses.
We might not be able to obtain licenses to technology or other intellectual property rights that we require. Even if such licenses are obtainable, they may not be
available at a reasonable cost or multiple licenses may be needed for the same product (e.g., stacked royalties). We could therefore incur substantial costs related to royalty
payments for licenses obtained from third parties, which could negatively affect our gross margins. Further, we could encounter delays in product introductions, or
interruptions in product sales, as we develop alternative methods or products.
In some cases, we do not or may not control the prosecution, maintenance, or filing of the patents or patent applications to which we hold licenses, or the
enforcement of these patents against third parties. As a result, we cannot be certain that drafting or prosecution of the licensed patents and patent applications by the
licensors have been or will be conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid and enforceable patents and other intellectual property
rights.
Certain of the U.S. patent rights we own, have licensed or may license relate to technology that was developed with U.S. government grants, in which case the
U.S. government has certain rights in those inventions, including, among others, march-in license rights. In addition, federal regulations impose certain domestic
manufacturing requirements with respect to any products within the scope of those U.S. patent claims.
We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patent or other proprietary rights, to determine the scope, coverage and validity of others’ patent or other
proprietary rights, or to defend against third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, any of which could be time-intensive and costly and may adversely
impact our business or stock price.
We may from time to time receive notices of claims of infringement and misappropriation or misuse of other parties’ proprietary rights, including with respect to
third-party trade secrets, infringement by us of third-party patents and trademarks or other rights, or challenges to the validity or enforceability of our patents, trademarks
or other rights. Some of these claims may lead to litigation. We cannot assure investors that such actions will not be asserted or prosecuted against us or that we will
prevail in any or all such actions.
Litigation may be necessary for us to enforce our patent and other proprietary rights or to determine the scope, coverage and validity of the proprietary rights of
others. The outcome of any litigation or other proceeding is inherently uncertain and might not be favorable to us. In addition, any litigation that may be necessary in the
future could result in substantial costs, even if we were to prevail, and diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or
financial condition.
As we move into new markets and applications for our products, incumbent participants in such markets may assert their patents and other proprietary rights
against us as a means of slowing our entry into such markets or as a means to extract substantial license and royalty payments from us. Our competitors and others may
now and in the future have significantly larger and more mature patent portfolios than we currently have. In addition, future litigation may involve patent holding
companies or other adverse patent owners who have no relevant product revenue and against whom our own patents may provide little or no deterrence or protection.
Therefore, our commercial success may depend in part on our non-infringement of the patents or proprietary rights of third parties. Numerous significant intellectual
property issues have been litigated, and will likely continue to be litigated, between existing and new participants in our existing and targeted markets and competitors
may assert that our products infringe their intellectual property rights as part of a business strategy to impede our successful entry into those markets. We have not
conducted comprehensive freedom-to-operate searches to determine whether the commercialization of our products or other business activities would infringe patents
issued to third parties. Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization. In addition, our competitors and others may have
patents or may in the future obtain patents and claim that use of our products infringes these patents. We could incur substantial costs and divert the attention of our
management and technical personnel in defending against any of these claims. Parties making claims against us may be able to obtain injunctive or other relief, which
could block our ability to develop, commercialize and sell products, and could result in the award of substantial damages against us. In the event of a successful claim of
infringement against us, we may be required to pay damages and obtain one or more licenses from third parties or be prohibited from selling certain products. We may not
be able to obtain these licenses at a reasonable cost, if at all. We could therefore incur substantial costs related to royalty payments for licenses obtained from third parties,
which could negatively affect our gross margins. In addition, we could encounter delays in product introductions while we attempt to develop alternative methods or
products to avoid infringing
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third-party patents or proprietary rights. Defense of any lawsuit or failure to obtain any of these licenses on favorable terms could prevent us from commercializing
products, and the prohibition of sale of any of our products could materially affect our ability to grow and gain market acceptance for our products.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential
information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In addition, during the course of this kind of litigation, there could be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it
could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock.
In addition, our agreements with some of our suppliers, distributors, customers and other entities with whom we do business require us to defend or indemnify
these parties to the extent they become involved in infringement claims against us, including the claims described above. We could also voluntarily agree to defend or
indemnify third parties in instances where we are not obligated to do so if we determine it would be important to our business relationships. If we are required or agree to
defend or indemnify any of these third parties in connection with any infringement claims, we could incur significant costs and expenses that could adversely affect our
business, operating results, or financial condition.
We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of our employees’ former
employers.
Many of our employees were previously employed at other medical diagnostic companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Although no claims
against us are currently pending, we may be subject to claims that these employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other
proprietary information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending such claims, in addition to paying
monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights. A loss of key research personnel work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize
certain potential products, which could severely harm our business. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs
and be a distraction to management.
Our products contain third-party open source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open source software licenses could
restrict our ability to sell our products.
Our products contain software tools licensed by third-party authors under “open source” licenses. Use and distribution of open source software may entail greater
risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding infringement
claims or the quality of the code. Some open source licenses contain requirements that we make available source code for modifications or derivative works we create
based upon the type of open source software we use. If we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain open
source licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software to the public. This would allow our competitors to create similar products with less
development effort and time and ultimately could result in a loss of product sales.
Although we monitor our use of open source software to avoid subjecting our products to conditions we do not intend, the terms of many open source licenses
have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on
our ability to commercialize our products. Moreover, we cannot assure investors that our processes for controlling our use of open source software in our products will be
effective. If we are held to have breached the terms of an open source software license, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties to continue offering our
products on terms that are not economically feasible, to re-engineer our products, to discontinue the sale of our products if re-engineering could not be accomplished on a
timely basis, or to make generally available, in source code form, our proprietary code, any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial
condition.
We use third-party software that may be difficult to replace or cause errors or failures of our products that could lead to lost customers or harm to our reputation.
We use software licensed from third parties in our products. In the future, this software may not be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Any
loss of the right to use any of this software could result in delays in the production of our products until equivalent technology is either developed by us, or, if available, is
identified, obtained and integrated, which could harm our business. In addition, any errors or defects in third-party software, or other third-party software failures could
result in errors, defects or cause our products to fail, which could harm our business and be costly to correct. Many of these providers attempt to impose limitations on
their liability for such errors, defects or failures, and if enforceable, we may have additional liability to our customers or third-party providers that could harm our
reputation and increase our operating costs.
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We will need to maintain our relationships with third-party software providers and to obtain software from such providers that do not contain any errors or defects.
Any failure to do so could adversely impact our ability to deliver reliable products to our customers and could harm our results of operations.
Risks Related to Being a Public Company
If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis could be impaired.
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of The Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”).
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures. Internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP. We have
performed system and process evaluation and testing of our internal controls over financial reporting to allow management to report annually on the effectiveness of our
internal controls over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This has required and will require that we incur substantial additional
professional fees and internal costs to expand our accounting and finance functions and that we expend significant management efforts as we continue to make this
assessment and ensure maintenance of proper internal controls on an ongoing basis.
If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we fail to establish and maintain proper and
effective internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements, and our ability to accurately report our financial
results could be adversely affected. If that were to happen, the market price of our stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq,
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or other regulatory authorities.
Changes or modifications in financial accounting standards, including those related to revenue recognition, may harm our results of operations.*
From time to time, the FASB, either alone or jointly with other organizations, promulgates new accounting principles that could have an adverse impact on our
financial position, results of operations or reported cash flows. For example, in May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(“ASU 2014-09”), and subsequently issued implementation guides (collectively, the “New Revenue Standard”). The New Revenue Standard superseded nearly all
previous revenue recognition guidance under GAAP and became effective for us beginning January 1, 2018. We have implemented the New Revenue Standard as of
January 1, 2018 in the accompanying interim unaudited condensed statements of operations and condensed balance sheets and have reflected the new disclosure
requirements in the accompanying notes to the accompanying interim unaudited condensed financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2018. Our inability to
adopt the New Revenue Standard or any new accounting standard correctly, or to update or modify our internal controls as needed, by the mandated adoption dates could
adversely affect our financial reporting obligations, corresponding regulatory compliance and/or investors’ confidence in us. Also, if we were to change our critical
accounting estimates, including those related to the recognition of collaboration revenue and other revenue sources, our operating results could be significantly affected.
Complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies will increase our costs and the demands on management and could harm our operating results.
As a public company, we will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file
annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and rules subsequently implemented by the
SEC and Nasdaq, impose numerous requirements on public companies, including requiring changes in corporate governance practices. Our management and other
personnel will need to continue to devote a substantial amount of time to compliance with these laws and regulations. These requirements have resulted in significant
legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs and have made and will continue to make some activities more time consuming and costly.
As an “emerging growth company,” we have availed ourselves of the exemption from the requirement that our independent registered public accounting firm attest
to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404. However, we may no longer avail ourselves of this exemption when we cease to be
an “emerging growth company.” When our independent registered public accounting firm is required to undertake an assessment of our internal control over financial
reporting, the cost of our compliance with Section 404 will correspondingly increase. Our compliance with applicable provisions of Section 404 will require that we incur
substantial accounting expense and expend significant management time on compliance-related issues as we
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implement additional corporate governance practices and comply with reporting requirements. Moreover, if we are not able to comply with the requirements of
Section 404 applicable to us in a timely manner, or if we or our independent registered public accounting firm identifies deficiencies in our internal control over financial
reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses, the market price of our stock could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other
regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources.
Furthermore, investor perceptions of our company may suffer if deficiencies are found, and this could cause a decline in the market price of our stock. Irrespective
of compliance with Section 404, any failure of our internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our stated operating results and harm
our reputation. If we are unable to implement these requirements effectively or efficiently, it could harm our operations, financial reporting, or financial results and could
result in an adverse opinion on our internal controls from our independent registered public accounting firm.
We are an “emerging growth company,” and any decision on our part to comply only with certain reduced reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to
emerging growth companies could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, enacted in April 2012, and for as long as we continue to be an “emerging growth company,”
we may choose to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging growth companies,”
including, but not limited to, not being required to have our independent registered public accounting firm audit our internal control over financial reporting under
Section 404, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of
holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We could be an
“emerging growth company” for up to five years following the completion of our initial public offering in May 2015, however, we would cease to be an “emerging growth
company” before the end of that five-year period as of the following December 31, if we have more than approximately $1.0 billion in annual revenue, or if the market
value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of any year, or as of the date we issue more than $1.0 billion of nonconvertible debt over a three-year period. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. If some
investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and
our stock price may be more volatile.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse opinion about our business, our stock price and
trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If one
or more of the analysts who cover us issues an adverse opinion about our company, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage
of us or fails to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.
We expect that our stock price will fluctuate significantly.
The trading price of our common stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond
our control. These factors include:
•

actual or anticipated quarterly variation in our results of operations or the results of our competitors;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of new products, significant contracts, commercial relationships or capital commitments;

•

failure to obtain or delays in obtaining product approvals or clearances from the FDA or foreign regulators;

•

adverse regulatory or reimbursement announcements;

•

issuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations for our stock;

•

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

•

commencement of, or our involvement in, litigation;

•

market conditions in the life sciences and molecular diagnostics markets;

•

manufacturing disruptions;
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•

any future sales of our common stock or other securities;

•

any change to the composition of our board of directors, executive officers or key personnel;

•

our failure to meet applicable Nasdaq listing standards and the possible delisting of our common stock from Nasdaq;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

•

general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets; and

•

the other factors described in this report under the caption “Risk Factors – Risks Related to Our Common Stock.”

The stock market in general, and market prices for the securities of health technology companies like ours in particular, have from time to time experienced
volatility that often has been unrelated to the operating performance of the underlying companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the
market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In several recent situations where the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that
stock have instituted securities class action litigation against the company that issued the stock. If any of our stockholders were to bring a lawsuit against us, the defense
and disposition of the lawsuit could be costly and divert the time and attention of our management and harm our operating results.
In addition, to date our common stock has generally been sporadically and thinly traded. As a consequence, the trading of relatively small quantities of our shares
may disproportionately influence the price of our common stock in either direction. The price for our common stock could decline precipitously if even a moderate
amount of our common stock is sold on the market without commensurate demand.
Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase common stock, including pursuant to our equity incentive plans, could result in additional
dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause our stock price to fall.
We expect that significant additional capital will be needed in the future to continue our planned operations. We may sell common stock, convertible securities or
other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time to time. If we sell common stock, convertible securities or other
equity securities in more than one transaction, investors may be materially diluted by these and subsequent sales. New investors could also gain rights superior to our
existing stockholders.
Pursuant to our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (“2014 Plan”) our board of directors is authorized to grant stock options and other equity-based awards to our
employees, directors and consultants. The number of shares available for future grant under the 2014 Plan will automatically increase on January 1 of each year by 4% of
the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, subject to the ability of our board of directors to take action
to reduce the size of the increase in any given year. In addition, our board of directors approved the granting of rights to eligible employees to purchase shares of our
common stock pursuant to our 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) beginning January 1, 2016. The number of shares of our common stock reserved for
issuance under the ESPP will automatically increase on January 1 of each calendar year by the lesser of 1% of the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding
on December 31 of the preceding calendar year and 195,000 shares, subject to the ability of our board of directors to take action to reduce the size of the increase in any
given year. Currently, we plan to register the increased number of shares available for issuance under the 2014 Plan and ESPP each year. Increases in the number of shares
available for future grant or purchase may result in additional dilution, which could cause our stock price to decline.
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If we are unable to continue to satisfy the applicable continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, our common stock could be delisted.*
Our common stock is currently listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “HTGM.” In order to maintain this listing, we must continue to satisfy
minimum financial and other continued listing requirements and standards. There can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to comply with the applicable
listing standards. If we were not able to comply with applicable listing standards, our shares of common stock would be subject to delisting. The delisting of our common
stock from trading on Nasdaq may have a material adverse effect on the market for, and liquidity and price of, our common stock and impair our ability to raise capital.
Delisting from Nasdaq could also have other negative results, including, without limitation, the potential loss of confidence by customers and employees, the loss of
institutional investor interest and fewer business development opportunities. In the event that our common stock is delisted from Nasdaq and is not eligible for quotation
or listing on another market or exchange, trading of our common stock could be conducted only in the over-the-counter market or on an electronic bulletin board
established for unlisted securities such as the Pink Sheets or the OTC Bulletin Board. In such event, it could become more difficult to dispose of, or obtain accurate price
quotations for, our common stock, and there would likely also be a reduction in our coverage by securities analysts and the news media, which could cause the price of our
common stock to decline further.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to fall.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress the market price of
our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that sales may have on
the prevailing market price of our common stock.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation
and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends is
currently prohibited by the terms of our debt facility, and any future debt financing arrangement may contain terms prohibiting or limiting the amount of dividends that
may be declared or paid on our common stock. Any return to stockholders will therefore be limited to the appreciation of their stock.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third party to
acquire us or increase the cost of acquiring us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders or remove our current management.
Some provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could discourage an acquisition of us by others, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management. These provisions include:
•

authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued without stockholder
approval;

•

limiting the removal of directors by the stockholders;

•

creating a staggered board of directors;

•

prohibiting stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

eliminating the ability of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders; and

•

establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon at
stockholder meetings.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, we are subject to Section 203
of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with an
interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless such transactions are approved by
our board of directors. This provision could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control, whether or not it is desired by or beneficial to our stockholders.
Further, other provisions of Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring us or merging with us.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
None.
Item 5. Other Information.
None.
Item 6. Exhibits.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Description

2.1

Asset Purchase Agreement dated January 9, 2001, as amended by and between the Registrant, NuvoGen, L.L.C., Stephen Felder and Richard Kris
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-201313), originally filed
with the SEC on December 30, 2014).

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 12, 2015).

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with
the SEC on May 12, 2015).

4.1

Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.

4.2

Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
as amended (File No. 333-201313), originally filed with the SEC on December 30, 2014).

4.3

Common Stock Warrant issued by the Registrant to the University of Arizona, dated March 13, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-201313), originally filed with the SEC on December 30, 2014).

4.4

Series E Preferred Stock Warrant issued by the Registrant to Silicon Valley Bank, dated August 22, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to
the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-201313), originally filed with the SEC on December 30, 2014).

4.5

Series E Preferred Stock Warrant issued by the Registrant to Oxford Finance LLC, dated August 22, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to
the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-201313), originally filed with the SEC on December 30, 2014).

4.6

Form of Warrant issued by Registrant to bridge financing investors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-201313), originally filed with the SEC on December 30, 2014).

4.7

Form of Warrant issued by Registrant to bridge financing investors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-201313), originally filed with the SEC on December 30, 2014).

4.8

Common Stock Warrant issued by the Registrant to Oxford Finance LLC, dated March 28, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 30, 2016).

4.9

Subordinated Convertible Promissory Note, dated October 26, 2017, by and between the Company and QIAGEN North American Holdings, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on October 27, 2017).

4.10

Warrant issued to MidCap Funding XXVIII Trust, dated March 26, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2018).

10.1+

HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc. Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy.

10.2

First Amendment to Statement of Work No. 2, dated August 7, 2018, under Master Assay Development, Commercialization and Manufacturing
Agreement between the Registrant and QIAGEN Manchester Limited.

10.3

Second Amendment to Statement of Work No. 2, dated August 13, 2018, under Master Assay Development, Commercialization and Manufacturing
Agreement between the Registrant and QIAGEN Manchester Limited.

10.4

Second Amendment to the Supplement Agreement, dated August 13, 2018, by and among the Registrant, QIAGEN Manchester Limited and BristolMyers Squibb Company.
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.5

Third Amendment to Statement of Work No. 2, dated September 27, 2018, under Master Assay Development, Commercialization and Manufacturing
Agreement between the Registrant and QIAGEN Manchester Limited.

10.6*

First Amendment to Statement of Work No. 3, dated September 21, 2018, under Master Assay Development, Commercialization and Manufacturing
Agreement between the Registrant and QIAGEN Manchester Limited.

31.1

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

31.2

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

32.1

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.2

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
_______________
+
Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
*
We have requested confidential treatment for certain portions of this agreement. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the SEC.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.
Date: November 8, 2018

By:

/s/ Timothy B. Johnson
Timothy B. Johnson
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 8, 2018

By:

/s/ Shaun D. McMeans
Shaun D. McMeans
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 10.1
HTG MOLECULAR DIAGNOSTICS, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY
Each member of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) who is not also serving as an employee of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and who is designated by the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board as eligible to receive compensation for his or her services as a
member of the Board (each such member, an “Eligible Director”) will receive the compensation described in this Amended and Restated Non‑Employee Director
Compensation Policy for his or her Board service. An Eligible Director may waive all or part of the compensation that may otherwise be due to him/her by written notice
to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
This policy may be amended at any time in the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board.
Annual Cash Compensation
The annual cash compensation amount set forth below is payable in equal quarterly installments, payable in arrears on the last day of each fiscal quarter in which the
service occurred. If an Eligible Director joins the Board or a committee of the Board at a time other than effective as of the first day of a fiscal quarter, each annual retainer
and fee set forth below will be pro-rated based on the number of days served in the applicable fiscal year, with the pro-rated amount paid for the first fiscal quarter in
which the Eligible Director provides the service, and regular full quarterly payments thereafter. All annual cash retainers and committee service fees are vested upon
payment.
1. Annual Board Service Retainer:
a.

All Eligible Directors: $35,000 per year.

b.

Chairman of the Board: $30,000 per year in addition, as applicable, to his/her compensation as an Eligible
Director.

2. Annual Committee Member Service Retainer:
a.

Member of the Audit Committee: $7,500 per year in addition to his/her compensation as an Eligible Director.

b.

Member of the Compensation Committee: $5,000 per year in addition to his/her compensation as an Eligible Director.

c.

Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee: $3,750 per year in addition to his/her compensation as an Eligible Director.

3. Annual Committee Chair Service Retainer:
a.

Chairman of the Audit Committee: $15,000 per year in addition to his/her compensation as an Eligible Director.

b.

Chairman of the Compensation Committee: $10,000 per year in addition to his/her compensation as an Eligible Director.

c.

Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee: $7,500 per year in addition to his/her compensation as an Eligible Director.

Equity Compensation
The equity compensation set forth below will be granted under the Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, as it may be amended from time to time (the “2014 Plan”). All
stock options granted pursuant to this policy will be nonstatutory stock options, with an exercise price per share equal to 100% of the Fair Market Value (as defined in the
2014 Plan) of the underlying Common Stock of the Company (the “Common Stock”) on the date of grant, and will have a term of ten years from the date of grant (subject
to earlier termination in connection with a termination of service as provided in the 2014 Plan). All equity awards granted pursuant to this policy will vest in full upon a
Change in Control (as defined in the 2014 Plan).
1. Initial Grant: On the date of each Eligible Director’s initial election to the Board (or, if such date is not a market trading day, the first market trading day thereafter),
each Eligible Director automatically will be granted, without further action by the Board or Compensation Committee of the Board, a stock option for 20,000 shares of
Common Stock under the 2014 Plan.

One-third of the shares will vest twelve months after the date of grant and the remaining shares will vest monthly in equal installments over a two‑year period such that the
stock option is fully vested on the third anniversary of the date of grant, subject to the Eligible Director’s Continuous Service (as defined in the 2014 Plan) through each
such vesting date. An Eligible Director who, in the one year prior to his or her initial election to serve on the Board as a non-employee director, served as an employee of
the Company or one of its subsidiaries will not be eligible for an initial grant.
2. Annual Grant: On the date of each annual Company stockholder meeting, each Eligible Director automatically will be granted, without further action by the Board or
Compensation Committee of the Board, (i) a stock option for 10,000 shares of Common Stock under the 2014 Plan (the “Option Grant”), and (ii) a restricted stock unit
award for 2,500 shares of Common Stock under the 2014 Plan (the “RSU Grant”). The Option Grant and RSU Grant shares will vest upon the earliest to occur of (i) the
date that is 12 months following the date grant and (ii) the following year’s annual Company stockholder meeting. In order to be deemed an Eligible Director for purposes
of the Option Grant and RSU Grant, each Board member must have served as a member of the Board for a minimum of six months.

EXHIBIT 10.2
Amendment No. 1 to Statement of Work No. Two
THIS AMENDMENT No. 1 (hereinafter “Amendment 1”) to Statement of Work No. Two is effective as of July 2, 2018 (the
“Amendment 1 Effective Date”) by and between HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc. (“HTG”) and QIAGEN Manchester Limited
(“QIAGEN”).
Whereas, QIAGEN and HTG entered into that certain Statement of Work No. Two, dated June 2, 2017 (the “Agreement”) and the parties now
desire to extend the scope and duration of their Development activities under the Agreement;
Now, therefore, based upon the above premises, and in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions contained in the Agreement and
herein, the parties agree as follows:
1.

Pursuant to Section 4.2 of the Agreement, QIAGEN and HTG confirm they have exchanged details of their respective
additional Development activities for mutual review and approval prior to the full execution of this Amendment 1. These
additional Development activities shall be subject to all terms and conditions of the Agreement.

2.

Pursuant to Section 6.2.1 of the Agreement, QIAGEN and HTG have exchanged their additional estimated Project Costs for
mutual review and approval prior to the full execution of this Amendment 1. These additional Project Costs shall be subject
to all terms and conditions of the Agreement.

3.

Except as noted above, the Agreement as originally stated shall remain in full force and effect.

4.

This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which
together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. Facsimile or other electronically transmitted signatures shall be
deemed original signatures.

HTG/QIAGEN CONFIDENTIALPage 1 of 2

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, HTG and QIAGEN each has caused this Amendment 1 to be executed by its respective duly authorized
representative as of the Amendment 1 Effective Date.
HTG MOLECULAR DIAGNOSTICS

QIAGEN MANCHESTER LIMITED

By: /s/ Timothy B. Johnson

By: /s/ Roland Sackers

Name: Timothy B. Johnson

Name: Roland Sackers

Title: President, Chief Executive Officer

Title: CFO

HTG/QIAGEN CONFIDENTIAL
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EXHIBIT 10.3

Amendment No.2 Statement of Work No. Two
THIS AMENDMENT No. 2 (hereinafter "Amendment 2") to Statement of Work No. Two is effective as of August 14, 2018 (the
"Amendment 2 Effective Date") by and between HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc. ("HTG") and QIAGEN Manchester Limited ("QIAGEN").
Whereas, QIAGEN and HTG entered into that certain Statement of Work No. Two, dated June 2, 2017, and first amended effective
July 2, 2018 (the "Agreement") and the parties now desire to extend the scope and duration of their Development activities under the
Agreement;
Now, therefore, based upon the above premises, and in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions contained in the
Agreement and herein, the parties agree as follows:
1.

Pursuant to Section 4.2 of the Agreement, QIAGEN and HTG confirm they have exchanged details of their respective
additional Development activities for mutual review and approval prior to the full execution of this Amendment 2. These
additional Development activities shall be subject to all terms and conditions of the Agreement.

2.

Pursuant to Section 6.2.1 of the Agreement, QIAGEN and HTG have exchanged their additional estimated Project Costs for
mutual review and approval prior to the full execution of this Amendment 2. These additional Project Costs shall be subject to
all terms and conditions of the Agreement.

3.

Except as noted above, the Agreement as originally stated shall remain in full force and effect.

4.

This Amendment may be executed in one more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which
together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. Facsimile or other electronically transmitted signatures shall be
deemed original signatures.

HTG/QIAGEN CONFIDENTIAL
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, HTG and QIAGEN each has caused this Amendment 2 to be executed by its respective duly authorized
representative as of the Amendment 2 Effective Date.
HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.

QIAGEN MANCHESTER LIMITED

By: /s/ Timothy B. Johnson

By: /s/ Thierry Bernard

Name: Timothy B. Johnson

Name: Thierry Bernard

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer Title: Sr. VP, Business Area MDx

HTG/QIAGEN CONFIDENTIAL
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EXHIBIT 10.4

AMENDMENT No. 2 TO SUPPLEMENT AGREEMENT
This Amendment No. 2 To Supplement Agreement ("Amendment 2") is effective July 2, 2018 ("Amendment 2 Effective Date") and is made by and
between QIAGEN Manchester Limited, (“QIAGEN"), HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc., ("HTG”) and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (“BMS").
WHEREAS, BMS, QAGEN and HTG entered Into a Supplement Agreement having an effective date of June 2,
2017 and entered into Amendment No. 1 to Supplement Agreement having an effective date of November 21, 2017 (such agreement, as amended, the
"Supplement Agreement"); and
Whereas, BMS, QIAGEN and HTG want to further amend the Supplement Agreement,
NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which Is hereby acknowledged, QIAGEN HTG and BMS agree
as follows:
1. The sixth paragraph on page one of the Supplement Agreement Is replaced with the following:
WHEREAS, QIAGEN wants to engage HTG to perform certain of the work that Is part of the Project and, HTG is willing to perform the work
designated to HTG in the Project Plan (as that term is defined in the Initiation Agreement), as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Project Plan
having an effective date of July 2, 2018 and by Amendment No, 2 to Project Plan having an effective date of August 10, 2018, in the form
provided to HTG by QIAGEN on October 30, 2017, August 2, 2018 (relating to Amendment No. 1 to Project Plan), and August 9, 2018
(relating to Amendment No. 2 to Project Plan) (the "Work), and BMS is willing to allow QIAGEN to engage HTG to perform the Work;

2.

This Amendment 2 shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws stipulated in the Supplement Agreement,

3.

Except as expressly set forth herein, all the terms and conditions of the Supplement Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full
force and effect.

4.

This Amendment 2 may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall
constitute one (1) and the same Instrument. This Amendment 2 may be executed by facsimile or electronic (e.g., .pdf) signatures and such
signatures shall be deemed to bind each Party hereto as if they were original signatures.

— Signature page to follow—
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, BMS, QIAGEN and HTG have caused this Amendment 2 to be signed by their duly authorized representatives, effective as
of the Amendment 2 Effective Date.

Bristol-Meyers Squibb Company
By: /s/ George A. Green
Name: George A. Green
Title: Head, Pharmacodiagnostics
Date: August 13, 2018

QIAGEN Manchester Limited
By: /s/ Thierry Bernard
Name: Thierry Bernard
Title: Sr. VP, Business Area MDx
Date: August 14, 2018

HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.
By: /s/ Timothy B. Johnson
Name: Timothy B. Johnson
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: August 15, 2018
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EXHIBIT 10.5

Amendment No. 3 to Statement of Work No. Two
THIS AMENDMENT No. 3 (hereinafter "Amendment 3") to Statement of Work No. Two is effective as of September 27, 2018
(the "Amendment 3 Effective Date") by and between HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc. ("HTG") and QIAGEN Manchester Limited
(“QIAGEN").
Whereas, QIAGEN and HTG entered into that certain Statement of Work No. Two, dated June 2, 2017 ("SOW 2"), first amended
effective July 2, 2018 ("Amendment 1"), and again amended effective August 14, 2018 ("Amendment 2") (collectively, the "Agreement") and
the parties now desire to modify their profit-sharing arrangement under the Agreement;
Now, therefore, based upon the above premise, and in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions contained in the
Agreement and herein, the parties agree as follows:
1. Solely for purposes of the original development activities contemplated under SOW 2, as exchanged between the parties on
October 30, 2017 (the “Original Development Activities"), the profit sharing activities contemplated in paragraph 6.5 of SOW
2 shall commence upon the later of the completion of the Original Development Activities or the Amendment 3 Effective
Date, rather than at the end of each calendar quarter. The foregoing modification shall apply only to those Original
Development Activities which have been or will be completed and which have not yet been subject to profit-sharing as of the
Amendment 3 Effective Date.
2. Solely for purposes of the additional development activities contemplated under Amendment 1 to SOW 2, as exchanged between
the parties on August 2, 2018 (the "Amendment 1 Development Activities"), the profit sharing activities contemplated in
paragraph 6.5 of SOW 2 shall commence upon the later of the completion of the Amendment 1 Development Activities or the
Amendment 3 Effective Date, rather than at the end of each calendar quarter. The foregoing modification shall apply only to
those Amendment 1 Development Activities which have been or will be completed and which have not yet been subject to
profit-sharing as of the Amendment 3 Effective Date.
3. Except as noted above, the Agreement as originally stated shall remain in full force and effect.
4.

This Amendment may be executed in one of more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which
together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. Facsimile or other electronically transmitted signatures shall be
deemed original signatures.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, HTG and QIAGEN each has caused this Amendment 3 to be executed by its respective duly authorized
representative as of the Amendment 3 Effective Date.
HTG MOLECULAR DIAGNOSTICS

By: /s/ Timothy B. Johnson

QIAGEN MANCHESTER LIMITED

By: /s/ Thierry Bernard

Name: Timothy B. Johnson
Title: President, Chief Executive Officer

Name: Thierry Bernard
Title: Sr. VP, Business Area MDx
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EXHIBIT 10.6
***Text Omitted and Filed Separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential Treatment Requested
Under 17 C.F.R. Sections 200.80(c) and Rule 24b-2
FIRST AMENDMENT TO
STATEMENT OF WORK NO. THREE
This First Amendment to Statement of Work No. Three (“Amendment”), dated September 21, 2018 (“Effective Date”), is by and between HTG
Molecular Diagnostics, Inc., with a place of business at 3430 E. Global Loop, Tucson, AZ 85706 (“HTG”), and QIAGEN Manchester Limited, with a
place of business at Skelton House, Lloyd Street North, Manchester, United Kingdom (“QIAGEN”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the parties entered into that certain Statement of Work No. Three, dated January 12, 2018 (the “Agreement”), and the parties now
desire to modify their understanding(s) and amend the Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, based upon the above premises, and in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions contained in the Agreement
and herein, the parties agree as follows:
1.

Section 3.1 is hereby deleted in its entirety and restated as follows:
3.1

Development Objectives. Development activities under this SOW, generally, will be directed to the following
objectives, all or part of which may occur in series or in parallel as circumstances may dictate:

3.1.1

Develop an Investigational Use Only (IUO) assay […***…];

3.1.2

Conduct clinical studies in certain countries using the IUO assay;

3.1.3

Prepare, file and prosecute an application for pre-market approval of the IUO assay with the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration; and

3.1.4

Obtain CE-marking of the IUO assay pursuant to DIRECTIVE 98/79/EC OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND
OF THE COUNCIL of 27 October 1998 on in vitro diagnostic medical devices.

3.1.5

Such other Development objectives as approved by unanimous written decision of the Steering Committee.

2.
The following clause in Section 3.2 of the SOW will only apply to the prospective costs set forth in this Amendment (i.e.,
those incurred after the Effective Date of this Amendment):
“To the extent proposed modifications or supplements of the Work Plan impact Project Costs by more than […***…]% overall or
impact the target or due date of any Deliverable, the proposed modification shall require approval by unanimous written decision of
the Steering Committee”
***Confidential Treatment Requested

3.

The following sentences are hereby added to the end of Section 5.5, with effect as of April 1st 2018
“If, in any Applicable Period, the parties’ Project Costs exceed the amounts paid by PHARMA to QIAGEN during such period (a
“Loss”), the Loss shall be carried forward to and included in the Net Profit calculation for the following Applicable Period and
each subsequent Applicable Period thereafter until there is a positive overall Net Profit for an Applicable Period, at which juncture
the Net Profit shall be distributed as contemplated in this Section 5.5.
“If the forecast for the final Applicable Period under the SOW shows a Loss, then the Net Profit for the preceding Applicable
Period(s) shall be combined with the final Applicable Period until the Net Profit is positive. The Net Profit calculation shall be
performed for the combined Applicable Period(s) resulting in a Net Profit and payment executed upon completion of the SOW.”

4.

Section 5 Compensation Arrangements is expanded to include a new sub-section as follows:
Section 5.7 Pass-through Costs

For purposes of this SOW “Pass Through Costs” shall mean those out of pocket costs and expenses incurred in support of the Project and
explicitly authorized in advance as such by PHARMA. In the event either Party identifies certain costs as required Pass-through Costs, each Party will
consider the additional costs, and if approved by the parties, and where necessary, by PHARMA, document the additional Pass-Through Costs in writing.
Approved Pass-Through Costs shall not be considered Project Costs, and thus shall be excluded from the Net Profit calculation. Any Pass-through Costs
incurred by HTG shall be reimbursed by QIAGEN at the actual costs without a markup and will be invoiced on a monthly basis as incurred.
5.

Except as modified above, the Agreement as originally stated shall remain in full force and effect.

6.
This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which
together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. Facsimile or other electronically transmitted signatures shall be deemed original signatures.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has caused this Amendment to be executed by a duly authorized representative.
HTG MOLECULAR DIAGNOSTICS, INC.

QIAGEN MANCHESTER LIMITED

By:/s/ Timothy B. Johnson

By:/s/ Thierry Bernard

Name:Timothy B. Johnson

Name:Thierry Bernard

Title:CEO

Title:Sr. VP, Business Area MDx

Date:September 21, 2018

Date:September 21, 2018

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Timothy B. Johnson, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registrant and
have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 8, 2018

By:

/s/ Timothy B. Johnson
Timothy B. Johnson
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Shaun D. McMeans, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registrant and
have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 8, 2018

By:

/s/ Shaun D. McMeans
Shaun D. McMeans
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 2018 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 8, 2018

By:

/s/ Timothy B. Johnson
Timothy B. Johnson
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 2018 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 8, 2018

By:

/s/ Shaun D. McMeans
Shaun D. McMeans
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

